UNITED STATES Securities and Exchange Commission Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 20-F

	REGISTRATION STATEM	ENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 12	(b) OR (g) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANG	EACT OF 1934
			or	
×	ANNUAL REPORT PURS U	ANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) O	F THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1	934
		For the fisc	cal year ended: December 31, 2024	
			or	
	TRANSITION REPORT PU	RSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15((d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT	OF 1934
			or	
	SHELL COMPANY REPOR	T PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 O	R 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE.	ACT OF 1934
		Commi	ission file number: <u>001-31995</u>	
		M	EDICURE INC.	
	_	(Exact name of	of registrant as specified in its charter)	
		(Juris dictio	<u>Canada</u> on of incorporation or organization)	
			treet, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada R3T 6Co	<u>6</u>
		2 - 1250 Waverley S	n, Tel: (204) 487-7412, Fax: (204) 488-9823 treet, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada R3T 6Co acsimile number and Address of Company C	<u>6</u>
Secu	urities registered or to be register	ered pursuant to Section 12(b) of th	e Act: None	
Secu	urities registered or to be registe	ered pursuant to Section 12(g) of th	e Act:	
		Comi	non Shares, without par value	
Secu	urities for which there is a repor	ting obligation pursuant to Section	(Title of Class)	
Indic	cate the number of outstanding	shares of each of the issuer's class	ses of capital or common stock as of the close	e of the period covered by the annual report:
		At December 31, 2024, the registra	ant had 10,436,313 common shares issued a	nd outstanding.
Indic	cate by check mark if the regist	rant is a well-known seasoned issue	er, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act	t. Yes □ No ☑
	is report is an annual or transi ange Act of 1934. Yes \(\sime\) No	1 /	if the registrant is not required to file report	s pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
prece				of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the seen subject to such filing requirements for the past
poste				Interactive Data File required to be submitted and e registrant was required to submit and post such
		e registrant is a large accelerated fine Exchange Act. (Check one):	iler, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated	filer. See definition of "accelerated filer and large
	Large Accelerated File		Accelerated Filer Emerging Growth Company	
			The state of the s	check mark if the registrant has elected not to use suant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange act. □
¹ The	e term "new or revised financi	al accounting standard" refers to a	any update issued by the Financial Accounti	ing Standards Board to its Accounting Standards

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management's assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.

Codification after April 5, 2012.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>GENERAL</u>	1
GLOSSARY OF TERMS	1
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS	2
PART I	
ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS	4
A. Directors and Senior Management	4
B. Advisers	4
C. Auditors	4
ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE	4
ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION	4
A. [Reserved]	4
B. Capitalization and Indebtedness	4
C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds	4
D. Risk Factors	4
ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY	24
A. History and Development of the Company	24
B. Business Overview	28
C. Organizational Structure	35
D. Property, Plant and Equipment	35
ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS	36
ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS	36
A. Operating Results	36
B. Liquidity and Capital Resources	43
C. Research and Development, Patents and Licenses, Etc.	44
D. Trend Information	47
E Critical Accounting Estimates	48
ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES	56
A. Directors and Senior Management	56
B. Compensation	59
C. Board Practices	60
D. Employees	71
E Share Ownership	72
F. Disclosure of a registrant's action to recover erroneously awarded compensation	72
ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS	74
A. Major Shareholders	74
B. Related Party Transactions	75
C. Interests of Experts and Counsel	76
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION	77
A. Consolidated Statements or Other Financial Information	77
B. Significant Changes	77
ITEM 9. THE OFFERING AND LISTING	77
A. Listing Details	77
B. Plan of Distribution	77
C. Markets	77
D. Selling Shareholders	77
E. Dilution	77
F. Expenses of the Issue	77

ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	78
A. Share Capital	78
B. Memorandum and Articles of Association	78
C. Material Contracts	82
D. Exchange Controls	82
E Taxation	83
F. Dividends and Paying Agents	92
G. Statement by Experts	93
H. Documents on Display	93
I. Subsidiary Information	93
J. Annual Report to Security Holders	93
ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK	93
ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES	93
<u>PART II</u>	
ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES	94
ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS	94
ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES	94
ITEM16. RESERVED	95
ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT	95
ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS	95
ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.	96
ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES	96
ITEM 16E, PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS	96
ITEM 16F, CHANGE IN REGISTRANT'S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT	97
ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	97
ITEM 16H. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE	97
ITEM 16L DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS	97
ITEM 16J. INSIDER TRADING POLICIES	97
ITEM 16K. CYBERSECURITY	97
<u>PART III</u>	
ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	F-1
ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	F-1
ITEM 19. EXHIBITS	99
<u>SIGNATURES</u>	102

ii

GENERAL

As used in this Annual Report, the "Corporation" or "Company" refers to Medicure Inc., a Canadian public company existing under the Canada Business Corporations Act.

The Company uses the Canadian dollar as its reporting currency. Unless otherwise indicated, all references to dollar amounts in this Annual Report are to Canadian dollars. As of December 31, 2024, the rate for Canadian dollars was US \$1.00 for CND \$1.4389. See also Item 3 – *Key Information* for more detailed currency and conversion information.

Except as noted, the information set forth in this Annual Report is as of April 25, 2025 and all information included in this document should only be considered correct as of such date.

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

The following words and phrases shall have the meanings set forth below:

- "2014 Apicore Transaction" means the transaction occurring on July 3, 2014, whereby the Company acquired a minority interest in Apicore.
- "2016 Apicore Transaction" means the transaction occurring on December 1, 2016, whereby the Company acquired a majority interest in Apicore.
- "2017 Apicore Transaction" means the transaction occurring on July 12, 2017, whereby the Company acquired additional interests in Apicore.
- "Angioplasty" means a surgical procedure to repair a damaged blood vessel or unblock an artery;
- "ANDA" means abbreviated new drug application, which is submitted to the FDA;
- "Apicore" means any one or more of Apicore LLC, Apicore US LLC, Apicore Inc., Apigen Investments Limited, and Apicore Pharmaceuticals PVT Ltd., including any of their affiliates and subsidiaries, and if the context requires, the pharmaceutical manufacturing business carried on by this group of companies;
- "Apicore Sale Transaction" means the transaction occurring on October 2, 2017, whereby the Company sold its interests in the Apicore business.
- "DEA" means the United States Drug Enforcement Administration;
- "DMF" means drug master file, which is submitted to the FDA;
- "FDA" means the United States Food and Drug Administration;
- "GPIs" means glycoprotein GP IIb/IIIa inhibitors, which are injectable platelet inhibitors used to treat acute coronary syndromes and related conditions and procedures;
- "Marley Drug" refers to the Company's United States subsidiary, Marley Drug, Inc.
- "Myocardial Infarction" means destruction of heart tissue resulting from obstruction of the blood supply to the heart muscle;

- "NDA" means new drug application, which is submitted to the FDA;
- "OSHA" means Occupational Safety and Health Act;
- "PBMs" means pharmacy benefit managers;
- "PNPO" means pyridox(am)ine 5'-phosphate oxidase;
- "ReDSTM" means the ReDSTM point of care system;
- "sNDA" means supplemental new drug application, which is submitted to the FDA;
- "SNP" means Sodium Nitroprusside Injection;
- "STEMI" means ST Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction, a type of heart attack;
- "TSXV" means the TSX Venture Exchange.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Medicure Inc. cautions readers that certain important factors (including without limitation those set forth in this Form 20-F) may affect the Company's actual results in the future and could cause such results to differ materially from any forward-looking statements that may be deemed to have been made in this Form 20-F annual report, or that are otherwise made by or on behalf of the Company. This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements and information which may not be based on historical fact, which may be identified by the words "believes," "may," "plan," "will," "estimate," "continue," "anticipates," "intends," "expects," and similar expressions and the negative of such expressions. Such forward-looking statements include, without limitation, statements regarding:

- the Company's intention to sell and market its acute care cardiovascular drug, AGGRASTAT®, in the United States and its territories through its U.S. subsidiary, Medicure Pharma Inc.;
- the Company's intention to sell and market its cardiovascular drug, ZYPITAMAG®, in the United States and its territories through its U.S. subsidiary, Medicure Pharma Inc.;
- the Company's intention to sell and market its pharmaceutical products in the United States and its territories through its U.S. subsidiary, Marley Drug;
- the Company's intention to develop and implement clinical, regulatory and other plans to generate an increase in the value of AGGRASTAT®;
- the Company's intention to expand or otherwise improve the approved indications and/or dosing information contained within AGGRASTAT®'s approved prescribing information;
- the Company's intention to increase sales of AGGRASTAT® and ZYPITAMAG®;
- the Company's intention to increase sales through Marley Drug;
- the Company's intention to develop MC-1 for the treatment of PNPO deficiency;
- the likelihood of the Company to receive a priority review voucher from the FDA in regards to its development work for MC-1;
- the Company's intention to investigate and advance other product opportunities;

- the Company's intention to develop and commercialize additional cardiovascular generic drug products;
- the Company's intention and ability to obtain regulatory approval for its products and potential products;
- the Company's expectations with respect to the cost of testing and commercialization of its products and potential products;
- the Company's sales and marketing strategy;
- the Company's anticipated sources of revenue;
- the Company's intentions regarding the protection of its intellectual property;
- the Company's intention to identify, negotiate and complete business development transactions (e.g. the sale, purchase, or license of pharmaceutical products or services);
- the Company's business strategy; and
- the Company's expectation that it will not pay dividends in the foreseeable future.

Such forward-looking statements and information involve a number of assumptions as well as known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, events or developments to be materially different from any future results, events or developments expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements and information including, without limitation:

- general business and economic conditions;
- the impact of changes in Canadian-U.S. dollar and other foreign exchange rates on the Company's revenues, costs and results;
- the timing of the receipt of regulatory and governmental approvals for the Company's research and development projects;
- the availability of financing for the Company's commercial operations and/or research and development projects, or the availability of financing on reasonable terms;
- results of current and future clinical trials;
- uncertainties associated with the acceptance and demand for new products;
- changes in regards to pharmacy regulations;
- clinical trials not being unreasonably delayed and expenses not increasing substantially;
- government regulation not imposing requirements that significantly increase expenses or that delay or impede the Company's ability to bring new products to market;
- the Company's ability to attract and retain skilled management and staff;
- the Company's ability, amid circumstances and decisions beyond the Company's control, to maintain adequate supply of product for commercial sale;
- inaccuracies and deficiencies in the scientific understanding of the interaction and effects of pharmaceutical treatments when administered to patients;
- market competition;
- tax benefits and tax rates; and
- the Company's ongoing relations with its employees and its business partners.

These factors should be considered carefully, and readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements and information. The Company disclaims any obligation to update any such factors or to publicly announce the result of any revisions to any of the forward-looking statements and information contained herein to reflect future results, events or developments, except as otherwise required by applicable law. Additional risks and uncertainties relating to the Company and its business can be found in the "Risk Factors" section of this Annual Report.

PART I

ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS

A. Directors and Senior Management

Not applicable

B. Advisers

Not applicable

C. Auditors

Not applicable

ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE

Not applicable

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION

A. [Reserved]

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness

Not applicable

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds

Not applicable

D. Risk Factors

An investment in the Company's common shares is highly speculative and subject to a number of risks. Only those persons who can bear the risk of the entire loss of their investment should participate. An investor should carefully consider the risks described below and the other information that the Company furnishes to, or files with, the Securities and Exchange Commission and with Canadian securities regulators before investing in the Company's common shares.

Uncertainties and risks include, but are not limited to, the risk that the Company may face with respect to importing raw materials, increased competition, acquisitions, contract manufacturing arrangements, delays or failure in obtaining product approvals from the FDA, general business and economic conditions, market trends, product development, regulatory, and other approvals and marketing.

The following are significant factors known to us that could materially harm our business, financial position, or operating results or could cause our actual results to differ materially from our anticipated results or other expectations, including those expressed in any forward-looking statement made in this report. The risks described are not the only risks facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us, or that we currently deem to be immaterial, also may adversely affect our business, financial position, and operating results. If any of these risks occur, our business, financial position, and operating results could suffer significantly. As a result, the market price of our common stock could decline, and investors could lose all or part of their investment.

The fact that the Company currently derives a significant portion of its revenue from a single product, AGGRASTAT [®], exposes the Company to the risks inherent in the establishment and maintenance of a developing business enterprise, such as those related to product acceptance, competition and viable operations management, and the long-term profitability of the Company remains uncertain.

As at December 31, 2024, the Company had AGGRASTAT [®], and ZYPITAMAG [®] available for sale commercially in addition to the Marley Drug pharmaceutical business. However, AGGRASTAT [®] still accounted for approximately 28% of the Company's revenue. Accordingly, its business operations are subject to all of the risks inherent in the establishment and maintenance of a developing business enterprise, such as those related to product acceptance, competition and viable operations management.

The long-term profitability of the Company's operations is uncertain, and any profitability may not be sustained. The Company's long-term profitability will depend in significant part on its ability to maintain or expand sales of ACCRASTAT [®], increase sales of ZYPITAMAG [®] and maintain and increase pharmaceutical sales through the Marley Drug business, as well as to develop and/or acquire other commercially viable drug products and/or businesses. This in turn depends on numerous factors which remain uncertain, including the following:

- (a) the success of the Company's research and development activities;
- (b) obtaining regulatory approvals to market any of its development products;
- (c) the ability to contract for the manufacture of the Company's products according to schedule and within budget, given the Company's limited experience and lack of internal capabilities for manufacturing;
- (d) the ability to develop, implement and maintain appropriate systems and structures to market and operate within applicable regulatory, industry and legal guidelines;
- (e) the ability to identify, negotiate and complete business development transactions (e.g. the sale, purchase, or license of pharmaceutical products or services) with third parties;
- (f) the ability to maintain current or higher pricing and margins for the Company's products;
- (g) the ability to successfully prosecute and defend its patents and other intellectual property; and
- (h) the ability to successfully market the Company's products, including AGGRASTAT® and ZYPITAMAG® given the Company's limited resources.
- (i) The ability to successfully market pharmaceutical products through the Marley Drug business.
- (j) The ability to acquire and operate additional businesses with limited resources

Further, if the Company does achieve sustained profitability, it may not be able to increase profitability in the future.

There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in growing the sales of ZYPITAMAG® in the United States and its territories, and its failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on the Company's long-term profitability.

On September 30, 2019 the Company announced that through its subsidiary, Medicure International Inc., it had acquired the ownership of ZYPITAMAG[®] from Zydus for U.S. and Canadian markets. Under terms of the agreement, Zydus received an upfront payment of U.S. \$5.0 million and U.S. \$2.0 million in deferred payments to be made over four years, as well as contingent payments on achievement of milestones and royalties related to net sales. With this acquisition Medicure obtained full control of marketing and pricing negotiations for the product.

The Company's product launch utilized its existing commercial infrastructure and while not an in-hospital product like AGGRASTAT [®], ZYPITAMAG[®] added to the Company's cardiovascular portfolio and expanded the Company's reach to new patients. The acquisition of Marley Drug and the launch of the e-commerce platform allows the Company to reach consumers in all 50 states , Washington D.C. and Puerto Rico. ZYPITAMAG[®] contributed revenue of \$6.2 million (\$3 million through the traditional insured channels, and an additional \$3.2 million through Marley Drug) to the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024, an increase from the prior year, where ZYPITAMAG[®] provided total revenue of \$5 million (\$2.4 million through the traditional insured channels, and an additional \$2.6 million through Marley Drug) to the Company during the year ended December 31, 2023.

ZYPITAMAG[®] competes in a highly competitive class of products and to date, the rate of uptake of ZYPITAMAG[®] has been slow, resulting in lower than anticipated sales of ZYPITAMAG[®] recorded for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in growing the sales of ZYPITAMAG[®] in 2025 and beyond as there is no assurance that a viable market for ZYPITAMAG[®] will develop. The failure of the Company to grow sales of ZYPITAMAG[®], or to establish a viable market for the product, could have a material adverse effect on the Company's long-term profitability.

The markets in which Marley Drug operates are very competitive and further increases in competition could adversely affect us.

The Company, through its recently acquired Marley Drug pharmacy business, faces intense competition with local, regional and national companies, including pharmacy chains, independently owned pharmacies, supermarkets, mass merchandisers and internet pharmacies. Competition from on-line retailers has significantly increased during the past few years. Some of our competitors have or may merge with or acquire pharmaceutical services companies, PBMs, health insurance companies, mail order facilities or enter into strategic partnership alliances with wholesalers or PBMs, which may further increase competition. The Company may not be able to effectively compete against them because these existing or potential competitors may have financial and other resources that are superior. The ability of the Company, through the Marley Drug business, to achieve profitability depends on the ability to continue to grow and retain loyal, repeat customers. There is no assurance that we will be able to continue to effectively compete in the markets or increase sales volume in response to further increased competition.

Consolidation in the healthcare industry could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Many organizations in the healthcare industry have consolidated to create larger healthcare enterprises with greater market power, which has contributed to continued pricing pressures. If this consolidation trend continues, it could give the resulting enterprises even greater bargaining power, which may lead to further pressure on the prices for the Company's pharmaceutical products sold through Marley Drug and/or reduce our access to customers. If these pressures result in reductions in prices and/or reduce our access to customers, the Company's business will become less profitable unless we the Company can achieve corresponding reductions in costs or develop profitable new revenue streams. The Company expects that market demand, government regulation, third-party reimbursement policies, government contracting requirements, and societal pressures will continue to cause the healthcare industry to evolve, potentially resulting in further business consolidations and alliances among the industry participants, which may adversely impact the Marley Drug business, its financial condition and its results of operations.

The availability of pharmacy drugs is subject to governmental regulations.

The continued conversion of various prescription drugs, including potential conversions of a number of popular medications, to over-the-counter medications may reduce the Company's sales through Marley Drug and customers may seek to purchase such medications at non-pharmacy stores. Also, if the rate at which new prescription drugs become available slows or if new prescription drugs that are introduced into the market fail to achieve popularity, pharmacy sales may be adversely affected. The withdrawal of certain drugs from the market or concerns about the safety or effectiveness of certain drugs or negative publicity surrounding certain categories of drugs may also have a negative effect on our pharmacy sales through Marley Drug or may cause shifts in our pharmacy or front-end product mix.

Certain risks are inherent in providing pharmacy services through Marley Drug and our insurance may not be adequate to cover any claims against us.

Pharmacies are exposed to risks inherent in the packaging and distribution of pharmaceuticals and other healthcare products, such as with respect to improper filling of prescriptions, labeling of prescriptions, adequacy of warnings, unintentional distribution of counterfeit drugs and expiration of drugs. In addition, federal and state laws that require pharmacists to offer counseling, without additional charge, to customers about medication, dosage, delivery systems, common side effects and other information the pharmacists deem significant can impact the business. Pharmacists may also have a duty to warn customers regarding any potential negative effects of a prescription drug if the warning could reduce or negate these effects. Although the Company maintains professional liability and errors and omissions liability insurance, from time to time, claims could result in the payment of significant amounts, some portions of which are not funded by insurance. There can be no assurance that the coverage limits under insurance programs will be adequate to protect the Company against future claims, or that the Company will be able to maintain this insurance on acceptable terms in the future. Results of operations, financial conditions or cash flows may be adversely affected if in the future insurance coverage proves to be inadequate or unavailable or there is an increase in liability for which the Company self-insures or we suffer reputational harm as a result of an error or omission.

We may be subject to significant liability should the consumption of any of our products cause injury, illness or death.

Products that are sold through Marley Drug could become subject to contamination, product tampering, mislabeling or other damage requiring us to recall our products. In addition, errors in the dispensing and packaging of pharmaceuticals could lead to serious injury or death. Product liability claims may be asserted against the Company with respect to any of the products or pharmaceuticals sold and the Company may be obligated to recall products. A product liability judgment against the Company or a product recall could have a material, adverse effect on business, financial condition or results of operations.

Failure to timely identify or effectively respond to changing consumer preferences and spending patterns, an inability to expand the products being purchased by our clients and customers, or the failure or inability to obtain or offer particular categories of products or maintain our pharmacy licenses in all 50 states in the U.S. could negatively affect our relationship with our clients and customers and the demand for our products and services.

The success of the Marley Drug business depends in part on the maintenance of all state licenses, customer loyalty, superior customer service and the ability to persuade customers to purchase products in additional categories. Failure to timely identify or effectively respond to changing consumer preferences and spending patterns, an inability to expand the products being purchased by customers, or the failure or inability to obtain or offer particular categories of products could negatively affect relationships with customers and the demand for products and services.

Moreover, customer expectations and new technology advances from competitors have required that evolution so that the Company is able to interface with retail customers not only face-to-face, but also online and via mobile and social media. Customers are more frequently using computers, tablets, mobile phones and other electronic devices to shop online, as well as to provide public reactions concerning each facet of the Company's operations. Failure to keep pace with dynamic customer expectations and new technology developments will greatly affect the ability of the Company to compete and maintain customer loyalty.

The Company may never receive regulatory approval in the United States, Canada or abroad for any of its products in development. Therefore, the Company may not be able to sell any therapeutic products currently under development.

The Company's failure to maintain or obtain necessary regulatory approvals to fully market its current and future development stage products in one or more significant markets may adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations. The process involved in obtaining regulatory approval from the competent authorities to market therapeutic products is long and costly and may delay product development. The approval to market a product may be applicable to a limited extent only or it may be refused entirely.

While the Company's approved product portfolio includes $AGGRASTAT^{\circledR}$ and $ZYPITAMAG^{\circledR}$, as well as the Marley Drug business, the Company still has products that are currently in the research and development stage. The Company may never develop another commercially viable drug product approved for marketing. To obtain regulatory approvals for its products and to achieve commercial success, human clinical trials must demonstrate that the new chemical entities are safe for human use and that they show efficacy, and generic drug products under development need to show analytical equivalence and /or bioequivalence to the referenced product on the market. Unsatisfactory results obtained from a particular study or clinical trial relating to one or more of the Company's products may cause the Company to reduce or abandon its commitment to that program.

If the Company fails to successfully complete its development projects, it will not obtain approval from the FDA and other international regulatory agencies, to market its these products. Regulatory approvals also may be subject to conditions that could limit the market its products can be sold in or make either products more difficult or expensive to sell than anticipated. Also, regulatory approvals may be revoked at any time for various reasons, including for failure to comply with regulatory requirements or poor performance of its products in terms of safety and effectiveness.

The Company's business, financial condition and results of operations are likely to be adversely affected if it fails to maintain or obtain regulatory approvals in the United States, Canada and abroad to market and sell its current or future drug products, including any limitations imposed on the marketing of such products.

If the Company fails to acquire and develop additional product candidates or approved products, or acquire more pharmacies, it will impair the Company's ability to growits business and to increase value for shareholders.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company generated its commercial product revenue from AGGRASTAT [®], ZYPITAMAG [®], and the Marley Drug business. A component of the Company's plan to generate additional revenue is its intention to develop and/or to acquire or license, and then develop and/or market additional product candidates or approved products. The success of this growth strategy depends upon the Company's ability to identify, select and then to develop, acquire or license products and/or acquire additional pharmacies that meet the criteria it has established. Due to the fact the Company has limited financial capacity, and limited value in its equity, relative to other companies in the industry, it has a limited number of product opportunities to choose from. Moreover, the Company's ability to research and develop its own, or other acquired/licensed products, is limited by the extent of its internal scientific research capabilities. In addition, proposing, negotiating and implementing an economically viable acquisition or license is a lengthy and complex process. Other companies, including those with substantially greater financial, marketing and sales resources, may compete with the Company for the acquisition or license of product candidates and approved products. The Company may not be able to acquire or license the rights to additional product candidates and approved products on terms that it finds acceptable, or at all. Moreover, the Company may not have the human, technical, financial, manufacturing and/or clinical resources to successfully develop additional products.

If the Company does not comply with federal, state and foreign laws and regulations relating to the health care business, it could face substantial penalties.

The Company and its customers are subject to extensive regulation by the United States federal government, and the governments of the states in which the business is conducted. In the United States, the laws that directly or indirectly affect the Company's ability to operate its business include the following:

- the Federal Anti-Kickback Law, which prohibits persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce either the referral of an individual or furnishing or arranging for a good or service for which payment may be made under federal health care programs such as Medicare and Medicaid;
- other Medicare laws and regulations that prescribe the requirements for coverage and payment for services performed by the Company's customers, including the amount of such payment;
- the Federal False Claims Act, which imposes civil and criminal liability on individuals and entities who submit, or cause to be submitted, false or fraudulent claims for payment to the government;
- the Federal False Statements Act, which prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially
 false statement in connection with delivery of or payment for health care benefits, items or services; and
- various state laws that impose similar requirements and liability with respect to state healthcare reimbursement and other programs.

If the Company's operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws and regulations described above or any other law or governmental regulation to which the Company or its customers are or will be subject, the Company may be subject to civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs and the curtailment or restructuring of its operations. Similarly, if the Company's customers are found to be non-compliant with applicable laws, they may be subject to sanctions, which could also have a negative impact on the Company. Any penalties, damages, fines, curtailment or restructuring of the Company's operations would adversely affect its ability to operate its business and financial results. Any action against the Company for violation of these laws, even if the Company is able to successfully defend against it, could cause it to incur significant legal expenses, divert management's attention from the operation of the business and damage the Company's reputation.

Due to a material amount of the use of AGGRASTAT [®] is outside of the FDA approved indications contained within AGGRASTAT [®]'s prescribing information, the Company may be at a greater risk than would be the case if the product was almost exclusively used within the approved prescribing information.

 $AGGRASTAT^{@}$ must compete with a variety of existing drugs, including generic versions of those existing drugs, and must also compete with new drugs, including generic versions of $AGGRASTAT^{@}$, which may limit the use of $AGGRASTAT^{@}$ and adversely affect the Company's revenue.

Due to the incidence and severity of cardiovascular diseases, the market for anticoagulant and antiplatelet therapies is large and competition is intense. There are a number of anticoagulant and antiplatelet drugs recently approved, currently on the market, awaiting regulatory approval or in development. AGGRASTAT [®] must compete with these drugs and may in the future have to compete with new drugs, to the extent that AGGRASTAT [®] and such drugs are approved for the same or similar indications.

AGGRASTAT® competes primarily with other platelet inhibitors, in particular the other GP IIb/IIIa inhibitors, Integrilin® (eptifibatide) (a branded drug sold by Merck & Co., Inc.), in addition to generic eptifibatide sold by other companies. It also competes with a number of oral platelet inhibitors, which can be used alone or in conjunction with anticoagulants, most notably with heparin (sold generically by a number of companies), and with a recently approved injectable platelet inhibitor, Kengreal® (cangrelor) (sold by Chiesi Farmaceutics S.p.A. Inc.). In addition, some alternative methods of treatment, such as the use of Angiomax® (bivalirudin) (sold by The Medicines Company, Inc.), and generic versions of bivalirudin also compete with AGGRASTAT®. These competing products are all marketed by large pharmaceutical companies with significantly more resources and experience than the Company. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2024, there were multiple generic tirofiban hydrochloride alternatives commercially available, which have increased the competitiveness of the market in which AGGRASTAT® is currently sold. The availability of generics has resulted in a decrease in the selling price and the volume of AGGRASTAT® sold during the current year in comparison to prior years. The Company expects pricing pressures to continue on AGGRASTAT®

There remain many hospitals in the United States where AGGRASTAT [®] is not available on the hospital formulary, and it can be very difficult and time consuming to have AGGRASTAT [®] added to formulary for use by health care professionals. In many cases, competing treatment approaches may have FDA approval for dosing regimens and/or therapeutic indications that are outside of AGGRASTAT [®] sapproved prescribing information. The risk of bleeding associated with AGGRASTAT [®] may cause physicians to choose an alternative therapy. Although AGGRASTAT [®] is positioned as a relatively low-cost therapy, in certain circumstances other treatment approaches are lower cost and may for this reason be preferred by health care professionals where oral antiplatelet agents are deemed suitable.

 $ZYPITAMAG^{@}$ competes with a variety of existing drugs and may compete against other new drugs, which may limit the use of $ZYPITAMAG^{@}$ and potentially affect the Company's revenue.

Due to the incidence and severity of cardiovascular diseases, the market for antihyperlipidemics is large and competition is intense. There are a number of approved antihyperlipidemic drugs approved, currently on the market, awaiting regulatory approval or in development. $ZYPITAMAG^{\mathbb{R}}$ will compete with these drugs to the extent $ZYPITAMAG^{\mathbb{R}}$ and any of these drugs are approved for the same or similar indications.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, there were generic versions of pitavastatin calcium available on the market which adds additional competition within the market for the product, and adds additional pricing pressure on ZYPITAMAG[®], which the Company expects to continue on into the future.

Although ZYPITAMAG® is positioned as a relatively low-cost therapy, in certain circumstances, other treatment approaches are lower cost and may for this reason be preferred by health care professionals.

The development of generic treatment options may decrease or eliminate the cost advantage that AGGRASTAT® currently enjoys, which could negatively impact the Company's sales.

AGGRASTAT[®] is a branded pharmaceutical product for which there is currently limited generic alternatives available in the Company's market. AGGRASTAT [®] reduced cost relative to other products was one of the advantages being used by the Company to promote and increase sales of AGGRASTAT [®]. Distributors of generic products typically price products significantly below the branded alternative, and these distributors are always seeking to introduce these generic alternatives of pharmaceuticals. New generic products will continue to be introduced that compete with AGGRASTAT [®] and their low pricing would reduce AGGRASTAT [®] relative cost advantage, and therefore negatively impact the maintenance and growth of sales by the Company. As at December 31, 2024, there are generic versions of a competing product, eptifibatide, that are commercially available and are competing directly against AGGRASTAT [®].

Moreover, due to the previously seen growth in sales of AGGRASTAT [®], generic companies have entered the U.S. market as the last AGGRASTAT [®] patent expired during 2023. The entry of generic versions of AGGRASTAT [®] had a negative effect on the volume of AGGRASTAT [®] sold during the current year. The Company expects additional pricing pressures from generic competition during 2025 and beyond, which could have a major negative effect on the profitability of the Company's AGGRASTAT [®] sales. The decline in AGGRASTAT net revenue noted during the year ended December 31, 2024, in comparison to the prior year was due to the entry of generic competition during the current year.

The Company may not be able to hire or retain the qualified scientific, technical and management personnel it requires.

The Company's business prospects and operations depend on the continued contributions of certain of the Company's executive officers and other key management and technical personnel, certain of whom would be difficult to replace.

The Company's subsidiary, Medicure International, Inc., contracts with third parties to perform a significant amount of its research and development activities. Because of the specialized scientific nature of the Company's business, the loss of services of any one or more of these parties may require the Company to attract and retain replacement qualified scientific, technical and management personnel. Competition in the biotechnology industry for such personnel is intense and the Company may not be able to hire or retain a sufficient number of qualified personnel, which may compromise the viability, pace and success of its research and development activities.

Also, certain of the Company's management personnel are officers and/or directors of other companies and organizations, some publicly-traded, and will only devote part of their time to the Company. The loss of the services of one or more of the Company's current executive officers or key personnel or the inability to continue to attract qualified personnel could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business prospects, financial results and financial condition.

The Company faces substantial technological competition from many biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies with much greater resources, and it may not be able to effectively compete.

Technological and scientific competition in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry is intense. The Company competes with other companies in Canada, the United States and abroad to develop products designed to treat similar conditions. Most of these other companies have substantially greater financial, technical and scientific research and development resources, manufacturing and production and sales and marketing capabilities than the Company. Smaller companies may also prove to be significant competitors, whether acting independently or through collaborative arrangements with large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. Developments by other companies may adversely affect the competitiveness of the Company's products or technologies or the commitment of its research and marketing collaborators to its programs or even render its products obsolete.

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry is characterized by extensive drug discovery and drug research efforts and rapid technological and scientific change. Competition can be expected to increase as technological advances are made and commercial applications for biopharmaceutical products increase. The Company's competitors use different technologies or approaches to develop products similar to the products which it is developing, or develop new or enhanced products or processes that may be more effective, less expensive, safer, or more readily available before or after the Company obtains approval of its products. The Company may not be able to successfully compete with its competitors or their products and, if it is unable to do so, the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations may suffer.

The Company may be unable to establish and maintain collaborative and commercial relationships with third parties, in which case the Company's business, financial position and operating results could be materially adversely affected.

The Company's success may depend to some extent on its ability to enter into and to maintain various arrangements with corporate partners, licensors, licensees and others for the research, development, clinical trials, manufacturing, marketing, sales and commercialization of its products. These relationships are crucial to the Company's intention to license to or contract with other pharmaceutical companies for the manufacturing, marketing, sales and/or distribution of any its current or future products. There can be no assurance that any licensing or other agreements will be established on favourable terms, if at all. The failure to establish successful collaborative arrangements may negatively impact the Company's ability to develop and commercialize its products, and may adversely affect its business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The Company is currently dependent on third parties for the production of AGGRASTAT®, and the loss of or other disruption to such third-party relationships could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position and operating results.

The Company's subsidiary, Medicure International, Inc., has a supply contract for raw materials (active pharmaceutical ingredient) used in the manufacture of ACCRASTAT® with a contract manufacturer which was approved by the FDA as the approved source of the raw material for ACCRASTAT®.

The Company's subsidiary, Medicure Pharma, Inc., has both vial and bag manufacturers of final product that are approved by the FDA.

If either the supply of raw material or the final product manufacturing agreement for AGGRASTAT ® is terminated or interrupted due to the inability of the manufacturer to satisfactorily produce the product for sale, or if, in the event of termination, the Company and its subsidiaries are unable to find a replacement raw material supplier or manufacturer, or obtain regulatory approval for commercial use of product made by a new raw material supplier or a new finished product manufacturer, the Company's business, financial position and operating results could be materially adversely affected. It is also important to note that the establishment of new manufacturing sources of pharmaceutical raw materials or finished products takes a prolonged period of time.

The Company is currently dependent on a third-party manufacturer for the supply of ZYPITAMAG[®], and the loss or other disruption to the supply arrangement could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position and operating results.

The Company's subsidiary, Medicure Pharma, Inc., has entered into a supply arrangement with a third-party manufacturer of ZYPITAMAG® which will expire on September 19, 2029.

If the supply arrangement is interrupted, or if the Company and Medicure Pharma, Inc. are unable to renew or replace the supply arrangement, or if the Company and Medicure Pharma, Inc. are unable to obtain regulatory approval for commercial use of product made by a new supplier, the Company's business, financial position and operating results could be materially adversely affected. It is also important to note that the establishment of new manufacturing sources of pharmaceutical raw materials or finished products takes a prolonged period of time.

Loss of product inventory could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial results and financial condition.

If the Company's existing inventories of ACGRASTAT ® and/or ZYPITAMAG® are contaminated, exhausted due to stock-out, or otherwise lost, the Company's financial results and financial condition could be adversely affected, particularly if the third-party suppliers of raw materials or final product are unable to meet any additional demands that may be placed on them by the Company in its efforts to make up depleted inventory.

Consolidation and the formation of strategic partnerships among and between wholesale distributors, chain drug stores, and group purchasing organizations has resulted in a smaller number of companies, each controlling a larger share of pharmaceutical distribution channels.

Drug wholesalers and retail pharmacy chains, which represent an essential part of the distribution chain for generic pharmaceutical products, have undergone, and are continuing to undergo, significant consolidation. This consolidation may result in declines in the Company's sales volumes if a customer is consolidated into another company that purchases products from a competitor. In addition, the consolidation of drug wholesalers and retail pharmacy chains could result in these groups gaining additional purchasing leverage and consequently increasing the product pricing pressures facing the Company's business and enabling those groups to charge the Company increased fees. Additionally, the emergence of large buying groups representing independent retail pharmacies and the prevalence and influence of managed care organizations and similar institutions potentially enable those groups to extract price discounts on the Company's products. The result of these developments may have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position, and operating results.

The use of legal, regulatory, and legislative strategies by competitors, both branded and generic, including "authorized generics," citizen's petitions, and legislative proposals, may increase the costs to develop and market the Company's generic products, could delay or prevent new product introductions, and could reduce significantly the Company's profit potential. These factors could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position, and operating results

The Company's competitors, both branded and generic, often pursue legal, regulatory, and/or legislative strategies to prevent or delay competition from generic alternatives to branded products. These strategies include, but are not limited to:

- entering into agreements whereby other generic companies will begin to market an authorized generic, a generic equivalent of a branded product, at the same time generic competition initially enters the market;
- launching a generic version of their own branded product at the same time generic competition initially enters the market;
- filing citizen petitions with the FDA or other regulatory bodies, including timing the filings so as to thwart generic competition by causing delays of generic product approvals;
- seeking to establish regulatory and legal obstacles that would make it more difficult to demonstrate bioequivalence or meet other approval requirements;
- initiating legislative and regulatory efforts to limit the substitution of generic versions of branded pharmaceuticals;
- filing suits for patent infringement that may delay regulatory approval of generic products;
- introducing "next-generation" products prior to the expiration of market exclusivity for the reference product, which often materially reduces the demand for the first generic product;
- obtaining extensions of market exclusivity by conducting clinical trials of branded drugs in pediatric populations or by other potential methods;
- persuading regulatory bodies to withdraw the approval of branded name drugs for which the patents are about to expire, thus allowing the branded company to obtain new patented products serving as substitutes for the products withdrawn; and
- seeking to obtain new patents on drugs for which patent protection is about to expire.

If the Company cannot compete with such strategies, its business, financial position, and operating results could be adversely impacted.

The pharmaceutical industry is subject to regulation by various federal authorities, including the FDA and the DEA, and state governmental authorities. Failure to comply with applicable legal and regulatory requirements can lead to sanctions which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position and operating results.

Federal and state statutes and regulations govern or influence the testing, manufacturing, packing, labeling, storage, record keeping, safety, approval, advertising, promotion, sale, and distribution of the Company's products including licensing of the Company and its subsidiaries. Noncompliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements can trigger action by various federal authorities, including the FDA and the DEA, as well as state governmental authorities, such as state Boards of Pharmacy. This can lead to a broad range of consequences which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position and operating results. The potential sanctions include warning letters, fines, seizure of products, product recalls, total or partial suspension of production and distribution, refusal to approve NDAs/ANDAs or other applications or revocation of approvals previously granted, withdrawal of product from marketing, injunctions, withdrawal of licenses or registrations necessary to conduct business, disqualification from supply contracts with the government, civil penalties, debarment, and criminal prosecution.

The Company's research, product development, and manufacturing activities involve the controlled use of hazardous materials, and it may incur significant costs in complying with numerous laws and regulations.

The Company is subject to laws and regulations enforced by the FDA and the DEA, and other regulatory statutes including the OSHA, the Environmental Protection Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, and other current and potential federal, state, local, and foreign laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling, and disposal of its products, materials used to develop and manufacture such products, and resulting waste products.

The Company cannot eliminate the risk of contamination or injury, by accident or as the result of intentional acts, from these materials. In the event of an accident, the Company could be held liable for any damages that result, and any resulting liability could exceed its resources. The Company may also incur significant costs in complying with environmental laws and regulations in the future. The Company is also subject to laws generally applicable to businesses, including but not limited to, federal, state, and local regulations relating to wage and hour matters, employee classification, mandatory healthcare benefits, unlawful workplace discrimination, and whistle-blowing. Any actual or alleged failure to comply with any regulation applicable to our business or any whistle-blowing claim, even if without merit, could result in costly litigation, regulatory action or otherwise harmour business, financial position, and operating results.

The Company relies on third parties to assist with its research and development projects and clinical studies. If these third parties do not perform as required or expected, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize the subject products.

The Company relies on third parties to assist with its clinical studies. If these third parties do not perform as required or expected, or if they are not in compliance with FDA rules and regulations, our clinical studies may be extended, delayed or terminated, or may need to be repeated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize the products being tested in such studies. Further, we may be required to audit or redo previously completed trials or recall already-approved commercial products.

The Company may fail to obtain acceptable prices or appropriate reimbursement for its products and its ability to successfully commercialize its products may be impaired as a result.

Government and insurance reimbursements for healthcare expenditures play an important role for all healthcare providers, including physicians, medical device companies, pharmaceutical companies, medical supply companies, and companies, such as the Company, that offer or plan to offer various products in the United States and other countries. The Company's ability to earn sufficient returns on its products will depend in part on the extent to which reimbursement for the costs of such products, related therapies and related treatments will be available from government health administration authorities, private health coverage insurers, managed care organizations, and other organizations. In the United States, the Company's ability to have its products and related treatments and therapies eligible for Medicare or private insurance reimbursement is and will remain an important factor in determining the ultimate success of its products. If, for any reason, Medicare or the insurance companies decline to provide reimbursement for the Company's products and related treatments, the Company's ability to commercialize its products would be adversely affected. There can be no assurance that the Company's products and related treatments will be eligible for reimbursement.

There has been a trend toward declining government and private insurance expenditures for many healthcare items. Third-party payers are increasingly challenging the price of medical products and services.

If purchasers or users of the Company's products and related treatments are not able to obtain appropriate reimbursement for the cost of using such products and related treatments, they may forgo or reduce such use. Even if the Company's products and related treatments are approved for reimbursement by Medicare and private insurers, as is the case with AGGRASTAT and ZYPITAMAG, the amount of reimbursement may be reduced at times, or even eliminated. This would have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status of newly approved healthcare products, and there can be no assurance that adequate third-party coverage will be available for new products developed or acquired by the Company.

The Company does not have significant manufacturing experience and has limited marketing resources and may never be able to successfully manufacture or market certain of its products.

The Company has limited experience in commercial manufacturing and has limited resources for marketing or selling its products. The Company may never be able to successfully manufacture and market certain of its development products. If any other of its development products are approved for sale, the Company intends to contract with and rely on third parties to manufacture, and possibly also to market and sell its products. Accordingly, the quality, timing and commercial success of such products may be outside of the Company's control. Failure of, or delays by, a third-party manufacturer to comply with good manufacturing practices or similar quality control regulations or satisfy regulatory inspections may have a material adverse effect on the Company and its products. Failure of, or delays by, a third party in the marketing or selling of the Company's products or failure of the Company to successfully market and sell such products likewise may have a material adverse effect on the Company and its products.

The Company has limited product liability insurance and may not be able to obtain adequate product liability insurance in the future.

The sale and use of the Company's commercial and development products, and the conduct of clinical studies involving human subjects, entails product and professional liability risks that are inherent in the testing, production, marketing and sale of pharmaceuticals to humans. While the Company has taken, and intends to continue to take, what it believes are appropriate precautions, there can be no assurance that it will avoid significant liability exposure. Although the Company currently carries product liability insurance, there can be no assurance that it has sufficient coverage, or can in the future obtain sufficient coverage at a reasonable cost. An inability to obtain insurance on economically feasible terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims could inhibit or prevent the commercialization of products developed by the Company. The obligation to pay any product liability claim or recall for a product may have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and future prospects. In addition, even if a product liability claim is not successful, adverse publicity and the time and expense of defending such a claim may significantly impact the Company's business.

If the Company is unable to successfully protect its intellectual proprietary rights, its competitive position will be adversely affected.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical companies are generally uncertain and involve complex legal, scientific and factual issues. The Company's success depends significantly on its ability to:

- a) obtain and maintain U.S. and foreign patents, including defending those patents against adverse claims;
- b) secure patent term extensions for the patents covering its approved products;
- c) protect trade secrets;
- d) operate without infringing the proprietary rights of others; and
- e) prevent others from infringing its proprietary rights.

The Company's success will depend to a significant degree on its ability to obtain and protect its patents and protect its proprietary rights in unpatented trade secrets.

The Company owns or jointly owns numerous patents from the United States Patent Office and other jurisdictions. Any future patent applications made by the Company may not be accepted by the United States Patent and Trademark Office or any other jurisdiction in which applications may be filed. Also, processes or products that may be developed by the Company in the future may not be patentable. Errors or ill-advised decisions by Company staff and/or contracted patent agents may also affect the Company's ability to obtain or maintain valid patent protection.

The patent protection afforded to biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies is uncertain and involves many complex legal, scientific and factual questions. There is no clear law or policy involving the degree of protection afforded under patents. As a result, the scope of patents issued to the Company may not successfully prevent third parties from developing similar or competitive products. Competitors may develop similar or competitive products that do not conflict with the Company's patents. Litigation may be commenced by the Company to prevent infringement of its patents. Litigation may also commence against the Company to challenge its patents that, if successful, may result in the narrowing or invalidating of such patents. It is not possible to predict how any patent litigation will affect the Company's efforts to develop, manufacture or market its products. However, the cost of litigation to prevent infringement or uphold the validity of any patents issued to the Company may be significant, in which case its business, financial condition and results of operations may suffer. Patents provide protection for only a limited period of time, and much of such time can occur well before commercialization commences.

The U.S. Congress is considering patent reform legislation. In addition, the U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. This combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once obtained, and the Company's ability to obtain patents in the future. Depending on decisions by the U.S. Congress, the federal courts, and the United States Patent and Trademark Office, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that would weaken the Company's ability to obtain new patents or to enforce its existing patents and patents that it might obtain in the future.

Disclosure and use of the Company's proprietary rights in unpatented trade secrets not otherwise protected by patents are generally controlled by written agreements. However, such agreements will not provide the Company with adequate protection if they are not honoured, others independently develop an equivalent technology, disputes arise concerning the ownership of intellectual property, or its trade secrets are disclosed improperly. To the extent that consultants or other research collaborators use intellectual property owned by others in their work with the Company, disputes may also arise as to the rights to related or resulting know-how or inventions.

Others could claim that the Company infringes on their proprietary rights, which may result in costly, complex and time-consuming litigation.

The Company's success will depend partly on its ability to operate without infringing upon the patents and other proprietary rights of third parties. The Company is not currently aware that any of its products or processes infringes the proprietary rights of third parties. However, despite its best efforts, the Company may be sued for infringing on the patent or other proprietary rights of third parties at any time in the future.

Such litigation, with or without merit, is time-consuming and costly and may significantly impact the Company's financial condition and results of operations, even if it prevails. If the Company does not prevail, it may be required to stop the infringing activity or enter into a royalty or licensing agreement, in addition to any damages it may have to pay. The Company may not be able to obtain such a license, or the terms of the royalty or license may be burdensome for it, which may significantly impair the Company's ability to market its products and adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company is subject to stringent governmental regulation, in the future may become subject to additional regulations and if it is unable to comply, its business may be materially harmed.

Pharmaceutical companies operate in a high-risk regulatory environment. The FDA and other national health agencies can be very slow to approve a product and can also withhold product approvals. In addition, these health agencies also oversee many other aspects of the Company's operations, such as research and development, manufacturing, and testing and safety regulation of products. As a result, regulatory risk is normally higher than in other industry sectors.

The Company is or may become subject to various federal, provincial, state and local laws, regulations and recommendations. The Company and third parties providing manufacturing, research and/or development services to the Company is subject to various laws and regulations, relating to product emissions, use and disposal of hazardous or toxic chemicals or potentially hazardous substances, infectious disease agents and other materials, and laboratory and manufacturing practices used in connection with the activities. If the Company, or its contracted third party, fails to comply with these regulations, the Company may be fined or suffer other consequences that could materially affect the Company's business, financial condition or results of operations.

The pharmaceutical sales and marketing industry within which the Company operates is a complex legal and regulatory environment. The failure to comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations may result in civil and criminal legal proceedings. As those rules and regulations change or as governmental interpretation of those rules and regulations evolve, prior conduct may be called into question. The Company may become subject of federal and/or state governmental investigations into pricing, marketing, and reimbursement of its prescription drug product. Any such investigation could result in related restitution or civil litigation on behalf of the federal or state governments, as well as related proceedings initiated against the Company by or on behalf of consumers and private payers. Such proceedings may result in trebling of damages awarded or fines in respect of each violation of law. Criminal proceedings may also be initiated against the Company. Any of these consequences could materially and adversely affect the Company's financial results.

The Company is unable to predict the extent of future government regulations or industry standards; however, it should be assumed that government regulations or standards will increase in the future. New regulations or standards may result in increased costs, including costs for obtaining permits, delays or fines resulting from loss of permits or failure to comply with regulations.

The Company's new products may not gain market acceptance, and as a result it may be unable to generate additional significant revenues.

As at December 31, 2024, the Company has various products in development which do not have the required manufacturing approvals or capabilities, clinical data and regulatory approvals necessary to be marketed in any jurisdiction; future clinical or preclinical results may be negative or insufficient to allow the Company to successfully market any of its products under development; and obtaining needed data and results may take longer than planned, and may not be obtained at all.

Even if the Company's products under development are approved for sale, they may not be successful in the marketplace. Market acceptance of any of the Company's products will depend on a number of factors, including; demonstration of clinical effectiveness and safety; the potential advantages of its products over alternative treatments; the availability of acceptable pricing and adequate third-party reimbursement; and the effectiveness of marketing and distribution methods for the products. Providers, payors or patients may not accept the Company's products, even if they prove to be safe and effective and are approved for marketing by the FDA and other national regulatory authorities. If the Company's products do not gain market acceptance among physicians, patients, and others in the medical community, its ability to generate significant revenues from its products would be limited.

The Company may not achieve its projected development and commercial goals in the time frames it announces and expects.

The Company sets goals for and may from time to time make public statements regarding timing of the accomplishment of objectives related to AGGRASTAT [®], ZYPITAMAG [®], the Marley Drug business and/or its products under development, that are material to the Company's success, such as the commencement and completion of clinical trials, anticipated regulatory approval dates, and timing of product launches. The actual timing of these events can vary dramatically due to factors such as delays or failures in the Company's clinical trials, the uncertainties inherent in the regulatory approval process, and delays in achieving product development, manufacturing or marketing milestones. There can be no assurance that the Company's clinical trials will be completed, that it will make regulatory submissions or receive regulatory approvals as planned, or that it will be able to adhere to its current schedule for the scale-up of manufacturing and launch of any of its products. If the Company fails to achieve one or more of these milestones as planned, that could materially affect its business, financial condition or results of operations.

The Company's business involves the use of hazardous material, which requires it to comply with environmental regulations.

The Company's research and development processes and commercial activities may involve the controlled storage, use, and disposal of hazardous materials and hazardous biological materials. The Company and the third-party service providers conducting manufacturing, research and development for the Company, are subject to laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling, and disposal of such materials and certain waste products. Although the Company believes that its safety procedures for handling and disposing of such materials comply with the standards prescribed by such laws and regulations, the risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials cannot be eliminated. In the event of such an accident, the Company could be held liable for any damages that result, and any such liability could exceed its resources. There can be no assurance that the Company will not be required to incur significant costs to comply with current or future environmental laws and regulations, or that its business, financial condition, and results of operations will not be materially or adversely affected by current or future environmental laws or regulations.

The Company's insurance may not provide adequate coverage with respect to environmental matters.

Environmental regulations could have a material adverse effect on the results of the Company's operations and its financial position.

The Company is subject to a broad range of environmental regulations imposed by federal, state, provincial, and local governmental authorities. Such environmental regulation relates to, among other things, the handling and storage of hazardous materials, the disposal of waste, and the discharge of contaminants into the environment. Although the Company believes that it is in material compliance with applicable environmental regulation, as a result of the potential existence of unknown environmental issues and frequent changes to environmental regulation and the interpretation and enforcement thereof, there can be no assurance that compliance with environmental regulation or obligations imposed thereunder will not have a material adverse effect on the Company in the future.

The Company operates in an industry that is more susceptible to legal proceedings. The Company may become involved in litigation.

The Company operates in an industry consisting of firms that are more susceptible to legal proceedings than firms in other industries. This susceptibility is due to several factors, including but not limited to, the fact that the Company's shares and those of its competitors are publicly traded, and the uncertainty and complex regulatory environment involved in the development and sale of pharmaceuticals. The Company intends to vigorously defend such actions if and when they arise. Defense and prosecution of legal claims can be expensive and time consuming, may adversely affect the Company regardless of the outcome due to the diversion of financial, management and other resources away from the Company's primary operations, and could impact the Company's ability to continue as a going concern in the longer term. In addition, a negative judgment against the Company, even if the Company is planning to appeal such a decision, or even a settlement in a case, could negatively affect the cash reserves of the Company, and could have a material negative effect on the development and sale of its products.

Indemnification obligations to the Company's directors and senior management may adversely affect its financial condition.

The Company has entered into agreements pursuant to which it will indemnify the directors and senior management in respect of certain claims made against them while acting in their capacity as such. If the Company is called upon to perform its indemnity obligations, the Company's financial condition will be adversely affected. The Company is not currently aware of any matters pending or under consideration that may result in indemnification payments to any of its present or former directors or senior management.

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange movements as its sales are denominated in U.S. currency.

The majority of the Company's sales revenues and a substantial portion of its selling, general and administrative expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars. The Company does not utilize derivatives, such as foreign currency forward contracts and futures contracts, to manage its exposure to currency risk and as a result a change in the value of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar could have a negative impact on the Company's business prospects, financial results and financial condition. In the future, the Company may begin to utilize foreign exchange rate mitigation and management strategies, however any such efforts, if they are not based on accurate predictions of future fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, may actually have a negative impact on the Company.

The Company may need to raise additional capital through the sale of its securities, resulting in dilution to its existing shareholders. Such funds may not be available, or may not be available on reasonable terms, adversely affecting the Company's operations.

To meet future cash needs or product acquisition requirements the Company may need to rely on the taking on of debt and/or the sale of such securities for future financing, resulting in dilution to its existing shareholders. The Company's long-term capital requirements may be significant and will depend on many factors, including revenue and revenue growth, continued scientific progress in its product discovery and development program, progress in the maintenance and expansion of its sales and marketing capabilities, progress in its pre-clinical and clinical evaluation of products and product candidates, time and expense associated with filing, prosecuting and enforcing its patent claims and costs associated with obtaining regulatory approvals. In order to meet such capital requirements, the Company will consider contract fees, collaborative research and development arrangements, debt financing, public financing or additional private financing (including the issuance of additional equity securities) to fund all or a part of particular programs.

The Company is exposed to risks given its significant dependence on revenue from the sale of AGGRASTAT® and ZYPITAMAG®.

The Company is largely dependent upon revenue from the sale of AGGRASTAT $^{\circledR}$ and ZYPITAMAG $^{\circledR}$. If revenue from the sale of AGGRASTAT $^{\circledR}$ and ZYPITAMAG $^{\circledR}$ is not maintained, the Company may have to reduce substantially or eliminate expenditures for research and development, testing, production and marketing of its proposed products, or obtain funds through arrangements with corporate partners that require it to relinquish rights to certain of its technologies, assets or products.

The Company's effective tax rates could increase.

The Company has operations in various countries that have differing tax laws and rates. The Company's tax reporting is supported by current domestic tax laws in the countries in which the Company operates and the application of tax treaties between the various countries in which the Company operates. The Company's income tax reporting is subject to audit by domestic and foreign authorities. The effective tax rate of the Company may change from year to year based on changes in the mix of activities and income earned among the different jurisdictions in which the Company operates, changes in tax laws in these jurisdictions, changes in the tax treaties between various countries in which the Company operates, changes in the Company's eligibility for benefits under those tax treaties and changes in the estimated values of tax provisions and deferred tax assets. Tax laws, regulations and administrative practices in various jurisdictions may be subject to significant change, with or without notice, due to economic, political and other conditions, and significant judgment is required in evaluating and estimating our provision and accruals for these taxes. Such changes could result in a substantial increase in the effective tax rate on all or a portion of the Company's income.

The Company's provision for income taxes is based on certain estimates and assumptions made by management. The Company's consolidated income tax rate is affected by the amount of pre-tax income earned in our various operating jurisdictions, the availability of benefits under tax treaties, and the rates of taxes payable in respect of that income. The Company enters into many transactions and arrangements in the ordinary course of business in respect of which the tax treatment is not entirely certain. The Company therefore makes estimates and judgements based on knowledge and understanding of the applicable tax laws and tax treaties and the application of those tax laws and tax treaties to the Company's business, in determining the Company's consolidated tax provision. For example, certain countries could seek to tax a greater share of income than the Company will allocate to the business in such countries. The final outcome of any audits by taxation authorities may differ from the estimates and assumptions that the Company may use in determining our consolidated tax provisions and accruals. This could result in a material adverse effect on the Company's consolidated income tax provision, financial condition and the net income for the period in which such determinations are made.

The Company's provision for tax liabilities, deferred tax assets and any related valuation allowances are effected by events and transactions arising in the ordinary course of business, acquisitions of assets and businesses and non recurring items. The assessment of the appropriate amount of valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets is dependent upon several factors, including estimates of the realization of deferred income tax assets, which realization will be primarily based on future taxable income, including the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences. Significant judgement is applied to determine the appropriate amount of valuation allowance to record. Changes in the amount of any valuation allowance required could materially increase or decrease our provision for income taxes in a given period.

Future issuance of the Company's common shares will result in dilution to its existing shareholders. Additionally, future sales of the Company's common shares into the public market may lower the market price which may result in losses to its shareholders.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had 10,436,313 common shares issued and outstanding. A further 1,237,700 common shares are issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options (of which 385,700 were exercisable at December 31, 2024), all of which may be exercised in the future resulting in dilution to the Company's shareholders. The Company's stock option plan allowed for the issuance of stock options to purchase up to a maximum of 20% of the outstanding common shares at the time of the approval of the stock option plan, which resulted in a fixed number of stock options allowed to be granted totaling 2,934,403.

The Company did not purchase and cancel any of its own securities during the year ended December 31, 2024.

However, the Company may from time to time be required to finance its operations through the sale of equity securities. In addition, it may be required to issue equity securities as consideration for services or asset acquisition transactions. Sales of substantial amounts of the Company's common shares into the public market, or even the perception by the market that such sales may occur, may lower the market price of its common shares.

The Company's common shares may experience extreme price and volume volatility which may result in losses to its shareholders.

The Company's common shares historically have been subject to extreme price and volume volatility. For example, during the period from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024, the high and low closing trading prices of the Company's common shares on the TSX-V were CDN\$1.85 and CDN\$0.84 respectively, with a total trading volume of 523,000 shares. Daily trading volume on the TSX-V of the Company's common shares for the period from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024 has fluctuated, with a high of 40,800 shares and a low of no shares traded, averaging approximately 4,548 shares per trading day.

The Company expects that the trading price of its common shares will continue to be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a variety of factors including announcement of material events by the Company, such as the dependence of revenue on a single product, the status of required regulatory approvals for its products, competition by new products or new innovations, fluctuations in its operating results, general and industry-specific economic conditions and developments pertaining to patent and proprietary rights. The trading price of the Company's common shares may be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a variety of factors and/or announcements concerning such factors, including:

- actual or anticipated period-to-period fluctuations in financial results;
- litigation or threat of litigation;
- failure to achieve, or changes in, financial estimates of individual investors and/or by securities analysts;
- new or existing products or generic equivalents to products or services or technological innovations by the Company or its competitors;
- comments or opinions by securities analysts or major shareholders;
- conditions or trends in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and life science industries;
- significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;
- results of, and developments in, the Company's manufacturing, research and development efforts, including results and adequacy of, and developments in, its manufacturing activities, development activities, clinical trials and applications for regulatory approval;

- additions or departures of key personnel;
- sales of the Company's common shares, including by holders of the notes on conversion or repayment by the Company in common shares;
- economic and other external factors or disasters or crises;
- limited daily trading volume; and
- developments regarding the Company's patents or other intellectual property or that of its competitors.

In addition, the securities markets in the United States and Canada have recently experienced a high level of price and volume volatility, and the market price of securities of pharmaceutical companies have experienced wide fluctuations in price which have not necessarily been related to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such companies.

There may not be an active, liquid market for the Company's common shares.

There is no guarantee that an active trading market for the Company's common shares will be maintained on the TSX-V. Investors may not be able to sell their shares quickly or at the latest market price if trading in its common shares is not active.

If there are substantial sales of the Company's common shares, the market price of its common shares could decline.

Sales of substantial numbers of the Company's common shares could cause a decline in the market price of its common shares. The Company has two significant shareholders that each own more than 10% of the outstanding common shares of the Company as of December 31, 2024. Any sales by existing shareholders or holders of options may have an adverse effect on the Company's ability to raise capital and may adversely affect the market price of its common shares.

The Company has no history of paying dividends, does not intend to pay dividends in the foreseeable future and may never pay dividends.

Since incorporation, the Company has not paid any cash or other dividends on its common shares and does not expect to pay such dividends in the foreseeable future as all available funds will be invested to finance the growth of its business. The Company will need to achieve significant and prolonged profitability prior to any dividends being declared, which may never happen.

If the Company is classified as a "passive foreign investment company" for United States federal income tax purposes, it could have significant and adverse tax consequences to United States holders of its common shares.

The Company believes it was a "passive foreign investment company" ("**PFIC**") in one or more previous taxable years, but does not believe that it was a PFIC for the taxable years ended December 31, 2024 or December 31, 2023, and does not expect that it will be a PFIC for the taxable year ending December 31, 2025. (See more detailed discussion in Item 10E - Taxation). However, there can be no assurance that the United States Internal Revenue Service ("**IRS**") will not challenge the determination made by the Company concerning its PFIC status or that the Company will not be a PFIC for the current taxable year or any subsequent taxable year. U.S. Holders who own common shares of the Company while it is a PFIC could have significant and adverse taxconsequences.

Risks Relating to recent US tariff measures may adversely affect the Company's business, operations, and financial condition in the US.

In April 2025, the United States government announced and implemented a new round of tariffs on certain imported goods from key trading partners as part of ongoing trade and national security measures. This recent imposition of tariffs on many, if not most countries, around the world and the threatened or imposed retaliatory tariffs have introduced a high level of uncertainty as to their ultimate outcomes. These tariffs may affect a wide range of raw materials, components, and finished goods that are integral to our supply chain and production processes. Although the Company continues to assess the full impact of these measures, the Company may face increased costs for materials, disruptions in our supply chain, and delays in procurement that could adversely affect the Company's ability to manufacture and deliver its products to the United States market in a timely and cost-effective basis. The Company may not be able to pass increased costs on to our customers, and any sustained escalation in tariffs or other trade barriers could have a material adverse effect on the Company's revenues, gross margins, and overall business performance.

ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

A. History and Development of the Company

On December 22, 1999, the Company was formed by the amalgamation of Medicure Inc. with Lariat Capital Inc. pursuant to the provisions of the *Business Corporations Act* (Alberta). The Company was continued from Alberta to the federal jurisdiction by Certificate of Continuance issued pursuant to the provisions of the *Canada Business Corporations Act* on February 23, 2000.

The Company's current legal and commercial name is Medicure Inc. and its current registered office and head office is 2-1250 Waverley Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada, R3T 6C6.

In August 2006, the Company acquired the U.S. rights to its first commercial product, AGGRASTAT [®] Injection (tirofiban hydrochloride) in the United States and its territories (Puerto Rico, Virgin Islands and Guam) for US\$19.0 million.

In September 2007, the Company monetized a percentage of its current and potential future commercial revenues by entering into a debt financing agreement with Birmingham Associates Ltd. ("Birmingham"), an affiliate of Elliott Associates, L.P. ("Elliott") for proceeds of US\$25 million. This debt was subsequently settled in July 2011 for consideration that included a royalty payable by the Company to Birmingham based on future commercial AGGRASTAT ® sales until 2023. The royalty is based on four percent of the first \$2.0 million of quarterly AGGRASTAT ® sales, six percent on the portion of quarterly sales between \$2.0 million and \$4.0 million and eight percent on the portion of quarterly sales exceeding \$4.0 million payable within 60 days of the end of the preceding quarter.

In February 2008, the Company announced that its pivotal Phase III MEND-CABG II clinical trials with MC-1 did not meet the primary endpoint and as a result was not sufficient to support the filings. As a result, the Company announced a restructuring plan that resulted in the organization reducing its head count by approximately 50 employees and full-time consultants. The restructuring and downsizing in March 2008 conserved capital for ongoing operations.

On July 18, 2011, the Company borrowed \$5,000,000 from the Government of Manitoba, under the Manitoba Industrial Opportunities Program ("MIOP"), to assist with settling the Company's debt to Birmingham. Effective August 1, 2013, the Company renegotiated this debt and received an additional two-year deferral of principal repayments. Under the renegotiated terms, the loan continued to be interest only until August 1, 2015, when blended payments of principal and interest commenced, and the loan maturity date was extended to July 1, 2018. On November 6, 2017, the Company repaid the MIOP loan from funds on hand from the proceeds of the Apicore Sale Transaction.

On July 3, 2014, the Company and its newly formed and wholly owned subsidiary, Medicure U.S.A. Inc. ("Medicure USA"), entered into an arrangement whereby they acquired a minority interest in a pharmaceutical manufacturing business known as Apicore, along with an option to acquire all of the remaining issued shares within the next three years. Specifically, the Company and Medicure USA acquired a 6.09% equity interest (5.33% on a fully-diluted basis) in two newly formed holding companies of which Apicore LLC and Apicore US LLC were to be wholly-owned operating subsidiaries. The Company's equity interest and certain other rights, including the option rights were obtained by the Company for services provided in its lead role in structuring a US\$22.5 million majority interest purchase and financing of Apicore. There was no cash outflow in connection with the acquisition of the minority interest in Apicore. The business and operations of Apicore were distinct from the Company, and the Company's primary operating focus continued to remain on the sale and marketing of AGGRASTAT.

On November 17, 2016, in connection with the exercise of the Company's acquisition of the controlling ownership in Apicore, the Company received a term loan (the "Term Loan") from Crown Capital Fund IV LP, an investment fund managed by Crown Capital Partners Inc. ("Crown") (TSX: CRN) for \$60.0 million of which \$30.0 million was syndicated to the Ontario Pension Board ("OPB") a limited partner in Crown's funds. Under the terms of the loan agreement with Crown, the loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 9.5% per annum, compounded monthly and payable on an interest only basis, maturing in 48 months, and is repayable in full upon maturity. On November 17, 2017, the Company repaid the Crown loan from funds on hand from the proceeds of the Apicore Sale Transaction. Additionally, the Company incurred an early prepayment penalty of \$2.4 million relating to the early repayment of the Term Loan.

The Term Loan was used by the Company, acting through its wholly owned subsidiary, Medicure Mauritius Limited, to exercise the Company's option rights to purchase interests in Apicore, Inc. and Apicore LLC. The 2016 Apicore Transaction was closed on December 1, 2016. Apicore, Inc. and Apicore LLC are affiliated entities that together operate the Apicore pharmaceutical business and are referred to together as "Apicore". Apicore is a process research and development and Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients ("APIs") manufacturing service provider for the worldwide pharmaceutical industry. The acquisition brought the Company's indirect ownership interests in Apicore, Inc. to 64% (or approximately 59% on a fully diluted basis), and the Company's indirect ownership in Apicore LLC to 64% (basic and fully-diluted). Five percent of Medicure's ownership in Apicore LLC was then held by Apigen Investments Limited ("Apigen"), a Company which owned 100 percent of Apicore LLC, before the Acquisition.

Medicure continued to have additional option rights until July 3, 2017 to acquire additional shares in Apicore, Inc. and Apicore LLC at predetermined prices consistent with the value reflected in the 2016 Apicore Transaction. On July 3, 2017, the Company announced that its option to acquire additional shares in Apicore, which otherwise would have expired, had been extended. The option covered an additional minority interest in Apicore (the "Minority Interest") representing approximately 32% of the fully diluted shares of Apicore.

On July 10, 2017, the Company, acting through Medicure Mauritius Limited, exercised the Company's option rights to acquire the Minority Interest in Apicore Inc. and Apicore LLC from Apicore's founding shareholders. The 2017 Apicore Transaction closed on July 12, 2017 and allowed for the acquisition of all of the shares of Apicore Inc. and Apicore LLC held by the founding shareholders (representing approximately 32% of the fully diluted ownership of Apicore) for US\$24.5 million, being the price provided for under the option. This acquisition brought Medicure's ownership in Apicore Inc. to approximately 98% (94% on a fully diluted basis).

On July 10, 2017, the Company announced that Apicore repaid the U.S.\$9.8 million secured loan previously provided to Apicore by Medicure. Additionally, Apicore provided a U.S.\$14.8 million loan to Medicure bearing interest at 12% per annum with a term of three years. These funds were obtained from Apicore's current business which includes API sales, ANDA development partnership payments, and royalty and upfront payments from ANDA commercial partnerships. The loan proceeds were used by Medicure to help satisfy the purchase price of the 2017 Apicore Transaction.

On October 3, 2017, the Company announced that it sold its interests in Apicore (the "Sales Transaction") to an arm's length, pharmaceutical company (the "Buyer"). Under the Apicore Sale Transaction, the Company would receive net proceeds of approximately U.S.\$105.0 million of which approximately U.S.\$55.0 million was received on October 3, 2017, with the remainder to be received in early 2018. These funds received and to be received by the Company were after payment of all transaction costs, the cashing in of Apicore's employee stock options, the redemption of the remaining shares of Apicore not owned by Medicure and other adjustments. Over the 18 months following the close of the transaction, additional payments could have become payable under the Apicore Sale Transaction, in the form of contingent payments, including an earn out payment based on the achievement of certain financial results by Apicore following closing and other customary adjustments.

In December 2017 and subsequently updated on March 7, 2018, the Company announced it had acquired, from Zydus Cadila ("**Zydus**"), an exclusive license to sell and market a branded cardiovascular drug, ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ (pitavastatin magnesium) in the United States and its territories for a term of seven years with extensions to the term available. ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ is used for the treatment of patients with primary hyperlipidemia or mixed dyslipidemia and was approved earlier in 2017 by the FDA for sale and marketing in the United States. The Company launched the product using its existing commercial infrastructure during May 2018.

On February 1, 2018, the Company announced that it had received the deferred purchase price proceeds of approximately U.S. \$50.0 million from the Buyer as a result of the Apicore Sale Transaction. The U.S. \$50.0 million was included in the total net proceeds of U.S. \$105.0 million described earlier. The Company did not receive any contingent payments based on an earn out formula as certain financial results within the Apicore business were not met following the Apicore Sale Transaction.

On February 13, 2019, the Company announced that it had received notice from the purchaser of Medicure's interests in Apicore of potential claims against funds held back in respect of representations and warranties under the Apicore sale agreement. The notice did not contain sufficiently detailed information to enable Medicure to assess the merits of the claims with the maximum exposure of the claims being the total holdback receivable. The Company continued to proceed diligently to investigate the potential claims and attempt to satisfactorily resolve them with a view to having the holdback funds released. In conjunction with the sale of Medicure's interests in Apicore, representation and warranty insurance was obtained by the purchaser that could result in mitigation of the potential claims.

On December 5, 2019, the Company announced that it had reached a settlement agreement with the purchaser of the Company's interests in Apicore with respect to the amounts heldback under the Apicore sale agreement. A settlement agreement was reached under which Medicure will receive a net payment of U.S. \$5.1 million in relation to the holdback.

On December 17, 2020, the Company acquired Marley Drug, a leading specialty pharmacy serving customers across the United States for an upfront payment on closing of USD \$6.3 million, subject to certain holdbacks, as well as additional payments based on future performance of Marley Drug. Marley Drug provides excellent customer service, cost competitive medications, immediate direct to patient delivery, and is licensed in 50 states, Washington D.C. and Puerto Rico. Its advanced operation includes automated pill dispensing, an extended supply generic drug program, and an effective customer communication system. Marley Drug has been successful in marketing directly to customers, providing access to medications without the need for insurance, and building a nationwide customer base in the United States.

On January 7, 2021, the Company announced that it intends to file an Investigational New Drug ("IND") application with the FDA pertaining to its legacy product P5P, also referred to as "MC-1", for the treatment of seizures associated with PNPO deficiency. The majority of patients with PNPO deficiency have mutations in the PNPO gene, which is required for the production of normal levels of P5P. In connection with the IND, the Company will proceed with a Phase 3 clinical trial to treat PNPO deficient patients with a daily dose of MC-1.

The FDA and the European Medicines Agency ("EMA") have both granted a Rare Pediatric Disease Designation to MC-1 for the treatment of seizures associated with PNPO deficiency. Additionally, the FDA has granted Orphan Drug Status and a Rare Pediatric Disease Designation to MC-1 for the treatment of PNPO deficiency. Under the Creating Hope Act passed into federal law in 2012, the FDA grants a Rare Pediatric Disease Designation for serious and life-threatening diseases that primarily affect children ages 18 years or younger and fewer than 200,000 people in the United States. If an NDA for MC-1 in patients with PNPO deficiency is approved, the Company may be eligible to receive a priority review voucher ("PRV") from the FDA, which can be redeemed to obtain priority review for any subsequent marketing application.

In 2025, the Company plans to further maintain selling, general and administrative expenditure levels as it continues to focus on the sale of ZYPITAMAG[®], in addition to maintaining its market share of AGGRASTAT [®], as well as the Marley Drug business, including the growth of its e-commerce platform and acquiring additional pharmacies. The Company is also focused on the development of MC-1 and the development of additional products.

The Company's future operations are dependent upon its ability to maintain sales of AGGRASTAT [®], to increase sales of ZYPITAMAG [®], to grow the Marley Drug business by increasing sales through its e-commerce platform and the development and/or acquisition of new products/pharmacies and/or secure additional capital, which may not be available under favorable terms or at all.

If the Company is unable to maintain sales of $AGGRASTAT^{\circledR}$, grow sales of $ZYPITAMAG^{\circledR}$, grow the Marley Drug business and develop and/or acquire new products/pharmacies, and/or raise additional capital, management will consider other strategies including cost curtailments, delays of research and development activities, asset divestures and/or monetization of certain intangible assets.

B. Business Overview

Plan of Operation

Medicure is a company focused on the development and commercialization of pharmaceuticals and healthcare products for patients and prescribers in the United States market and sales to the Retail Public of pharmaceutical products. The Company's present focus is the sale and marketing of its cardiovascular products, ACCRASTAT®, ZYPITAMAG® and increasing its e-commerce and mail order pharmaceutical business in all 50 U.S. states through Marley Drug. The cardiovascular products are distributed in the United States and its territories through the Company's U.S. subsidiary, Medicure Pharma Inc. The Company's registered office and head office is located at 2-1250 Waverley Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3T 6C6.

The Company's first commercial product was $AGCRASTAT^{\&}$, a glycoprotein inhibitor, used for the treatment of non ST elevation acute coronary syndrome ("NSTE-ACS"), including unstable angina, which is characterized by chest pain when one is at rest, and non Q wave myocardial infarction. The Company acquired an exclusive license to sell ZYPITAMAG $^{\&}$ in the U.S. and launched ZYPITAMAG $^{\&}$ in May 2018 in the United States. In September 2019 the Company acquired the full rights and ownership of ZYPITAMAG $^{\&}$.

The Company acquired Marley Drug, a leading specialty pharmacy serving customers across the United States. Marley Drug provides excellent customer service, cost competitive medications, immediate direct to patient delivery, and is licensed in 50 states, Washington D.C. and Puerto Rico. Its advanced operation includes automated pill dispensing, an extended supply generic drug program, and an effective customer communication system. Marley Drug has been successful in marketing directly to customers, providing access to medications without the need for insurance, and building a nationwide customer base in the United States. On February 9, 2022, Marley Drug launched its national direct-to-consumer e-commerce platform - www.marleydrug.com which allows for home delivery of FDA approved medications and allows products to be delivered to Americans in all 50 states within the United States. The Company is focused on growing the Marley Drug business segment through 2024 and beyond and hopes to continue growing the sales of ZYPITAMAG[®] through the Marley Drug business as well.

The Company's research and development program is focused on making selective research and development investments in certain additional cardiovascular generic and reformulation product opportunities, as well as continuing the development and implementation of its regulatory, brand and life cycle management strategy for $AOGRASTAT^{\text{(B)}}$ and $ZYPITAMAG^{\text{(B)}}$.

The ongoing focus of the Company includes the sale of AGGRASTAT ® and ZYPITAMAG®, the sale of pharmaceutical products including ZYPITAMAG® directly to patients through Marley Drug and the development of additional pharmaceutical products. In parallel with the Company's ongoing commitment to support AGGRASTAT®, and its valued customers. The marketing and sales of ZYPITAMAG® became a key focus of the Company during 2018 and the Marley Drug business became a key focus of the Company after its acquisition in December of 2020. The Company is focused on creating additional partnerships through Marley Drug, with pharmaceutical manufacturers to provide additional therapies at an affordable cash price. The Company would also like to expand the presence of Marley Drug across the United States by acquiring additional pharmacies in strategic locations.

Recent Developments

SIGNING OF A PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR THE ACQUISITION OF WEST OLYMPIA PHARMACY

On April 11, 2025, the Company announced that through its wholly-owned U.S. subsidiary, Medicure Pharma Inc., it has signed a definitive agreement on April 10, 2025 to acquire 100% of West Olympia Pharmacy Inc. ("West Olympia") from an arms-length third-party for a purchase price of USD \$975,000. West Olympia generated unaudited revenue of approximately USD \$6.8 million and net income of USD \$325,000 for the 12-month period ended December 31, 2024.

Closing of the Proposed Transaction is subject to a number of terms and conditions, including but not limited to, transfer of agreements and licenses to Medicure.

AGREEMENT FOR THE ACQUISITION OF GATEWAY MEDICAL PHARMACY

On March 11, 2025, the Company announced that through its wholly-owned U.S. subsidiary, Medicure Pharma Inc., it has signed a definitive agreement on February 14, 2025, to acquire 100% of Cateway Medical Pharmacy Inc. ("Gateway") from an arms-length third-party in exchange for consideration totalling \$580,000 USD. Cateway generated unaudited revenue of approximately \$3.1 million and net income of \$271,000 for the 12-month period ended December 31, 2024. Medicure will not require any financing or acquire any debt as part of the Proposed Transaction, and no finder fees are being paid by Medicure.

SIGNING OF ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT WITH CANAM BIORESEARCH INC. FOR ACQUISITION OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

On June 24, 2024, the Company announced that it had signed an asset purchase agreement with CanAm Bioresearch Inc. ("CanAm") for the acquisition of the patent and intellectual property related to the discovery of new chemical entities that can be developed for therapeutic use.

The Company believes that the new chemical entities hold promise to provide improvements over existing lead compounds in alignment with the treatment of diseases being targeted by Medicure and could provide significant value upon completion of all required non-clinical and clinical studies and regulatory approval. These new chemical entities are not being applied in Medicure's current Phase 3 study evaluating the use of MC-1 for the prevention or treatment of seizures associated with PNPO deficiency.

Pursuant to the Agreement, Medicure International Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Medicure, has agreed to acquire, subject to the conditions contained in the Agreement, all of the assets of CanAm as they relate to the business of developing pyridoxal 5'-phosphate analogues ("P5P Analogues"), the processes for their preparation, compositions containing P5P Analogues, and methods of medical treatment containing P5P Analogues assets. In consideration for the P5P Analogues assets, Medicure has paid to CanAm a \$100,000 cash payment on the closing date. In addition, the Company has agreed to pay the following milestone payments: (i) \$500,000, earned upon Medicure filing its first investigational new drug application ("IND Application") related to P5P Analogues; (ii) \$250,000, earned upon the Medicure filing its first New Drug Application ("NDA") related to P5P Analogues; and (iii) \$500,000, earned upon Medicure obtaining an NDA approval for P5P Analogues.

In addition, Medicure shall pay to CanAm 10% of net proceeds received with respect to transactions relating to the Assets, including: (i) the sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the Assets to a third party purchaser who is not an affiliate of Medicure; (ii) any license to develop, commercialize, use, offer for sale, sell, import, or export P5P Analogues up to a maximum value payable to CanAm of \$20,000,000; and (iii) the sale of an United State Food and Drug Administration priority review voucher obtained in connection with the development of P5P Analogues.

In the event Medicure retains a contract research organization ("CRO") to provide services related to development of P5P Analogues, CanAm, a CRO, would be entitled to tender a bid for such services, in addition to having an opportunity to match quotes for CRO services provided by third-party organizations.

In the event that Medicure does not file an IND Application within 7 years from the closing date of the Proposed Transaction, CanAm shall have the option at any time after such date to repurchase the Assets from Medicure, at a price equal to the aggregate of all expenses incurred by Medicure in connection with the development of P5P Analogues, but, in any event, not exceeding the sum of \$6,500,000 USD.

Closing of the Proposed Transaction is subject to a number of terms and conditions, including without limitation, CanAm completing certain intellectual property filings with respect to the patent application it holds for P5P Analogues, the parties obtaining all necessary consents, orders and regulatory approvals, including approval of the TSX Venture Exchange ("TSXV"), and certain other customary closing conditions.

POSITIVE SEITLEMENT OF PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT AND SUPPLY CONTRACTS

On October 24, 2024, the Company announced that a product development and supply contract settlement between its subsidiaries Medicure International Inc. & Medicure Pharma Inc., and a third party has been reached. Medicure has received a payment of € 1.5 million as a final settlement. All other terms of the settlement along with the name of the party involved remain confidential.

MEDICURE RECEIVES US FDA FAST TRACK DESIGNATION FOR MC-1 FOR PNPO DEFICIENCY

On April 23, 2024, the Company announced that through its subsidiary, Medicure International Inc., the U.S. Food and Drug Administration has granted Fast Track designation for MC-1, an investigational product for the prevention or treatment of seizures associated with PNPO deficiency. Fast Track designation is intended to facilitate the development and expedite the review of drugs that treat serious conditions and fill an unmet medical need.

The designation was requested based on the potential for MC-1 to address an unmet medical need for PNPO deficiency, a serious and life-threatening condition. Medicure is in the launch phase of its Phase 3 clinical trial to treat approximately 10 PNPO deficient patients at sites in the U.S. and Australia with daily doses of MC-1.

PNPO deficiency is a rare neurometabolic disorder, often leading to neonatal onset seizures that are resistant to other antiseizure medications, resulting in severe neurological dysfunction and ultimately death if untreated.

The FDA has granted both a Rare Pediatric Disease Designation and an Orphan Drug Designation to MC-1 for the treatment of seizures associated with PNPO deficiency. Additionally, the EMA has granted an Orphan Drug Designation to MC-1 for the treatment of PNPO deficiency.

If an NDA for MC-1 for patients with PNPO deficiency is approved, Medicure is eligible to receive a PRV from the FDA, which can be redeemed or sold, and provides significant value.

Commercial:

The Company primarily sells finished AGGRASTAT $^{\circledR}$ to drug wholesalers. These wholesalers subsequently sell AGGRASTAT $^{\circledR}$ to hospitals where health care providers administer the drug to patients. Wholesaler management decisions to increase or decrease their inventory of AGGRASTAT $^{\circledR}$ may result in sales of AGGRASTAT $^{\circledR}$ to wholesalers that do not track directly with demand for the product at hospitals.

Net AGGRASTAT® product sales for the year ended December 31, 2024 were \$8.1 million compared to \$9.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Hospital demand for AGGRASTAT [®] has declined during the current year, as the Company continues to have pricing pressures as a result of generics tirofiban hydrochloride, which launched during 2023. However, for the time being the number of hospital customers using AGGRASTAT [®] continued to remain strong, and the Company continues to work on maintaining and expanding its customer base. The Company continues to expect a moderate patient market share despite reduced revenue from the AGGRASTAT [®] brand.

Marley Drug has been successful in marketing directly to customers, providing access to medications without the need for insurance, and building a nationwide customer base. The Marley Drug operating segment generated \$10.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to \$9.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2023. The Company began selling ZYPITAMAG[®] through Marley Drug immediately following the acquisition. During the year ended December 31, 2024, ZYPITAMAG[®] product sales through Marley Drug operating segment were \$3.2 million compared to \$2.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2023. During 2022, the Company launched its e-commerce platform which allowed customers to order their FDA approved medications through the platform.

Going forward and contingent on sufficient finances being available, the Company intends to further expand revenue through marketing and promotional activities, strategic investments related to ZYPITAMAG[®], in addition, the Company plans on expanding its customer base for its e-commerce platform to grow the Marley Drug business, as well as licensing, acquisition and/or development of other pharmaceutical products or businesses that fit the commercial organization.

Research and Development:

The Company's research and development activities are predominantly conducted by its wholly-owned Barbadian subsidiary, Medicure International Inc.

AGGRASTAT®

One of the ongoing research and development activities is the continued development and further implementation of a new regulatory, brand and life cycle management strategy for $AGGRASTAT^{\textcircled{R}}$. The extent to which the Company is able to invest in this plan is dependent upon the availability of sufficient finances and the expected returns from those investments.

The Company funded a number of investigator sponsored research projects targeting contemporary utilization of AGGRASTAT® relative to its competitors.

On January 27, 2021, the Company announced the early completion of iSPASM, a randomized, double-blind, single-center, Phase 1/2a trial aimed at assessing the safety of long-term (7-day) use of AGGRASTAT [®] injection vs. placebo in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) (NCT03691727). The primary endpoint in the 30 patient study was hemorrhagic changes evident on head CT and/or MRI assessed by the rates of symptomatic and asymptomatic bleeding. iSPASM was funded by an unrestricted educational grant from Medicure. This study does not imply efficacy of AGGRASTAT [®] in patients with aSAH. Based on positive results of the impact of AGGRASTAT on micro-thrombi, in 2024 the Company is providing support for the TRIATHLON clinical trial submitted for NIH support as a phase 1/2A, randomized, double-blinded, clinical trial to test the null hypothesis that tirofiban is unsafe in the setting of ischemic stroke treated via Endovascular thrombectomy (EVT). The Company believes that TRIATHLON provides an important opportunity to address the critical, urgent, and unmet need to improve the efficacy of EVT and mitigate the devastating consequences of large vessel occlusion (LVO). This new study will provide valuable information on dosing towards the potential benefits of AGGRASTAT therapy in mitigating the effect of micro-thrombi and improving long-term functional outcomes in patients with ischemic stroke due to LVO. Please note that the use of AGGRASTAT [®] in neurointerventions, EVT and/or LVO has not been approved by the FDA. As of this time, neither AGGRASTAT [®] nor any of the GP IIb/IIIa inhibitors are indicated for the use in stroke patients. AGGRASTAT [®] is approved for use in NSTE-ACS patients.

NDA and ANDA Products

The Company has been devoting significant resources to its research and development programs, including, but not limited to the development of MC-1 for the treatment of PNPO deficiency.

On January 7, 2021, the Company announced that it intends to file an IND with the FDA pertaining to its legacy product P5P, also referred to as MC-1 for the treatment of seizures associated with PNPO deficiency. The majority of patients with PNPO deficiency have mutations in the PNPO gene, which is required for the production of normal levels of P5P. In connection with the IND, the Company will proceed with a Phase 3 clinical trial to treat PNPO deficient patients with a daily dose of MC-1.

The FDA and the EMA have both granted a Rare Pediatric Disease Designation to MC-1 for the treatment of seizures associated with PNPO deficiency. Additionally, the FDA has granted Orphan Drug Status and a Rare Pediatric Disease Designation to MC-1 for the treatment of PNPO deficiency. Under the Creating Hope Act passed into federal law in 2012, the FDA grants a Rare Pediatric Disease Designation for serious and life-threatening diseases that primarily affect children ages 18 years or younger and fewer than 200,000 people in the United States. If an NDA for MC-1 for patients with PNPO deficiency is approved, the Company may be eligible to receive a PRV from the FDA, which can be redeemed to obtain priority review for any subsequent marketing application.

The Company had also been devoting significant resources towards the development of $TARDOXAL^{TM}$ for neurological conditions such as Tardive Dyskinesia. This work included, but was not limited to, working with the FDA to better understand and refine the next steps in development of the product. The advancement of $TARDOXAL^{TM}$ is currently on hold.

On June 24, 2024, the Company announced that it had signed an asset purchase agreement for the acquisition of the patent and intellectual property related to the discovery of new chemical entities that can be developed for therapeutic use. The Company believes that the new chemical entities hold promise to provide improvements over existing lead compounds in alignment with the treatment of diseases being targeted by Medicure and could provide significant value upon completion of all required non-clinical and clinical studies and regulatory approval.

The following table summarizes the Company's research and development programs, their therapeutic focus and their stage of development.

Product Candidate	Therapeutic focus	Stage of Development
AGGRASTAT [®]	Acute Cardiology	Approved/Marketed
ZYPITAMAG [®]	Primary Hyperlipidemia or Mixed Dyslipidemia	Approved/Marketed
MC-1	Rare Pediatric Disease	IND filed, Phase 3 launching
TARDOXAL TM	Tardive Dyskinesia	IND filed, on hold
P5P Analogues	Not yet disclosed	Pre-clinical development

Other Products

The Company is investing in the research and development of other new product development opportunities. The Company is also exploring opportunities to grow the business through acquisition. The Company has evaluated and continues to evaluate the acquisition or license of other approved commercial products with the objective of further broadening its product portfolio and generating additional revenue.

As at December 31, 2024, the Company had issued United States patents (see Item 5 – Operating and Financial Review and Prospects – C. Research and Development, Patents and Licenses, Etc. below).

Competitors' Current Products

AGGRASTAT[®] competes in a market segment commonly referred to as the anti-thrombotic market (treatments to remove or prevent formation of blood clots). More specifically, AGGRASTAT[®] is an antiplatelet drug which affects thrombus (blood clot) formation by preventing the aggregation of platelets in the blood stream. Of the different classes of antiplatelet drugs, AGGRASTAT[®] is a representative of the glycoprotein IIB/IIIA inhibitors drug class. There are three of these agents approved for use, including abciximab (ReoPro[®]), eptifibatide (Integrilin[®]), and tirofiban (AGGRASTAT[®]). All three are proprietary drugs and only eptifibatide has generic equivalents, which were introduced beginning in December 2015. Of the two directly competing agents, AGGRASTAT[®] is most closely comparable to eptifibatide (Integrilin) as they are both highly potent, small molecule drugs that have reversible antiplatelet effects. Recently abciximab is no longer available due to the manufacturer halting production. The launch of the injectable antiplatelet agent, cangrelor (KengrealTM), by The Medicines Company, occurred in 2015 and has had some impact on the use and sale of GPIs, including AGGRASTAT[®].

The initial launch of generic versions of eptifibatide (Integrilin) occurred in December 2015 and has impacted the utilization of AGGRASTAT®.

On May 1, 2023, the patent for AGGRASTAT [®] expired, as a result there were a number of generic alternatives to AGGRASTAT [®] available on the market during the year ended December 31, 2024. The generic versions of AGGRASTAT [®] was a significant contributor to the decline in revenue noted during the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company expects generic AGGRASTAT [®] to continue to have a negative impact on the sales of AGGRASTAT [®] in 2025.

Due to the incidence and severity of cardiovascular diseases, the market for antihyperlipidemics is large and competition is intense. There are a number of approved antihyperlipidemic drugs, currently on the market, awaiting regulatory approval or in development. $ZYPITAMAG^{\textcircled{R}}$ will compete with these drugs to the extent $ZYPITAMAG^{\textcircled{R}}$ and any of these drugs are approved for the same or similar indications.

Although ZYPITAMAG[®] would be positioned as a relatively low-cost therapy, in certain circumstances, other treatment approaches are lower cost and may for this reason be preferred by health care professionals. In 2023, the first generic pitavastatin calcium was launched, which added an additional pricing pressures on ZYPITAMAG[®]. The Company expects generic pitavastatin calcium to continue to have a negative impact on the sales of ZYPITAMAG[®] in 2025.

The Company, through its recently acquired Marley Drug pharmacy business, operates a physical pharmacy location in Winston Salem, North Carolina with a significant mail order business throughout the United States. Through Marley Drug, the Company faces intense competition with local, regional and national companies, including pharmacy chains, independently owned pharmacies, supermarkets, mass merchandisers and internet pharmacies, such as Get Roman, as well as competition from on-line retailers such as Amazon. Competition from these on-line retailers has significantly increased during the past few years. Some competitors have or may merge with or acquire pharmaceutical services companies, PBMs, health insurance companies, mail order facilities or enter into strategic partnership alliances with wholesalers or PBMs, which may further increase competition.

Competitors' Products in Development

At present the Company is not aware of any other intravenous glycoprotein IIb/IIIa inhibitors in mid to late stage clinical development. However, the choice and use of ACGRASTAT [®] may be affected by the continued advancement of new antithrombotic and antiplatelet agents, including the oral antiplatelet agents, ticagrelor (Brilinta [®]) and prasugrel (Effient [®]). Many companies, including large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, are conducting development of products that are intended to address the same or a similar medical need. Many of these companies have much larger financial and other resources than the Company does, including those related to research and development, manufacturing, and sales and marketing. The Company also faces competition in recruiting scientific personnel from colleges, universities, agencies, and research organizations who seek patent protection and licensing agreements for the technologies they develop.

There are other approved antihyperlipidemic drugs, currently on the market, awaiting regulatory approval or in development. $ZYPITAMAG^{\mathbb{R}}$ will compete with these drugs to the extent $ZYPITAMAG^{\mathbb{R}}$ and any of these drugs are approved for the same or similar indications.

Competitive Strategy and Position

The Company is primarily focusing on:

Maintaining and growing AGGRASTAT® sales in the United States

The Company continues to work to maintain and expand the sales of AGGRASTAT [®] in the United States. The use of AGGRASTAT [®] is recommended by the AHA and ACC Guidelines for the treatment of ACS. AGGRASTAT [®] has been shown, to reduce the rate of thrombotic cardiovascular events (combined endpoint of death, myocardial infarction, or refractory ischemia/repeat cardiac procedure) in patients with NSTE ACS.

Growing sales of ZYPITAMAG® in the United States

The Company has continued to see an increase in the sales of ZYPITAMAG[®] throughout 2023 and 2024 in comparison to prior years. The acquisition of Marley Drug and the launch of the e-commerce platform allows the Company to reach consumers in all 50 states , Washington D.C. and Puerto Rico. ZYPITAMAG[®] contributed revenue of \$6.2 million (\$3 million through the traditional insured channels, and an additional \$3.2 million through Marley Drug) to the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024, an increase from the prior year, where ZYPITAMAG[®] provided total revenue of \$5 million (\$2.4 million through the traditional insured channels, and an additional \$2.6 million through Marley Drug) to the Company during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Operation of the Marley Drug pharmacy business and growth of e-commerce platform

The Company continues to operate Marley Drug as a separate segment of its business. During 2022, Marley Drug launched its e-commerce platform, which allows consumers to purchase their FDA approved medications online and have them shipped directly to their residence. The addition of Marley Drug has also helped facilitate an increase in ZYPITAMAG[®] revenue.

Acquisitions, licensing or marketing partnerships for new commercial products

The Company continues to explore additional opportunities for the acquisition or licensing of other cardiovascular products that fit the commercial organization.

Developing additional products

On January 7, 2021, the Company announced that it intends to file an IND application with the FDA pertaining to its legacy product, P5P, also referred to as MC-1 for the treatment of seizures associated with PNPO deficiency. The majority of patients with PNPO deficiency have mutations in the PNPO gene, which is required for the production of normal levels of P5P. In connection with the IND, the Company will proceed with a Phase 3 clinical trial to treat PNPO deficient patients with a daily dose of MC-1.

The FDA and the EMA have both granted a Rare Pediatric Disease Designation to MC-1 for the treatment of seizures associated with PNPO deficiency. Additionally, the FDA has granted Orphan Drug Status and a Rare Pediatric Disease Designation to MC-1 for the treatment of PNPO deficiency. Under the Creating Hope Act passed into federal law in 2012, the FDA grants a Rare Pediatric Disease Designation for serious and life-threatening diseases that primarily affect children ages 18 years or younger and fewer than 200,000 people in the United States. If an NDA for MC-1 for patients with PNPO deficiency is approved, the Company may be eligible to receive a PRV from the FDA, which can be redeemed to obtain priority review for any subsequent marketing application.

On June 24, 2024, the Company announced that it had signed an asset purchase agreement for the acquisition of the patent and intellectual property related to the discovery of new chemical entities that can be developed for therapeutic use. The Company believes that the new chemical entities hold promise to provide improvements over existing lead compounds in alignment with the treatment of diseases being targeted by Medicure, and could provide significant value upon completion of all required non-clinical and clinical studies and regulatory approval.

C. Organizational Structure

Medicure International, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, was incorporated pursuant to the laws of Barbados, West Indies, on May 23, 2000. Medicure International, Inc.'s registered office is located at Whitepark House, White Park Road, Bridgetown, Barbados. Medicure International Inc.'s head office is located at 1st Floor Limegrove Centre Holetown, St. James, Barbados.

Medicure Pharma, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, was incorporated pursuant to the laws of the State of Delaware, United States of America, on September 30, 2005. Medicure Pharma Inc.'s registered office is 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, Delaware, 19808. Medicure Pharma, Inc.'s head office is located at 116 Village Blvd. Suite 200, Princeton, NJ, 08540.

Marley Drug, Inc. was acquired by Medicure Pharma Inc. on December 17, 2020. Marley Drug, Inc. was incorporated pursuant to the laws of the State of North Carolina, United States of America, on September 30, 2005. Marley Drug, Inc.'s registered office is 5008 Peters Creek Pkwy, Winston Salem, North Carolina 27127. Marley Drug, Inc.'s head office is located at 5008 Peters Creek Pkwy, Winston Salem, North Carolina 27127.

Medicure Pharma Europe Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, was incorporated pursuant to the laws of Ireland on October 17, 2017. Medicure Pharma Europe Limited's registered office is Block 3, Harcourt Centre, Harcourt Road, Dublin 2.

D. Property, Plant and Equipment

Office Space

Included within the business and administration services agreement entered into with Genesys Venture Inc. (see Item 5F - Contractual Obligations), is the use of office space at Genesys Venture Inc.'s head office located at 1250 Waverley Street in Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada. As at December 31, 2023, the Company had use of approximately 10,500 square feet.

Through Marley Drug, the Company also leases 3,280 of retail and office space located at 5008 Peters Creek Pkwy, Winston Salem, North Carolina 27127.

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable

ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

This section contains forward-looking statements involving risks and uncertainties. The Company's actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including those set forth under part Item 3D - Risk Factors. The following discussion of the financial condition, changes in financial conditions and results of operations of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of the Company. The Company's consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars and have been prepared in accordance with IFRS included under Item 18 to this Annual Report.

A. Operating Results

General

Through 2024, the Company was focused on maintaining the sales $AGGRASTAT^{\mathbb{R}}$ and growing the sales of $ZYPITAMAG^{\mathbb{R}}$ in addition to growing the sales through its e-commerce and mail order pharmacy business in all 50 U.S. states, through its subsidiary, Marley Drug.

Historically, the Company concentrated primarily on research and development and continues to invest a significant amount of funds in research and development activities. To date, the Company has yet to and may never derive any revenues from its research and development products.

The Company has a limited operating history, and its prospects must be considered in light of the risks, expenses and difficulties frequently encountered with the establishment of a business in a highly competitive industry, characterized by frequent new product introductions.

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2023

Revenue

Net AGGRASTAT® product sales for year ended December 31, 2024 were \$8.1 million compared to \$9.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Company primarily sells finished AGGRASTAT [®] to drug wholesalers. These wholesalers subsequently sell AGGRASTAT [®] to hospitals where health care providers administer the drug to patients. Wholesaler management decisions to increase or decrease their inventory of AGGRASTAT [®] may result in sales of AGGRASTAT [®] to wholesalers that do not track directly with demand for the product at hospitals.

Hospital demand for AGGRASTAT [®] has declined during the current year, as the Company continues to have pricing pressures as a result of generics tirofiban hydrochloride, which launched during 2023. However, for the time being the number of hospital customers using AGGRASTAT [®] continued to remain strong and the Company continues to work on maintaining and expanding its customer base. The Company continues to expect a moderate patient market share despite reduced revenue from the AGGRASTAT [®] brand.

Net ZYPITAMAG® product sales for the year ended December 31, 2024 were \$3 million compared to \$2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Company sells ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ to drug wholesalers, who subsequently sell ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ to pharmacies who in turn sell the product to patients. In addition, the Company also markets ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ through its e-commerce and mail order pharmacy business in all 50 U.S. states through Marley Drug. Sales of ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ through Marley Drug are included within Marley Drug revenue sales figures. The increase in ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ revenue during the year ended December 31, 2024, can be attributed to greater utilization of the product through insurance formularies, specifically Medicare Part D. This increase is offset by increased wholesaler fees, in addition to higher coverage gap payments to pharmacy benefit managers. The Company is focused on growing ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ revenue through the insured channel and through Marley Drug throughout 2025 and beyond.

The Company recorded revenue of \$10.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to revenue of \$9.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2023 pertaining to the Marley Drug in store and e-commerce pharmaceutical business.

The pharmacy business has undergone a change in its product focus mix since the prior year, resulting in the increase in revenue during the current period, and continues to focus on fulfillment partnerships, its e-commerce platform, and increased sales of ZYPITAMAG[®]. Offsetting the increase in revenue is a decline in reimbursements from pharmacy benefit managers which only impact insured prescription sales.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold represents direct product costs associated with $AGGRASTAT^{(R)}$ and $ZYPITAMAG^{(R)}$, including write-downs for obsolete inventory, amortization of the related intangible assets and royalties paid on $ZYPITAMAG^{(R)}$. Additionally, Marley Drug, cost of goods sold includes direct product costs associated with the sale of products through the Marley Drug business, including its e-commerce platform.

AGGRASTAT® cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2024 were \$2.5 million compared to \$3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.

AGGRASTAT® cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2024 included \$2.7 million related to product sold to end customers, \$78,000 relating to a write down of expired/unusable inventory, and a \$281,000 recovery as a result of insurance proceeds received in the current year, for inventory that was damaged in shipping in the prior year. Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2023 included \$2.7 million related to product sold to end customers, and \$277,000 relating to a write down of damaged inventory. The decrease in cost of goods sold in the current year is the result of a decreased volume of product sold and is consistent with the decrease in revenue during the current year.

ZYPITAMA $G^{\mathbb{R}}$ cost of goods sold for year ended December 31, 2024 totaled \$1.4 million and includes \$759,000 relating to product sold to the Company's customers and \$620,000 from amortization of the ZYPITAMA $G^{\mathbb{R}}$ intangible assets. This compares to ZYPITAMA $G^{\mathbb{R}}$ cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2023 of \$1.2 million which was the result of \$597,000 relating to product sold to customers, \$611,000 from amortization of the ZYPITAMA $G^{\mathbb{R}}$ intangible assets, and a recovery of \$234,000 relating to royalties on the sale of ZYPITAMA $G^{\mathbb{R}}$.

The increase in cost of goods sold for ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ during the year ended December 31, 2024, in comparison to the same periods in the prior year is attributable to the higher volume of ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ sold through the insured channel. In addition, the Company recognized a recovery of royalties through cost of goods sold during the prior year, which was not recognized during the current year.

Cost of goods sold related to the Marley Drug business totaled \$5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to \$3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase in cost of goods sold during the current year is the result of a higher volume and nature of product sold through both the mail order and e-commerce platform during the current year.

Selling Expenses

Selling expenses include salaries and related costs for those employees involved in the commercial operations of the Company, as well as costs associated with marketing, promotion, distribution of the Company's products as well as market access activities and other commercial activities.

The expenditures are required to support sales and marketing efforts of AGGRASTAT®, ZYPITAMAG® and Marley Drug.

Selling expenses for the year ended December 31, 2024 were \$8.0 million compared to \$8.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The decrease in selling expenses during the current year in comparison to prior year is the result of decreases in consulting, commercial salaries and marketing expenses. The Company continues to look at ways of optimizing its commercial activities, while hedging against inflationary expense increases, through the use of strategic resource allocation; which has resulted in a decrease in selling expenses during the current year.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include the cost of administrative salaries, ongoing business development and corporate stewardship activities and professional fees such as legal, audit, investor and public relations.

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2024 were \$4.8 million compared to \$4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The increase in general and administration expenses during the year ended December 31, 2024 in comparison to the prior year is the result of an increase professional fees incurred by the Company, primarily related to legal fees. This increase is slightly offset by a decrease in share-based compensation expense during the current year, as a result of stock options which had been granted to directors and key employees during the prior year.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenditures include costs associated with the Company's clinical development and preclinical programs including salaries, monitoring and other research costs. The Company expenses all research costs and has not had any development costs that meet the criteria for capitalization under IFRS. Prepaid research and development costs represent advance payments under contractual arrangements for clinical activity outsourced to research centers.

Research and development expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2024 totaled \$3.1 million compared to \$2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Research and development expenditures include costs associated with the Company's on-going clinical development and pre-clinical programs including salaries, research centered costs and monitoring costs, as well as research and development costs associated with the development projects being undertaken to develop additional products.

The increase in research and development expenses during the year ended December 31, 2024 in comparison to the prior year is primarily the result of the timing of research and development expenditures relating to each development project. The Company's research and development activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 primarily pertained to the MC-1 development project.

Other Income

The Company recorded other income of \$1.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to nil during the year ended December 31, 2023. The other income recorded during the current year is the result of a legal settlement agreement entered into by the Company with its contract development and manufacturing organization ("CDMO"). The total value of the settlement was \$2.2 million which included \$345,000 relating to the cost of unfinished inventory, which the Company had previously invoiced the CDMO for. The terms of the settlement are confidential, and the proceeds from the settlement were received by the Company during the year.

Finance Income, Net

Finance income for the year ended December 31, 2024 totaled \$165,000 and primarily relates to interest income earned by the Company of \$206,000, offset by bank charges and interest charges stemming primarily from the Company's lease obligations of \$41,000. Finance income for the year ended December 31, 2023 totaled \$65,000 and primarily relates to interest income earned by the Company of \$75,000, and a recovery of accretion expense relating to the AGGRASTAT ® royalty obligation of \$37,000; offset by bank charges and interest charges stemming from the Company's lease obligations of \$47,000.

Foreign Exchange Loss, Net

The Company recorded a foreign exchange loss of \$71,000 for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to a foreign exchange loss of \$108,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023. The changes to foreign exchange losses results from changes in the US dollar exchange rate during the respective periods.

Loss and Comprehensive Loss

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded a net loss of \$1 million or \$0.10 per share (\$0.10 per share diluted) compared to net loss of \$922,000 or \$0.09 per share (\$0.09 per share diluted) for the year ended December 31, 2023.

As discussed above, the main factors contributing to an increased net loss during the year ended December 31, 2024 in comparison to the prior year were decreased ACGRASTAT[®] revenue, an increase in cost of goods sold as a result of a change in product mix and a higher volume of product sold through Marley Drug, an increase in general and administrative expenses as a result of professional legal fees incurred in the current year and an increase in research and development expenses related to the development of MC-1; offset by an increase in ZYPITAMAG[®] and Marley Drug revenue, a decrease in selling expenses as a result of better resource utilization, and an increase in other income as a result of a legal settlement received from the Company's previous CDMO.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded a total comprehensive income of \$686,000 compared to a total comprehensive loss of \$1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The change in comprehensive loss results from the factors described above as well as fluctuations in the US dollar exchange rate during the periods.

Additional Information

Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment on an ongoing basis whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The amount and timing of impairments and write-downs may vary substantially from period to period depending on the business and research activities being undertaken at any one time and changes in the Company's commercial strategy. The Company has considered indicators of impairment as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and the Company did not record any write-down of intangible assets during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

As at December 31, 2024, the Company had 10,436,313 common shares outstanding and 1,237,700 stock options, of which 385,700 were exercisable, to purchase common shares outstanding.

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2023 Compared to the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2022

Revenue

Net AGGRASTAT® product sales for year ended December 31, 2023 were \$9.7 million compared to \$11.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Company primarily sells finished AGGRASTAT [®] to drug wholesalers. These wholesalers subsequently sell AGGRASTAT [®] to hospitals where health care providers administer the drug to patients. Wholesaler management decisions to increase or decrease their inventory of AGGRASTAT [®] may result in sales of AGGRASTAT [®] to wholesalers that do not track directly with demand for the product at hospitals.

Hospital demand for AGGRASTAT® has declined during the current period, as the first generics of tirofiban hydrochloride launched during the year ended December 31, 2023. However, for the time being the number of hospital customers using AGGRASTAT® continued to remain strong. The Company's commercial team continues to work on maintaining and expanding its customer base. The Company continues to expect moderate patient market share despite reduced revenue from the AGGRASTAT® brand.

Net ZYPITAMAG® product sales for the year ended December 31, 2023 were \$2.4 million compared to \$3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Company traditionally sells ZYPITAMAG[®] to drug wholesalers, who subsequently sell ZYPITAMAG[®] to pharmacies who in turn sell the product to patients. However, because of high wholesaler fees, limitations in market access and low reimbursement through commercial and government coverage, the Company has shifted its focus to market ZYPITAMAG[®] through its e-commerce and mail order pharmacy business in all 50 U.S. states through Marley Drug. Sales of ZYPITAMAG[®] through Marley Drug are reported under Marley Drug revenue in the above table. The decline in revenues in 2023 is due to increased wholesaler fees, increased credit addition to higher rebate payments to pharmacy benefit managers, and competition from the first generic pitavastatin calcium launched during the year ended December 31, 2023. The Company is focused on growing ZYPITAMAG[®] revenue throughout 2024 and beyond.

The Company recorded revenue of \$9.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to revenue of \$7.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2022 pertaining to the Marley Drug in store and e-commerce pharmaceutical business. The growth in Marley Drug revenue during the current year is due to increased sales through its e-commerce platform, including increased sales of ZYPITAMAG® through both the online e-commerce platform and the legacy mail-order business, offset by lower reimbursements on insurance prescription sales by pharmacy benefit managers.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold represents direct product costs associated with $AGGRASTAT^{(B)}$ and $ZYPITAMAG^{(B)}$, including write-downs for obsolete inventory, amortization of the related intangible assets and royalties paid on $ZYPITAMAG^{(B)}$. Additionally, Marley Drug, cost of goods sold includes direct product costs associated with the sale of products through the Marley Drug business, including its e-commerce platform

AGGRASTAT® cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2023 were \$3 million compared to \$3,4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. AGGRASTAT® cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2023 included \$2.7 million related to product sold to end customers, and \$277,000 relating to a write down of damaged inventory. Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2022 only consisted of product sold to customer. The decrease in cost of goods sold in the current year is the result of a decreased volume of product sold, and is consistent with the decrease in revenue, excluding the write-down of inventory.

ZYPITAMAG[®] cost of goods sold for year ended December 31, 2023 totaled \$974,000 and includes \$597,000 relating to product sold to the Company's customers, \$611,000 from amortization of the ZYPITAMAG[®] intangible assets, and a recovery of \$234,000 relating to royalties on the sale of ZYPITAMAG[®]. This compares to ZYPITAMAG[®] cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2022 of \$1.2 million which was the result of \$441,000 relating to product sold to the Company's customers, \$589,000 from amortization of the ZYPITAMAG[®] intangible assets, and \$151,000 relating to royalties on the sale of ZYPITAMAG[®].

The decrease in cost of goods sold for ZYPITAMAG[®] during the year ended December 31, 2023 in comparison to the same periods in the prior year is attributable to the conclusion of the Company's royalty obligation on ZYPITAMAG[®], in addition to the Company recognizing a recovery of royalties during the current period ended, offset by a higher volume of ZYPITAMAG[®] sold during the current year.

The cost of goods sold related to the Marley Drug business totaled \$3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to \$2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in cost of goods sold during the current year is the result of a higher volume and nature of product sold through both the mail order and e-commerce platform during the current year.

Selling Expenses

Selling expenses include salaries and related costs for those employees involved in the commercial operations of the Company, as well as costs associated with marketing, promotion, distribution of the Company's products as well as market access activities and other commercial activities. The expenditures are required to support sales and marketing efforts of AGGRASTAT®, ZYPITAMAG® and Marley Drug.

Selling expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 were \$8.3 million compared to \$7.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The increase in selling expenses during the current year is the result of is a result of inflationary increases from the Company's third-party logistics services provider, in addition to higher selling expenses from the Marley Drug business, which corresponds with the increase in revenue noted during the current year.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include the cost of administrative salaries, ongoing business development and corporate stewardship activities and professional fees such as legal, audit, investor and public relations.

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 were \$4.1 million compared to \$4.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The slight decrease in general and administration expenses during the year ended December 31, 2023 when compared to the year ended December 31, 2022 is related to the Company incurring less non-capitalized expenditures in the current year, in comparison to the prior year with regards to improvements made to the Marley Drug e-commerce platform, offset by higher share-based compensation during the current year, as a result of stock options which were granted during 2023.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenditures include costs associated with the Company's clinical development and preclinical programs including salaries, monitoring and other research costs. The Company expenses all research costs and has not had any development costs that meet the criteria for capitalization under IFRS. Prepaid research and development costs represent advance payments under contractual arrangements for clinical activity outsourced to research centers.

Net research and development expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2023 totaled \$2.4 million compared to \$2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. Research and development expenditures include costs associated with the Company's on-going clinical development and pre-clinical programs including salaries, research centered costs and monitoring costs, as well as research and development costs associated with the development projects being undertaken to develop additional cardiovascular products.

The decrease in expenses during the year ended December 31, 2023 when compared to the year ended December 31, 2022 is primarily the result of the timing of research and development expenditures relating to each development project. The Company's research and development activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 primarily pertain to the MC-1 development project.

Other Income

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company did not record any gains or losses relating to the revaluation of the contingent consideration pertaining to the Marley Drug acquisition, compared to a \$346,000 gain on revaluation of the contingent consideration during the year ended December 31, 2022. As at December 31, 2023, there are no liabilities recorded on the consolidated financial statement of position with respect to contingent consideration stemming from the Marley Drug acquisition.

Finance Income/Expense, Net

Finance income for the year ended December 31, 2023 totaled \$65,000 and primarily relates to interest income earned by the Company of \$75,000, a recovery of accretion expense relating to the AGGRASTAT [®] royalty obligation of \$36,000, offset by bank charges and interest charges stemming from the Company's lease obligations of \$47,000. Finance expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 totaled \$206,000 and primarily relates to remeasurement of the of the Company's AGGRASTAT [®] royalty obligation of \$169,000 and accretion on the ZYPITAMAG [®] acquisition payable of \$44,000.

Foreign Exchange Loss/Gain, Net

The Company recorded a foreign exchange loss of \$108,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to a foreign exchange gain of \$52,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022. The changes to foreign exchange gains and losses results from changes in the US dollar exchange rate during the respective periods, which led to the foreign exchange gains and losses as it applies to the significant US dollar cash balances held by the Company at the end of both periods.

Loss and Comprehensive Loss

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded a net loss of \$922,000 or \$0.09 per share (\$0.09 per share diluted) compared to net profit of \$1.4 million or \$0.13 per share (\$0.13 per share diluted) for the year ended December 31, 2022.

As discussed above, the main factors contributing to net loss during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to a net profit during the year ended December 31, 2022 were decreased AGGRASTAT [®] revenue, an increase in cost of goods sold as a result of an inventory write-down due to inventory damaged during shipment, partially offset by decreased research and development expenses primarily due to timing of research and development projects the Company is undertaking, in addition to a decrease in other income as a result of a revaluation gain the Company recorded in the prior year on its contingent consideration liability.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded a total comprehensive loss of \$1.5 million compared to a total comprehensive income of \$2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The change in comprehensive loss results from the factors described above as well as fluctuations in the US dollar exchange rate during the periods.

Additional Information

Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment on an ongoing basis whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The amount and timing of impairments and write-downs may vary substantially from period to period depending on the business and research activities being undertaken at any one time and changes in the Company's commercial strategy. The Company has considered indicators of impairment as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the Company did not record any write-down of intangible assets during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

As at December 31, 2023, the Company had 10,436,313 common shares outstanding and 1,477,700 stock options, of which 332,700 were exercisable to purchase common shares outstanding.

B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since the Company's inception, it has financed operations primarily through the net revenue received from the sale of its commercial products, the sale of its equity securities, the issuance and subsequent exercises of warrants and stock options, interest on excess funds held and the issuance of debt.

Cash from operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 was \$1.4 million compared to cash from operating activities of \$2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease in cash from operating activities is primarily due to an increased net loss during the current year, in addition to working capital adjustments for an increase in inventory, prepaid expenses, other assets, and a decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 was \$739,000 compared to \$270,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023. The cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted only of capitalized investments into intangible assets, primarily, the Marley Drug e-commerce platform.

Cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 totaled \$370,000 compared to \$297,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023. The cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 consisted only of repayments of the Company's lease liabilities. The cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 related to repayments of the Company's lease liabilities, offset by cash received from the exercise of stock options

As at December 31, 2024, the Company had unrestricted cash totaling \$7.1 million compared to \$6.4 million as of December 31, 2023. As at December 31, 2024, the Company had working capital of \$7.5 million compared to \$7.3 million as at December 31, 2023.

C. Research and Development, Patents and Licenses, Etc.

Research and Development

The Company's research and development activities are predominantly conducted by its wholly-owned Barbadian subsidiary, Medicure International Inc.

AGGRASTAT®

One of the ongoing research and development activities is the continued development and further implementation of a new regulatory, brand and life cycle management strategy for $AGGRASTAT^{\otimes}$. The extent to which the Company is able to invest in this plan is dependent upon the availability of sufficient finances and the expected returns from those investments.

The Company funded a number of investigator sponsored research projects targeting contemporary utilization of AGGRASTAT® relative to its competitors.

On January 27, 2021, the Company announced the early completion of iSPASM, a randomized, double-blind, single-center, Phase 1/2a trial aimed at assessing the safety of long-term (7-day) use of AGGRASTAT ® injection vs. placebo in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) (NCT03691727). The primary endpoint in the 30 patient study was hemorrhagic changes evident on head CT and/or MRI assessed by the rates of symptomatic and asymptomatic bleeding. iSPASM was funded by an unrestricted educational grant from Medicure. This study does not imply efficacy of AGGRASTAT ® in patients with aSAH. Based on positive results of the impact of AGGRASTAT on micro-thrombi, in 2024 the Company is providing support for the TRIATHLON clinical trial submitted for NIH support as a phase 1/2A, randomized, double-blinded, clinical trial to test the null hypothesis that tirofiban is unsafe in the setting of ischemic stroke treated via Endovascular thrombectomy (EVT). The Company believes that TRIATHLON provides an important opportunity to address the critical, urgent, and unmet need to improve the efficacy of EVT and mitigate the devastating consequences of large vessel occlusion (LVO). This new study will provide valuable information on dosing towards the potential benefits of AGGRASTAT therapy in mitigating the effect of micro-thrombi and improving long-term functional outcomes in patients with ischemic stroke due to LVO. Please note that the use of AGGRASTAT ® in neurointerventions, EVT and/or LVO has not been approved by the FDA. As of this time, neither AGGRASTAT® nor any of the GP Ilb/IIIa inhibitors are indicated for the use in stroke patients. AGGRASTAT® is approved for use in NSTE-ACS patients.

NDA and ANDA Products

The Company has been devoting significant resources to its research and development programs, including, but not limited to the development of MC-1 for the treatment of PNPO deficiency.

On January 7, 2021, the Company announced that it intends to file an IND with the FDA pertaining to its legacy product P5P, also referred to as MC-1 for the treatment of seizures associated with PNPO deficiency. The majority of patients with PNPO deficiency have mutations in the PNPO gene, which is required for the production of normal levels of P5P. In connection with the IND, the Company will proceed with a Phase 3 clinical trial to treat PNPO deficient patients with a daily dose of MC-1.

The FDA and the EMA have both granted a Rare Pediatric Disease Designation to MC-1 for the treatment of seizures associated with PNPO deficiency. Additionally, the FDA has granted Orphan Drug Status and a Rare Pediatric Disease Designation to MC-1 for the treatment of PNPO deficiency. Under the Creating Hope Act passed into federal law in 2012, the FDA grants a Rare Pediatric Disease Designation for serious and life-threatening diseases that primarily affect children ages 18 years or younger and fewer than 200,000 people in the United States. If an NDA for MC-1 for patients with PNPO deficiency is approved, the Company may be eligible to receive a PRV from the FDA, which can be redeemed to obtain priority review for any subsequent marketing application.

The Company had also been devoting significant resources towards the development of TARDOXAL TM for neurological conditions such as Tardive Dyskinesia. This work included, but was not limited to, working with the FDA to better understand and refine the next steps in development of the product. The advancement of TARDOXAL TM is currently on hold.

On June 24, 2024, the Company announced that it had signed an asset purchase agreement for the acquisition of the patent and intellectual property related to the discovery of new chemical entities that can be developed for therapeutic use. The Company believes that the new chemical entities hold promise to provide improvements over existing lead compounds in alignment with the treatment of diseases being targeted by Medicure and could provide significant value upon completion of all required non-clinical and clinical studies and regulatory approval.

The following table summarizes the Company's research and development programs, their therapeutic focus and their stage of development.

Product Candidate	Therapeutic focus	Stage of Development
AGGRASTAT [®]	Acute Cardiology	Approved/Marketed
ZYPITAMAG [®]	Primary Hyperlipidemia or Mixed Dyslipidemia	Approved/Marketed
MC-1	Rare Pediatric Disease	IND filed, Phase 3 launching
TARDOXAL TM	Tardive Dyskinesia	IND filed, on hold
P5P Analogues	Not yet disclosed	Pre-clinical development

Other Products

The Company is investing in the research and development of other new product development opportunities. The Company is also exploring opportunities to grow the business through acquisition. The Company has evaluated and continues to evaluate the acquisition or license of other approved commercial products with the objective of further broadening its product portfolio and generating additional revenue.

As at December 31, 2024, the Company had numerous issued United States patents (see Item 5 – Operating and Financial Review and Prospects – C. Research and Development, Patents and Licenses, etc. below).

Patents and Licenses

The Company has 2 issued patent from the United States Patent Office providing protection for AGGRASTAT [®] and related its current and historic development compounds and ZYPITAMAG [®]. The Company will continue to file patents related to its research and development activities.

The United States patents currently issued to the Company are as follows:

Patent Number	Issue Date	Title	
6,770,660	August 3, 2004	Method for Inhibiting Platelet Aggregation	
8,829,186	July 14, 2017	Method for preparation of pitavastatin and pharmaceutical acceptable sales thereof	

Patents 5,965,581, 5,972,967, 5,978,698, 6,136,794, 6,538,112 and 6,770,660 were purchased by the Company from MGI GP, INC. (a Delaware corporation doing business as MGI PHARMA and its Affiliate, Artery, LLC). Pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement dated August 8, 2006, MGI GP, INC. sold the exclusive use of the patents to the Company in the specified territory (the United States of America including the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico; Guam; and the United States Virgin Islands). Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement the Company agreed to pay MGI GP, INC. a one-time fee for the procurement of the acquired assets. The Asset Purchase Agreement was executed August 8, 2006.

Much of the work, including some of the research methods, that is important to the success of the Company's business is germane to the industry and may not be patentable. For this reason, all employees, contracted researchers and consultants are bound by non-disclosure agreements.

Given that the patent applications for these technologies involve complex legal, scientific and factual questions, there can be no assurance that patent applications relating to the technology used by the Company will result in patents being issued, or that, if issued, the patents will provide a competitive advantage or will afford protection against competitors with similar technology or will not be challenged successfully or circumvented by competitors.

The Company has filed patents in accordance with the Patent Cooperation Treaty (the "PCT"). The PCT is a multilateral treaty that was concluded in Washington in 1970 and entered into force in 1978. It is administered by the International Bureau of the World Intellectual Property Organization (the "WIPO"), headquartered in Geneva, Switzerland. The PCT facilitates the obtaining of protection for inventions where such protection is sought in any or all of the PCT contracting states (total of 104 at July 1999). It provides for the filing of one patent application (the "international application"), with effect in several contracting states, instead of filing several separate national and/or regional patent applications. At the present time, an international application may include designation for regional patents in respect of contracting states party to any of the following regional patent treaties: The Protocol on Patents and Industrial Designs within the framework of the African Regional Industrial Property Organization, the Eurasian Patent Convention, the European Patent Convention, and the Agreement Establishing the African Intellectual Property Organization. The PCT does not eliminate the necessity of prosecuting the international application in the national phase of processing before the national or regional offices, but it does facilitate such prosecution in several important respects by virtue of the procedures carried out first on all international applications during the international phase of processing under the PCT. The formalities check, the international search and (optionally) the international preliminary examination carried out during the international phase, as well as the automatic deferral of national processing which is entailed; give the applicant more time and a better basis for deciding whether and in what countries to further pursue the application. Further information may be obtained from the official WIPO internet website (http://www.wipo.int).

Although the Company is no longer developing MC-1 for cardiovascular indications, the Company does have a royalty bearing agreement with its subsidiary in regard to this development program. On June 1, 2000, the Company entered into the Medicure International Licensing Agreement whereby it licensed the world-wide development and marketing rights for MC-1, except for Canada, to its wholly owned subsidiary, Medicure International, Inc. As consideration for the grant of the license, Medicure International, Inc. agreed to pay the Company a fee of \$1.00 upon the completion of specified milestones in the development process, together with a variable royalty of 7% to 9% of net sales of MC-1 (if any sales are ever in fact made). The term of the Medicure International Licensing Agreement will expire on the date of expiration of the last to expire patent on MC-1, or in the absence of any such patent, on the 10th anniversary of the date of the first commercial sale of MC-1 in the country where it was last introduced (if it is ever so introduced). The Medicure International Licensing Agreement may be terminated under a number of circumstances and, in any event, by either party at any time by providing the other with at least 90 days prior written notice of its intention to terminate the Medicure International Licensing Agreement.

Medicure International, Inc. subsequently entered into a development agreement with CanAm on June 1, 2000 to perform research and development of MC-1 and other compounds at cost, plus a reasonable mark-up not to exceed ten percent of any amount invoiced. The parties to the development agreements have agreed that the aggregate amount of all invoiced expenditures shall not exceed \$30,000,000 over the term of each agreement. The term of the CanAm development agreement is to expire on the completion of all research and development activities by CanAm and the written acknowledgment by CanAm and Medicure International, Inc. that no further research projects will be undertaken. CanAm continues to perform work on AGGRASTAT [®], TARDOXAL TM and other projects under this agreement, however there is no ongoing research activity related to MC-1.

The development agreements may be terminated under a number of circumstances and, in any event, by Medicure International, Inc. at any time by providing CanAm with at least 30 days prior written notice of its intention to terminate, or by CanAm at any time by providing Medicure International, Inc., with at least 90 days prior written notice of its intention to terminate the development agreement.

The agreements provide that all confidential information developed or made known during the course of the relationship with the Company is to be kept confidential except in specific circumstances.

On June 24, 2024, the Company announced that it had signed an asset purchase agreement with CanAm Bioresearch Inc. ("CanAm") for the acquisition of the patent and intellectual property related to all of the assets of CanAm as they relate to the business of developing pyridoxal 5'-phosphate analogues ("P5P Analogues"). In exchange for these assets, Medicure is to provide consideration of \$100,000 upon closing of the transaction, which is subject to regulatory approval, in addition to \$500,000 upon the Company filing its first investigational new drug application, \$250,000 upon the Company filing its first New Drug Application and \$500,000 the Company obtaining NDA approval for the P5P Analogues. In addition, Medicure shall pay to CanAm 10% of net proceeds received with respect to transactions relating to the Assets, including: (i) the sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the Assets to a third party purchaser who is not an affiliate of Medicure; (ii) any license to develop, commercialize, use, offer for sale, sell, import, export or exploit P5P Analogues up to a maximum value payable to CanAm of \$20,000,000 and (iii) the sale of an United State Food and Drug Administration priority review voucher obtained in connection with the development of P5P Analogues.

D. Trend Information

Net AGGRASTAT® product sales for the year ended December 31, 2024 were \$8.1 million compared to \$9.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Hospital demand for AGGRASTAT [®] has declined during the current year, as the Company continues to have pricing pressures as a result of generics tirofiban hydrochloride, which launched during 2023. However, for the time being the number of hospital customers using AGGRASTAT [®] continued to remain strong, and the Company continues to work on maintaining and expanding its customer base. The Company continues to expect a moderate patient market share despite reduced revenue from the AGGRASTAT [®] brand.

Net ZYPITAMAG® product sales through the traditional insured channel for the year ended December 31, 2024 were \$3.0 million compared to \$2.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Company sells ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ to drug wholesalers, who subsequently sell ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ to pharmacies who in turn sell the product to patients. In addition, the Company also markets ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ through its e-commerce and mail order pharmacy business in all 50 U.S. states through Marley Drug. Sales of ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ through Marley Drug are reported under Marley Drug revenue in the above table. The increase in ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ revenue during the year ended December 31, 2024, can be attributed to greater utilization of the product through insurance formularies, specifically Medicare Part D. This increase is offset by increased wholesaler fees, in addition to higher coverage gap payments to pharmacy benefit managers. The Company is focused on growing ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ revenue through the insured channel and through Marley Drug throughout 2025 and beyond.

Marley Drug has been successful in marketing directly to customers, providing access to medications without the need for insurance, and building a nationwide customer base. The Marley Drug operating segment generated \$10.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to \$9.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2023. The Company began selling ZYPITAMAG[®] through Marley Drug immediately following the acquisition. During the year ended December 31, 2024, ZYPITAMAG[®] product sales through Marley Drug operating segment were \$3.2 million compared to \$2.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2023. During 2022, the Company launched its e-commerce platform which allowed customers to order their FDA approved medications through the platform.

E Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the Company's consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about key assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are included in the following notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024:

• Note 3(e): The accruals for returns, chargebacks, rebates and discounts

Chargebacks are considered the most significant estimates and result from wholesalers selling the Company's products to end hospitals at prices lower than the wholesaler acquisition cost, which results in variable consideration for the Company. The provision is estimated using historical chargeback experience, timing of actual chargebacks processed during the year, expected chargeback levels based on the remaining products in the wholesaler distribution channel and pricing differences. Estimating the chargeback accrual is complex and judgmental due to the level of uncertainty involved in management's estimates for product that remains in the wholesaler distribution channel as at year-end, the extent of product sales that were expected to be subject to chargebacks and pricing differences.

- Note 3(i): The measurement and useful lives of intangible assets
- Note 3(I): Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company's annual goodwill impairment test is based on value-in-use calculations that use a discounted cash flow model. These calculations require the use of estimates and forecasts of future cash flows. The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate, revenue growth rate, and operating margin. A change in any of the significant assumptions or estimates used to evaluate goodwill could result in a material change to the results of operations. The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount are further explained in note 9 of the consolidated financial statements.

Valuation of financial instruments

Financial Assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Upon recognition of a financial asset, classification is made based on the business model for managing the asset and the asset's contractual cash flow characteristics. The financial asset is initially recognized at its fair value and subsequently classified and measured as (i) amortized cost; (ii) fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI"); or (iii) fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"). Financial assets are classified as FVTPL if they have not been classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI. Upon initial recognition of an equity instrument that is not held-for-trading, the asset is recorded as FVTPL unless the Company irrevocably designates the presentation of subsequent changes in the fair value of such equity instrument as FVOCI.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method and net of any impairment allowance, if the asset is held within a business whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable and other assets are classified within this category.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets measured at FVTPL are carried in the consolidated statements of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value therein recognized in the consolidated statement of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). There are presently no assets classified within this category.

Financial assets at FVOCI

Financial assets measured at FVOCI are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value therein recognized in the statement of consolidated statement of net loss and comprehensive loss. The investment in Sensible Medical was designated within this category.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

The Company recognizes a financial liability on the trade date in which it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument at fair value plus any directly attributable costs. Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost or FVTPL and are not subsequently reclassified. The Company's financial liabilities are accounts payable and accrued liabilities, royalty obligation and acquisition payable which are recognized on an amortized cost basis. Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL include contingent consideration resulting from business combinations as defined by IFRS 9.

The royalty obligation was recorded at its fair value at the date at which the liability was incurred and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method at each reporting date. Estimating fair value for this liability required determining the most appropriate valuation model which was dependent on its underlying terms and conditions. This estimate also required determining expected revenue from AGGRASTAT ® sales and an appropriate discount rate and making assumptions about them.

The acquisition payable liabilities were recorded at its fair value at the date at which the liability was incurred and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method at each reporting date. Estimating fair value for these liabilities required determining an appropriate discount rate.

Contingent consideration resulting from a business combination are valued at fair value at the acquisition date as part of the business combination and subsequently fair valued as described in the business combination policy below.

Derecognition

A financial asset or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets is derecognized when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass-through' arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated statements of net loss and comprehensive loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is determined based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing an asset or liability. Typically, fair value is determined by using quoted prices in active markets for identical or similar assets or liabilities. When quoted prices in active markets are not available, fair value is determined using valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs. When observable valuation inputs are not available, significant judgement is required through determining the valuation technique to apply, the valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis and selecting inputs. The use of alternative valuation techniques or valuation inputs may result in a different fair value.

Transaction costs

Transaction costs for all financial instruments measured at amortized cost, the transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the financial asset or financial liability and are amortized using the effective interest rate method over a period that corresponds with the term of the financial instruments. Transaction costs for financial instruments classified as FVTPL are recognized as an expense in professional fees, in the period the cost was incurred.

Embedded Derivatives

For financial liabilities measured at amortized cost, under certain conditions, an embedded derivative must be separated from its host contract and accounted for as a derivative. An embedded derivative causes some or all of the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the contract to be modified according to a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, a credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract. For financial assets at FVTPL, any embedded derivatives are not separated from its host contract.

Accruals for returns, chargebacks, rebates and discounts

As of December 31, 2024, excluding Marley Drug, the Company has two commercially available products that generated revenue, AGGRASTAT[®] and ZYPITAMAG[®] (the "Products") which it sells to United States customers. The Products are sold to wholesalers for resale as well as directly to hospitals and pharmacies, with AGGRASTAT[®] primarily being sold by the wholesalers to hospitals, while ZYPITAMAG[®] is primarily sold by wholesalers to pharmacies. Revenue from the sale of the Products is recognized upon the receipt of goods by the wholesaler, or the hospital or pharmacy in the case of a direct sale, at the point in time in which title and control of the transferred goods pass from the Company to the customer. At this point in time, the customer has gained the sole ability to route the goods, and there are no unfulfilled obligations that could affect the customer's acceptance of the goods. Delivery of the product occurs when the goods have been received at the customer in accordance with the terms of the sale.

Sales are made subject to certain discounts available for prompt payment, volume discounts, rebates or chargebacks. Revenue from these sales is recognized based on the price specified per the pricing terms of the sales invoices, net of the estimated discounts, rebates or chargebacks. Variable consideration is based on historical information, using the expected value method. Revenue is only recognized to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur. A liability is included within accounts payable and accrued liabilities and is measured for expected payments that will be made to the customers for the discounts in which they are entitled. Sales do not contain an element of financing as sales are made with credit terms within the normal operating cycle of the date of the invoice, which is consistent with market practice.

Through Marley Drug, the Company operates a retail pharmacy and mail order pharmacy business selling pharmaceuticals directly to end users, being individual patients. Revenue for in-store sales is recognized upon payment by the customer. This is the point where all performance obligations have been met with regards to the product sold. Revenue for mail order sales is recognized upon the shipment of the products to the customer, generally at the time the product is picked up from the Company's premises by the carrier. This is the point where all performance obligations have been met with regards to the product sold.

The measurement of intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired separately are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Subsequent expenditures are capitalized only when they increase the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which they relate. All other expenditures are recognized in profit or loss as incurred

Product licenses are amortized on a straight-line basis over the contractual term of the acquired license. Pharmacy licenses are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of approximately seven years. Patents and drug approvals are amortized on a straight-line basis over the legal life of the respective patent, ranging from five to twenty years, or its economic life, if shorter. Brand names are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated economic life of the brand name estimated at ten years. Trademarks are amortized on a straight-line basis over the legal life of the respective trademark, being ten years, or its economic life, if shorter. Customer lists are amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of seven to twelve years, or their economic life, if shorter.

Amortization on product licenses commences when the intangible asset is available for use, which would typically be in connection with the commercial launch of the associated product under the license.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. The costs of servicing the Company's patents and trademarks are expensed as incurred.

The amortization method and amortization period of an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least annually. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates in the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).

The measurement of the amount and assessment of the recoverability of income tax assets

The Company and its subsidiaries are generally taxable under the statutes of their country of incorporation.

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. Current taxes and deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current taxes are the expected tax receivable or payable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax receivable or payable in respect of previous years.

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for deferred taxes. Under this method, deferred taxes are recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred taxes are not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred taxes are not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred taxes are measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

The Company has provided for income taxes, including the impacts of tax legislation in various jurisdictions, in accordance with guidance issued by accounting regulatory bodies, the Canada Revenue Agency, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, the Barbados Revenue Authority, as well as other state and local governments through the date of the issuance of these consolidated financial statements. Additional guidance and interpretations can be expected and such guidance, if any, could impact future results. While management continues to monitor these matters, the ultimate impact, if any, as a result of the application of any guidance issued in the future cannot be determined at this time.

The Company and its subsidiaries file federal income tax returns in Canada, the United States, Barbados and other foreign jurisdictions, as well as various provinces and states in Canada and the United States, respectively. Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws and the amount and timing of future taxable income. Given the Company operates within a complex structure internationally, differences arising between the actual results and the assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to taxable income and expenses recorded. The Company establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. The amount of such provisions are based on various factors, such as interpretations of tax regulations by each taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. The Company and its subsidiaries have open tax years, primarily from 2011 to 2024, with significant taxing jurisdictions, including Canada, the United States and Barbados. These open years contain certain matters that could be subject to differing interpretations of applicable tax laws and regulations and tax treaties, as they relate to the amount, timing or inclusion of revenues and expenses, or the sustainability of income tax positions of the Company and its subsidiaries. Certain of these tax years may remain open indefinitely.

Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues, depending on the conditions prevailing in the respective company's domicile. As the Company assesses the probability for litigation and subsequent cash outflow with respect to taxes as remote, no contingent liability has been recognized.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at that date, would be recognized subsequently if information about facts and circumstances changed. The adjustment would either be treated as a reduction to goodwill if it occurred during the measurement period or in profit or loss, when it occurs subsequent to the measurement period.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for an acquisition is measured at the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities assumed and the equity interests issued at the acquisition date. Transaction costs that are incurred in connection with a business combination, other than costs associated with the issuance of debt or equity securities, are expensed as incurred. Identified assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are measured initially at fair values at the date of acquisition. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, any non-controlling interest is measured either at fair value of the non-controlling interest or at the fair value of the proportionate share of the net assets acquired.

Contingent consideration is measured at fair value on acquisition date and is included as part of the consideration transferred. The fair value of the contingent consideration liability is remeasured at each reporting date with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of fair value of the cost of the business combinations over the Company's share in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Any negative difference is recognized directly in the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). If the fair values of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities can only be calculated on a provisional basis, the business combination is recognized using provisional values. Any adjustments resulting from the completion of the measurement process are recognized within twelve months of the date of the acquisition.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Company must assess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset over a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Company must assess whether the contract involves the use of an identified asset, whether it has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset during the term of the contract and if it has the right to direct the use of the asset. As a lessee, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of the lease.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which consists of the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made and any initial direct costs incurred at or before the commencement date, plus any decommissioning and restoration costs, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently amortized from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the lease term, or the end of the useful life of the asset. In addition, the right-of-use asset may be reduced due to impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability.

Lease liability

A lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date discounted by the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the incremental borrowing rate. The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed payments; variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate; amounts expected to be payable under any residual value guarantee; the exercise price under any purchase option that the Company would be reasonably certain to exercise; lease payments in any optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option; and penalties for any early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not to terminate early. The Company has elected to not include non-lease components related to premises leases in the determination of the lease liability.

The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a lease term of twelve months or less and leases of low-value assets. The lease payments associated with these leases are charged directly to income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Estimating the IBR

The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in its lease; therefore, it uses its IBR to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Company "would have to pay," which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Company estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary's stand-alone credit rating).

New Standards Not Yet Adopted

IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

In April 2024, IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements was issued and replaces IAS 1.

This new standard introduces new categories and subtotals in the statement of profit or loss where all income and expenses are categorized into one of five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations.

The standard also requires disclosure of management-defined performance measures ("MPM"). MPM is a subtotal of income and expenses that a company uses in public communications outside financial statements. IFRS 18 requires disclosure of information for all of the company's MPMs within a single note to the financial statements that includes a description of each MPM, how the measure is calculated and a reconciliation to the most comparable line item in the statement of profit or loss.

The standard also introduces a principle for presentation of information in the primary financial statements versus the financial statement notes including the aggregation and disaggregation of such information.

IFRS 18 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027, and must be applied retrospectively. The Company is assessing the impact of adopting IFRS 18 and although early adoption is permitted, the Company does not anticipate early adoption of this standard.

ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

A. Directors and Senior Management

Directors and Senior Management

The members of the board of directors and senior officers of the Company including a brief biography of each are as follows:

Dr. Albert D. Friesen, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada - Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The founder, President, CEO and Chair of the Board of Medicure Inc., Dr. Friesen holds a Ph.D. in protein chemistry from the University of Manitoba. Dr. Friesen played a key role in founding several health industry companies including the first employee and President of the Winnipeg Rh Institute for over 20 years, where he oversaw the development of WinRho (then acquired by Cangene Inc. and more recently by Emergent BioSolutions), ABI Biotechnology (acquired by Apotex Inc.), Viventia Biotech Inc., Genesys Pharma Inc., Waverley Pharma Inc. DiaMedica Inc, Miraculins Inc., Kane Biotech Inc. and KAM Scientific Inc. Dr. Friesen has experience in the establishment of pharmaceutical production facilities and has also managed and initiated the research and clinical development of several pharmaceutical candidates. Dr. Friesen is a founder of the Industrial Biotechnology Association of Canada (IBAC) and past Chairman of its board of directors and former member of the Industrial Advisory Committee to the Biotechnology Research Institute in Montreal. In addition to his role with the Company, Dr. Friesen is currently the President and Chairman of Genesys Venture Inc., a biotech incubator, based in Winnipeg and a member of the Board of Directors of Waverley Pharma Inc, a TSX-V listed company. Dr. Friesen provides his services to the Company through A.D. Friesen Enterprises Ltd., his private consulting corporation. Dr. Friesen served as both CEO and President of Medicure Inc.

Dr. Arnold Naimark, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada - Director

Dr. Amold Naimark, O.C., O.M., M.D., L.L.D., F.R.C.P.(C), F.R.S.C, FCAHS, FAAAS, has had a distinguished career in biomedical research, medicine and higher education. He is President Emeritus and Dean of Medicine Emeritus and Professor of Medicine and Physiology at the University of Manitoba. He is currently Director of the Centre for the Advancement of Medicine, Chair of Genome Prairie Immediate Past-Chair of CancerCare Manitoba. Dr. Naimark serves on the National Statistics Council of Canada and is Vice-Chair of the Statistics Canada Audit Committee. He was formerly on the Research Council of the Canadian Institute for Advanced Research, Chair of Health Canada's Ministerial Science Advisory Board, Member of the International Advisory Committee on Research of the Alberta Cancer Board, Vice-Chair of the Manitoba Health Research Council and Director of the Robarts Research Institute. He is the founding Chairman of the North Portage Development Corporation, the Canadian Health Services Research Foundation and the Canadian Biotechnology Advisory Committee. He has served as President of several academic bodies including, the Canadian Physiological Society, the Canadian Society for Clinical Investigation, the Association of Canadian Medical Colleges, the Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada and as Chairman of the Association of Commonwealth Universities. Dr. Naimark is an Officer of the Order of Canada, a Member of the Order of Manitoba and a Fellow of the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada, the Royal Society of Canada, and the Canadian Academy of Health Sciences. He is recipient of the G. Malcolm Brown Award of the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons and Medical Research Council of Canada, the Osler Award, the Distinguished Service Award of Ben Gurion University, the Symons Award of the Association of Commonwealth Universities; and of honorary doctorates from Mount Allison University and the University of Toronto, and of several other awards and distinctions related to his profess

Peter Quick, Mill Neck, New York, USA - Director

Peter Quick has over 35 years experience in the securities and financial services industries. He is a recognized leader in the securities industry with experience in the domestic and international equities market, equities market making, market structure reform, trading technology and clearing operations. Mr. Quick was a Partner of Burke and Quick Partners Holdings LLP, the parent company of Burke & Quick Partners LLC a broker dealer. Mr. Quick was President at the American Stock Exchange from 2000 to 2005. Prior to joining the American Stock Exchange, he served as President of Quick & Reilly Inc., a Quick & Reilly subsidiary and a national discount brokerage firm. He also served as President of Quick & Reilly/Fleet Securities. Mr. Quick is a graduate from the University of Virginia with a B.S. in Engineering and attended Stanford University's Graduate School of Petroleum Engineering. He served four years active duty from 1978 to 1982 as an Officer in the United States Navy. He is a member of the Boards of Directors of First of Long Island Corporation (FLIC: NASDAQ) and First National Bank of Long Island. Mr. Quick serves as the Mayor of the Incorporated Village of Mill Neck, NY. He is a former member of the Board of Alliance Capital Money Market Fund, Chicago Stock Exchange Inc (CHX), The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (DTCC), The Midwest Trust Company, Securities Industry Automation Corporation (SIAC), National Security Clearing Corporation, The American Stock Exchange, Quick & Reilly, Inc., (NYSE: BQR), Reckson Associates Realty Corp (NYSE: RX), The Bear Stearns Current Yield Fund (AMEX:YYY) and Gain Capital (GCAP:NYSE). He is a former Chairman of the Board of Governors of St. Francis Hospital, Roslyn, NY and Mercy Medical Center, Rockville Centre, NY.

Brent Fawkes, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada - Director

Brent Fawkes is a Chartered Professional Accountant with over 30 years of experience in accounting and finance. Mr. Fawkes is currently the CFO of the McIvor group of companies and previously spent 27 years in the aerospace industry at one of the world's largest independent providers of aerospace services, StandardAero. Mr. Fawkes has experience in multiple oversight roles, and has an in-depth knowledge of external reporting, budgeting, financial planning, and treasury management. He is a former board member of CAA Manitoba and CAA South Central Ontario.

James Kinley, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada - Director

James Kinley is a Chartered Professional Accountant ("CPA, CA") and is currently the Chief Financial Officer of a publicly traded, clinical stage drug development company, Algernon Pharmaceuticals Inc. (CSE: AGN). Mr. Kinley has over 15 years of experience in building, leading, and advising corporations through their daily operations as well as on complex restructurings, mergers, acquisitions, and capital markets transactions, including structuring and negotiating favorable terms with commercial and investment banks. Mr. Kinley was previously the Chief Financial Officer of Medicure Inc. for approximately ten years from 2011 to 2021.

Dr. Neil Owens - President and Chief Operating Officer

Dr. Neil Owens Ph.D. is responsible for implementing Medicure's strategic plans and overseeing day-to-day operations including the advancement and management of new and existing pharmaceutical products. Dr. Owens has worked with Medicure since 2014, serving in various positions of escalating responsibility within Medical Affairs, and most recently as Director, Scientific Affairs. His responsibilities have included providing scientific input and expertise to support manufacturing, product development and clinical studies, as well as KOL engagement and team management. Dr. Owens holds a Bachelor of Science and a Ph.D. in Chemistry from the University of Manitoba and has Postdoctoral experience with the European Institute of Chemistry and Biology (Bordeaux, France). His research background has focused on organic & medicinal chemistry, and the overall application of science towards solving health-related issues.

Haaris Uddin - Chief Financial Officer

Effective June 1, 2022, Mr. Haaris Uddin was appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, replacing Dr. Neil Owens, who had served as Interim Chief Financial Officer since March 25, 2022. Prior to joining Medicure, Mr. Uddin was a Senior Accountant in Assurance Services at Ernst & Young. A chartered professional accountant, Mr. Uddin has significant experience working with life science companies in both Canada and the United States. Mr. Uddin obtained his Bachelor of Commerce (Hons.) degree from the University of Manitoba, his Master of Business Administration from the University of British Columbia, and is a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada.

Dr. Reuben Saba - Vice-President, Scientific and Medical Affairs

Dr. Reuben Saba Ph.D. was appointed Vice President of Scientific and Medical Affairs in July 2019 and is responsible for clinical development and medical activities at Medicure Inc. Dr. Saba began his tenure at Medicure as a Medical Science Liaison in the U.S. Midwest Regions and was appointed Regional Medical Affairs Manager in 2015 for the US Midwest and Northeast regions. Dr. Saba was appointed to Director of Medical Affairs, Medical Information and Medical-Technical Marketing in 2019. Dr. Saba joined Medicure from the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) in the Molecular Pathobiology Department focusing on the host genetics involved in prion pathobiology. Dr. Saba obtained his M.Sc. and Ph.D. at the University of Manitoba and did further post-doctoral training at the Interdisciplinary Center for Neurosciences (IZN) at the University of Heidelberg (Heidelberg, Germany).

Management

Dr. Albert D. Friesen - Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director: Dr. Friesen directs the overall business management of the Company (see "Directors and Senior Management" under this item).

Dr. Neil Owens - President, Chief Operating Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer: Dr. Owens is responsible for the day to day operations of the Company (see "Directors and Senior Management" under this item).

Haaris Uddin – Chief Financial Officer: Mr. Uddin is responsible for the financial management and accounting practices of the Company (see "Directors and Senior Management" under this item).

Dr. Reuben Saba – Vice-President, Scientific and Medical Affairs: Dr. Saba is responsible for business development and medical activities of the Company (see "Directors and Senior Management" under this item).

B. Compensation

Compensation paid to the directors, and executive officers of the Company during the year ended December 31, 2024, is described below and stock-based compensation described in Item 6(E) below:

The Company recorded \$53,000 in total fees paid or payable to Board members for attendance at meetings between January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024. In addition, included within this amount were additional \$5,000 payments to the chairs of the Audit and Finance Committee and Executive Compensation, and Corporate Governance Committee were paid an additional \$5,000 each for services as committee chairs.

Effective October 1, 2021, the Company signed a consulting agreement with its Chief Executive Officer, through ADF Family Holding Corp., a company owned by the Chief Executive Officer, for a term of 36 months, at a rate of \$18,000 per month, increasing to \$22,000 per month effective January 1, 2024. The aforementioned monthly fee shall be reviewed annually on January 1 by the Board of Directors of the Company for each succeeding year during the term of the agreement and may be adjusted at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors. The Company may terminate the agreement at any time upon 120 days' written notice. As at December 31, 2024, there are no outstanding amounts (2023 - nil) payable to ADF Family Holding Corp. as a result of this consulting agreement.

Dr. Neil Owens serves the Company as President and Chief Operating Officer. For the year ended December 31, 2024 the President and Chief Operating Officer received a salary of \$220,000.

Effective June 1, 2022, the Company signed a consulting agreement with its Chief Financial Officer, through 10055098 Manitoba Ltd., a company owned by the Chief Financial Officer. Effective March 1, 2023, the rate was changed to \$10 per month, increasing to \$11 per month effective January 1, 2024, and subsequently increasing to \$13 per month effective May 01, 2024. The aforementioned fee shall be reviewed annually on January 1. The Company can terminate the agreement with 30 days' written notice; otherwise, the agreement has an indefinite term As at December 31, 2024, there were no amounts payable to 10055098 Manitoba Ltd. (December 31, 2023 - nil).

Dr. Reuben Saba serves the Company as Vice-President, Clinical and Medical Affairs and received a salary of \$159,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company paid directors a total of nil (December 31, 2023 - nil) for consulting fees.

The Company has agreed to provide its independent directors \$2,000 for each quarterly board meeting they personally attended and \$1,500 for each quarterly executive compensation, nominating and corporate governance committee meeting or audit and finance committee meeting they attend that is not held in conjunction with a regular Board meeting.

As at December 31, 2024, the Company had nil in accrued compensation owing to the independent members of the Board of Directors relating to Directors fees (2023 - \$10,000).

The Company does not provide any cash compensation for its directors who are also officers of the Company for their services as directors.

No pension, retirement fund and other similar benefits have been set aside for the officers and directors of the Company.

C. Board Practices

The Board of Directors presently consists of five directors, who were all elected at the Company's annual general meeting of the shareholders held on May 28, 2024. Each director holds office until the next annual general meeting of the Company or until his successor is elected or appointed, unless his office is earlier vacated in accordance with the By-Laws of the Company, or pursuant to the provisions of the *Canada Business Corporations Act*.

Dr. Albert D. Friesen has served as a director of the Company since September 1997. Dr. Arnold Naimark has served as a director of the Company since March 2000. Peter Quick has served as a director of the Company since November 2005. Brent Fawkes has served as a director of the Company since January 2013. James Kinley has served as a director of the Company since June 2022.

As discussed in more detail below, the Board of Directors maintains an Audit and Finance Committee and an Executive Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

Corporate Governance

The Canadian Securities Administrators (the "CSA") have adopted National Policy 58-201 Corporate Governance Guidelines, which provides non-prescriptive guidelines on corporate governance practices for reporting issuers such as the Company. In addition, the CSA have implemented National Instrument NI 58-101 Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices, which prescribes certain disclosure by the Company of its corporate governance practices. The Company's approach to corporate governance is set forth below.

The Board believes that a clearly defined system of corporate governance is essential to the effective and efficient operation of the Company. The system of corporate governance should reflect the Company's particular circumstances, having always as its ultimate objective, the best long-term interests of the Company and the enhancement of value for all shareholders.

Directors are considered to be independent if they have no direct or indirect material relationship with the Company. A "material relationship" is a relationship which could, in the view of the Company's board of directors, be reasonably expected to interfere with the exercise of a director's independent judgment.

The Executive Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has reviewed the independence of each director on the basis of the definition in section 1.4 of National Instrument 52-110 – *Audit Committees* ("NI 52-110"). The Board has determined, after reviewing the roles and relationships of each of the directors, that Dr. Arnold Naimark, Brent Fawkes, James Kinley, and Peter Quick are independent from the Company. Only Dr. Albert Friesen is deemed to not be independent from the Company. As part of every regularly scheduled Board and committee meeting, the independent directors are given the opportunity to meet separately from management and the non-independent director. Board committees are entirely composed of independent directors who meet without management when required.

The Board has an orientation program in place for new directors which the Board feels is appropriate having regard to the current makeup of the Board. Each director receives relevant corporate and business information on the Company, the Board, and its committees. The directors regularly meet with Management and are given periodic presentations on relevant business issues and developments.

Presentations are made to the Board from time to time to educate and keep it informed of changes within the Company and of regulatory and industry requirements and standards.

The Company's Board has adopted a Code of Ethics applicable to directors, officers and employees, copies of which are available on the Company's website (www.medicure.com). A copy may also be obtained upon request to the Secretary of the Company at its head office, 2-1250 Waverley Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3T 6C6. The ECNCG Committee regularly monitors compliance with the Code of Ethics and also ensures that Management encourages and promotes a culture of ethical business conduct.

Audit and Finance Committee

Pursuant to Section 171 of the *Canada Business Corporations Act* (the "Act"), the Company is required to have an Audit Committee. Section 171(1) of the Act requires the directors of a reporting corporation to elect from among their number a committee composed of not fewer than three directors, of whom a majority must not be officers or employees of the corporation or an affiliate of the corporation. Section 171(3) of the Act provides that, before financial statements are approved by the directors, they must be submitted to the audit committee for review. Section 171(4) of the Act provides that the auditor must be given notice of and has the right to appear before and to be heard at, every meeting of the audit committee, and must appear before the audit committee when requested to do so by the committee. Finally, section 171(5) of the Act provides that on the request of the auditor, the audit committee must convene a meeting of the audit committee to consider any matters the auditor believes should be brought to the attention of the directors or members.

Pursuant to section 6.1 of NI 52-110, the Company is exempt from the requirements of Parts 3 and 5 of NI 52-110 for the year ended December 31, 2022, by virtue of the Company being a "venture issuer" (as defined in NI 52-110).

Part 3 of NI 52-110 prescribes certain requirements for the composition of audit committees of non-exempt companies that are reporting issuers under Canadian provincial securities legislation. Part 3 of NI 52-110 requires, among other things that an audit committee be comprised of at three directors, each of whom, is, subject to certain exceptions, independent and financially literate in accordance with the standards set forth in NI 52-110.

Part 5 of NI 52-110 requires an annual information form that is filed by a non-exempt reporting issuer under National Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations, as adopted the CSA, to include certain disclosure about the issuer's audit committee, including, among other things: the text of the audit committee's charter; the name of each audit committee member and whether or not the member is independent and financially literate; whether a recommendation of the audit committee to nominate or compensate an external auditor was not adopted by the issuer's board of directors, and the reasons for the board's decision; a description of any policies and procedures adopted by the audit committee for the engagement of non-audit services; and disclosure of the fees billed by the issuer's external auditor in each of the last two fiscal years for audit, tax and other services.

Notwithstanding the exemption available under section 6.1 of NI 52-110, as at the date hereof, the Audit and Finance Committee is comprised of four independent directors: Brent Fawkes (Chair), Dr. Arnold Naimark, James Kinely and Peter Quick. The relevant experience of each member is described above. (See "Item 6 - Directors, Senior Management and Employees".)

As a result of their education and experience, each member of the audit committee has familiarity with, an understanding of, or experience in:

- the accounting principles used by the Company to prepare its financial statements, and the ability to assess the general application of those principles in connection with estimates, accruals and reserves
- reviewing or evaluating financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the
 breadth and complexity of issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company's financial statements, and
- an understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial reporting.

Under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the independent auditor of a public Company is prohibited from performing certain non-audit services. The Audit and Finance Committee has adopted procedures and policies for the pre-approval of non-audit services, as described in the Audit and Finance Committee Charter reproduced below

AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE CHARTER

GENERAL FUNCTIONS, AUTHORITY, AND ROLE

The purpose of the Audit and Finance Committee (the "Committee") is to oversee the accounting, financial reporting and disclosure processes of the Company and the audits of its financial statements, and thereby assist the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") in monitoring the following:

- (1) the integrity of the financial statements of the Company;
- (2) compliance by the Company with ethical policies and legal and regulatory requirements related to financial reporting and disclosure;
- (3) the appointment, compensation, qualifications, independence and performance of the Company's internal and external auditors;
- (4) the performance of the Company's independent auditors;
- (5) performance of the Company's internal controls and financial reporting and disclosure processes; and
- (6) that management of the Company has assessed areas of potential significant financial risk to the Company and taken appropriate measures.

The Committee has the power to conduct or authorize investigations into any matters within its scope of responsibilities, with full access to all books, records, facilities and personnel of the Company, its auditors and its legal advisors. In connection with such investigations or otherwise in the course of fulfilling its responsibilities under this charter, the Committee has the authority to independently retain, and set and pay compensation to, special legal, accounting, or other consultants to advise it, and may request any officer or employee of the Company, its independent legal counsel or independent auditor to attend a meeting of the Committee or to meet with any members of, or consultants to, the Committee. The Committee has the power to create specific sub-committees with all of the power to conduct or authorize investigations into any matters within the scope of the mandate of the sub-committee, with full access to all books, records, facilities and personnel of the Company, its auditors and its legal advisors.

In the course of fulfilling its specific responsibilities hereunder, the Committee has authority to, and must, maintain free and open communication between the Company's independent auditor, Board and Company management. The responsibilities of a member of the Committee are in addition to such member's duties as a member of the Board.

While the Committee has the responsibilities and powers set forth in this charter, it is not the duty of the Committee to plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Company's financial statements are complete, accurate, and in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). This is the responsibility of management and the independent auditor. Nor is it the duty of the Committee to conduct investigations, to resolve disagreements, if any, between management and the independent auditor or to assure compliance with laws and regulations and the Company's Code of Ethics. Any responsibilities that the Committee has the power to act upon, may be recommended to the Board to act upon.

MEMBERSHIP

The membership of the Committee will be as follows:

The Committee shall consist of a minimum of three members of the Board, appointed from time to time, each of whom is affirmatively confirmed as independent by the Board in accordance with the definition of independence for audit committee members set out in Appendix I hereto, with such affirmation disclosed in the Company's Management Information Circular for its annual meeting of shareholders. All members of the Committee should be "financially literate", as defined in Appendix I, and at least one of the members shall be an "audit committee financial expert" as defined in Appendix I.

The Board will elect, by a majority vote, one member as chairperson. In the absence of the Chair of the Committee, the members shall appoint an acting Chair.

The members of the Committee shall meet all independence and financial literacy requirements of The TSX Venture Exchange, and the requirements of such other securities exchange or quotations system or regulatory agency as may from time to time apply to the Company.

Any member of the Committee may be removed and replaced at any time by the Board and will automatically cease to be a member of the Committee as soon as such member ceases to be a Director. The Board may fill vacancies in the Committee by election from among the members of the Board. If and whenever a vacancy exists on the Committee, the remaining members may exercise all its powers so long as a quorum remains in office.

A quorum shall be a majority of the members provided that if the number of members is an even number, one half of the number plus one shall constitute a quorum.

A member of the Committee may not, other than in his or her capacity as a member of the Committee, the Board, or any other Board committee, accept any consulting, advisory, or other compensatory fee from the Company, and may not be an affiliated person of the Company or any subsidiary thereof.

RESPONSIBILITIES

The responsibilities of the Committee shall be as follows:

Frequency of Meetings

Meet quarterly or more often as may be deemed necessary or appropriate in its judgment, either in person or telephonically.

The Committee will meet with the independent auditor at least annually, either in person or telephonically.

Reporting Responsibilities

Provide to the Board proper Committee minutes.

Report Committee actions to the Board with such recommendations as the Committee may deem appropriate.

Committee and Charter Evaluation

The Committee shall annually review, discuss and assess its own performance. In addition, the Committee shall periodically review its role and responsibilities.

Annually review and reassess the adequacy of this Charter and recommend any proposed changes to the Board for approval.

Whistleblower Mechanism

Adopt and review annually a procedure through which employees and others can confidentially and anonymously inform the Committee regarding any concerns about the Company's accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters. The procedure shall include responding to and the retention of, any such complaints.

Legal Responsibilities

Perform such functions as may be assigned by law, by the Company's certificate of incorporation, memorandum, articles or similar documents, or by the Board.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Nomination, Compensation and Evaluation

The Company's independent auditor is ultimately accountable to the Committee and the Board and shall report directly to the Committee. The Committee shall review the independence and performance of the auditor and annually recommend to the Board the appointment and compensation of the independent auditor or approve any discharge of auditor when circumstances warrant.

Review of Work

The Committee is directly responsibility for overseeing the work of the independent auditor engaged to prepare or issue an audit report or perform other audit, review or attest services for the Company, including the resolution of disagreements between management and the independent auditor regarding financial reporting.

Approval in Advance of Related Party Transactions

Pre-approval of all "related party transactions," which are transactions or loans between the Company and a related party involving goods, services, or tangible or intangible assets that are:

- (1) material to the Company or the related party; or
- (2) unusual in their nature or conditions.

A related party includes an affiliate, major shareholder, officer, other key management personnel or director of the Company, a company controlled by any of those parties or a family member of any of those parties.

Engagement Procedures for Audit and Non-Audit Services

Approve in advance all audit services to be provided by the independent auditor. Establish policies and procedures that establish a requirement for approval in advance of the engagement of the independent auditor to provide permitted non-audit services provided to the Company or its subsidiary entities and to prohibit the engagement of the independent auditor for any activities or services not permitted by any of the Canadian provincial securities commissions, the Securities Exchange Commission ("SEC") or any securities exchange on which the Company's shares are traded including any of the following non-audit services:

- Bookkeeping or other services related to accounting records or financial statements of the Company;
- Financial information systems design and implementation consulting services;
- Appraisal or valuation services, fairness opinions, or contributions-in-kind reports;
- Actuarial services;
- Internal audit outsourcing services;
- Any management or human resources function;
- Broker, dealer, investment advisor, or investment banking services;
- Legal services;
- Expert services related to the auditing service; and
- Any other service the Board determines is not permitted.

Hiring Practices

Review and approve the Company's hiring policy regarding the partners, employees and former partners and employees of the present and former independent auditor of the Company. Ensure that no individual who is, or in the past three years has been, affiliated with or employed by a present or former auditor of the Company or an affiliate, is hired by the Company as a senior officer until at least three years after the end of either the affiliation or the auditing relationship.

Independence Test

Take reasonable steps to confirm the independence of the independent auditor, which shall annually include:

- Ensuring receipt from the independent auditor of a formal written statement delineating all relationships between the independent auditor and the Company, consistent with the Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 and related Canadian regulatory body standards;
- Considering and discussing with the independent auditor any relationships or services provided to the Company, including non-audit services, that may impact the objectivity and independence of the independent auditor; and
- As necessary, taking, or recommending that the Board take, appropriate action to oversee the independence of the independent auditor and evaluate whether it is appropriate to rotate the independent auditor on a regular basis.

Audit and Finance Committee Meetings

Notify the independent auditor of every Committee meeting and permit the independent auditor to appear and speak at those meetings.

At the request of the independent auditor, convene a meeting of the Committee to consider matters the auditor believes should be brought to the attention of the directors or shareholders.

Keep minutes of its meetings and report to the Board for approval of any actions taken or recommendations made.

Restrictions

Confirm with management and the independent auditor that no restrictions are placed on the scope of the auditors' review and examination of the Company's accounts.

OTHER PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES

Engagement Review

As necessary, consider with management the rationale and selection criteria for engaging professional consulting services firms.

Ultimate authority and responsibility to select, evaluate and approve professional consulting services engagements.

AUDIT AND REVIEW PROCESS AND RESULTS

Scope

Consider, in consultation with the independent auditor, the audit scope, staffing and planning of the independent auditor.

Review Process and Results

Consider and review with the independent auditor the matters required to be discussed by such auditing standards as may be applicable.

Review and discuss with management and the independent auditor at the completion of annual and quarterly examinations, if any:

- The Company's audited and unaudited financial statements and related notes;
- The Company's Management Discussion & Analysis ("MD&A") and news releases related to financial results;
- The Company's management certifications of the financial statements and accompanying MD&A as required under applicable securities laws;
- The Company's annual information form ("AIF") if one is prepared and filed;
- The independent auditor's audit of the financial statements and its report thereon;
- Any significant changes required in the independent auditor's audit plan;
- The appropriateness of the presentation of any non-IFRS related financial information;
- Any serious difficulties or disputes with management encountered during the course of the audit; and
- Other matters related to the conduct of the audit, which are to be communicated to the Committee under generally accepted auditing standards.

Review the management letter, if any, delivered by the independent auditor in connection with the audit.

Following such review and discussion, if determined by the Committee, recommend to the Board that the annual financial statements be included in the Company's annual report.

Review and discuss with management and the independent auditor the adequacy of the Company's internal accounting and financial controls that management and the Board have established and the effectiveness of those systems and inquire of management and the independent auditor about significant financial risks or exposures and the steps management has taken to minimize such risks to the Company.

Meet separately with the independent auditor and management, as necessary or appropriate, to discuss any matters that the Committee or any of these groups believe should be discussed privately with the Committee.

Review and discuss with management and the independent auditor the accounting policies which may be viewed as critical, including all alternative treatments for financial information within IFRS that have been discussed with management, and review and discuss any significant changes in the accounting policies of the Company and industry accounting and regulatory financial reporting proposals that may have a significant impact on the Company's financial reports

Review with management and the independent auditor the effect of regulatory and accounting initiatives as well as off-balance sheet structures, if any, on the Company's financial statements.

Review with management and the independent auditor any correspondence with regulators or governmental agencies and any employee complaints or published reports which raise material issues regarding the Company's financial statements or accounting policies.

Review with the Company's legal counsel legal matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, the Company's financial compliance policies and any material reports or inquiries received from regulators or governmental agencies related to financial matters.

SECURITIES REGULATORY FILINGS

Review filings with the Canadian provincial securities commissions and the SEC and other published documents containing the Company's financial statements.

Review, with management, prior to public disclosure, the Company's financial statements and MD&A and related press releases. The chairperson of the Committee may represent the entire Committee for purposes of this review.

Ensure that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the Company's public disclosure of financial information extracted or derived from the Company's financial statements, other than the disclosure stated above, and periodically assess the adequacy of those procedures.

RISK ASSESSMENT

Meet periodically with management to review the Company's major financial risk exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures.

Assess risk areas and policies to manage risk including, without limitation, environmental risk, insurance coverage and other areas as determined by the Board from time to time.

Review and discuss with management, and approve changes to, the Company's Corporate Investment Policy.

LIMITATION ON DUTIES OF AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

In contributing to the Committee's discharging of its duties under this charter, each member of the Committee shall be obliged only to exercise the care, diligence, and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances. Nothing in this charter is intended, or may be construed, to impose on any member of the Committee a standard of care or diligence that is in any way more onerous or extensive than the standard to which all Board members are subject.

ADOPTION OF CHARTER

This charter was originally adopted by the Board on August 23, 2004 and revised on January 17, 2012.

APPENDIX I

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

"Independent" means a director who has no direct or indirect material relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries.

A "material relationship" is a relationship which could, in the view of the Board of the Company, be reasonably expected to interfere with the exercise of the person's independent judgment.

For greater certainty, certain individuals will be deemed not to be independent:

- a) an individual who is, or has been within the last three years, an employee or executive officer of the Company;
- b) an individual whose immediate family member is, or has been within the last three years, an executive officer of the Company;
- an individual who is a partner of, or employed by the Company's internal or external auditor or who was, within the last three years, a partner or
 employee of that audit firm and personally worked on the Company's audit within that time. For this purpose, "partner" does not include a fixed income
 partner;
- d) an individual whose child or stepchild shares a home with the individual or whose spouse, is a partner of the Company's internal or external auditor or is an employee of the audit firm and participates in its audit, assurance, or tax compliance practice or who was within the last three years a partner or employee of the audit firm and personally worked on the Company's audit within that time. For this purpose, "partner" does not include a fixed income partner;
- e) an individual who, or whose immediate family member, is or has been within the last three years, an executive officer of an entity if any of the Company's current executive officers serve or served at the same time on the entity's compensation committee; and
- f) an individual who received, or whose immediate family member who is employed as an executive officer of the Company received, more than \$75,000 in direct compensation from the Company during any 12 month period within the last three years. For purposes hereof, direct compensation does not include remuneration for acting as a member of the Board or of any Board committee or remuneration consisting of fixed amounts of compensation under a retirement plan for prior service provided that such compensation is not contingent on any way on continued service.

For purposes hereof, "Company" includes Medicure Inc. and any subsidiaries thereof.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a person will not be considered to have a material relationship with the Company solely because he or she:

- a) has previously acted as an interim chief executive officer of the issuer, or
- b) acts, or has previously acted, as a chair or vice-chair of the Board or any Board committee, on a part-time basis.

Meaning Of "Independence" For Audit Committees

In addition to the requirement of being an Independent Director as described above, members of the Audit Committee will not be considered "independent" for that purpose where the individual:

- a) accepts, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee from the Company or subsidiary of the Company, other than as remuneration for acting in his or her capacity as a member of the Board or any Board committee, or as a part-time or vice-chair of the Board or any Board Committee; or
- b) is an affiliated entity (as defined in National Instrument 52-110 Audit Committees) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

For purposes hereof, indirect acceptance by an individual of any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee includes acceptance of a fee by (i) an individual's spouse, minor child or stepchild, or child or stepchild who shares the individual's home, or (ii) an entity in which such individual is a partner, member, executive officer or managing director (or comparable position) and which provides accounting, consulting, legal, investment banking or financial advisory services to the Company or any subsidiary of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, compensatory fees do not include receipt of fixed amounts of compensation under a retirement plan (including deferred compensation) for prior service with the issuer if the compensation is not contingent in any way on continued service.

Meaning of "financially literate"

For purposes hereof, an individual is financially literate if he or she has the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company's financial statements.

Meaning of "audit committee financial expert"

An "audit committee financial expert" means a person who has the following attributes:

- (1) An understanding of generally accepted accounting principles and financial statements;
- (2) The ability to assess the general application of such principles in connection with the accounting for estimates, accruals and reserves;
- (3) Experience preparing, auditing, analyzing, or evaluating financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company's financial statements, or experience actively supervising one or more persons engaged in such activities;
- (4) An understanding of internal controls over financial reporting;
- (5) An understanding of audit committee functions.

A person shall have acquired such attributes through:

- (1) Education and experience as a principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller, public accountant or auditor or experience in one or more positions that involve the performance of similar functions;
- (2) Experience actively supervising a principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller, public accountant, auditor or person performing similar functions;
- (3) Experience overseeing or assessing the performance of companies or public accountants with respect to the preparation, auditing, or evaluation of financial statements; or
- (4) Other relevant experience.

Executive Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The Executive Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for determining the compensation of executive officers of the Company. The current members of the Committee are Dr. Arnold Naimark (Chair), Peter Quick and Brent Fawkes, none of whom is a current or former executive officer of the Company. The Committee meets at least once a year.

The Committee has developed a policy to govern the Company's approach to corporate governance issues and provides a forum for concerns of individual directors about matters not easily or readily discussed in a full board meeting, e.g., the performance of management. The Committee ensures there is a clear definition and separation of the responsibilities of the Board, the Committees of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer and other management employees. It also ensures there is a process in place for the orientation and education of new directors and for continuing education of the Board. The Committee also assesses the effectiveness of the Board and its committees on an ongoing ad hoc basis. It also reviews at least annually the Company's responsiveness to environmental impact, health and safety and other regulatory standards.

The Committee reviews the objectives, performance and compensation of the Chief Executive Officer annually and makes recommendations to the Board for change. The Committee makes recommendations based upon the Chief Executive Officer's suggestions regarding the salaries and incentive compensation for senior officers of the Company. The Committee also reviews significant changes to compensation, benefits and human resources policies and compliance with current human resource management practices, such as pay equity, performance review and staff development. The Committee is responsible for reviewing and recommending changes to the compensation of directors as necessary.

The charter of the Executive Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee can be found on the Company's website at www.medicure.com.

D. Employees

In addition to the individuals disclosed in Section A. Directors and Senior Management of this item, the Company has 23 employees through Medicure as at December 31, 2024. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company's total employment was consistent from the previous year. The Company's subsidiary, Medicure Pharma Inc. has one direct employee as at December 31, 2024, also consistent from the prior year. Additionally, Marley Drug has 16 direct employees as at December 31, 2024, consistent from the prior year.

E Share Ownership

The following table discloses the number of shares (each share possessing identical voting rights), stock options and percent of the shares outstanding held by the directors and officers of the Company, and their respective affiliates, directly and indirectly, at December 31, 2024.

Title of Class	Identity of Person or Group	Amount Owned	Percentage of Class
Common shares	Dr. Albert D. Friesen ⁽¹⁾	2,580,827(1)	24.73%
Common shares	Dr. Arnold Naimark	84,194	0.81%
Common shares	Peter Quick	73,150	0.70%
Common shares	Brent Fawkes	57,376	0.55%
Common shares	James Kinley	47,100	0.45%
Common shares	Dr. Neil Owens	6,400	0.06%
Common shares	Haaris Uddin	-	-
Common shares	Reuben Saba	-	-

⁽¹⁾ Dr. Albert D. Friesen holds 591,267 shares personally or in an RRSP, a Canadian individual retirement plan. The rest of the shares are held by ADF Family Holding Corp. ADF Enterprises Inc., his wife Mrs. Leona M. Friesen, and CentreStone Ventures Limited Partnership Fund. Dr. Friesen is the General Partner of CentreStone Ventures Limited Partnership Fund.

F. Disclosure of a registrant's action to recover erroneously awarded compensation

There was no erroneously awarded compensation that was required to be recovered pursuant to the Company's Clawback Policy during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

Incentive Stock Options

The Company has established an Incentive Stock Option Plan (the "Plan") for its directors, key officers, employees and consultants. Options granted pursuant to the Plan will not exceed a term of ten years and are granted at an option price and on other terms which the directors determine is necessary to achieve the goal of the Plan and in accordance with regulatory requirements, including those of the TSX Venture Exchange. Each option entitles the holder thereof to purchase one (1) Common Share of the Company on the terms set forth in the Plan and in such purchaser's specific stock option agreement. The option price may be at a discount to market price, which discount will not, in any event, exceed that permitted by any stock exchange on which the Company's Common Shares are listed for trading.

The number of Common Shares allocated to the Plan, the exercise period for the options, and the vesting provisions for the options will be determined by the board of directors of the Company from time to time. The Company's stock option plan allowed for the issuance of stock options to purchase up to a maximum of 20% of the outstanding common shares at the time of approval of the stock option plan, which resulted in a fixed number of stock options allowed to be granted totaling 2,934,403. The Plan was adopted by the shareholders of the Company on June 22, 2016.

The Common Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of options, when fully paid for by a participant, are not included in the calculation of Common Shares allocated to or within the Plan. Should a participant cease to be eligible due to the loss of corporate office (being that of an officer or director) or employment, the option shall cease for varying periods not exceeding 90 days. Loss of eligibility for consultants is regulated by specific rules imposed by the directors when the option is granted to the appropriate consultant. The Plan also provides that estates of deceased participants can exercise their options for a period not exceeding one year following death.

The following table discloses the stock options beneficially held by the directors and officers of the Company, and their respective affiliates, directly and indirectly, as of December 31, 2024. The stock options are subject to the Plan and are for shares of Common Stock of the Company.

Name of Person	Number of Shares Subject to Issuance	Exercise Price per Share	Expiry Date
Dr. Albert D. Friesen	9,000 175,000	\$1.90	March 27, 2025 February 1, 2033
Dr. Arnold Naimark	7,200 60,000		March 27, 2025 February 1, 2033
Peter Quick	7,200 60,000		March 27, 2025 February 1, 2033
Brent Fawkes	7,200 60,000		March 27, 2025 February 1, 2033
James Kinley	60,000	\$1.25	February 1, 2033
Dr. Neil Owens	1,350 40,000 150,000	\$1.10	March 27, 2025 July 30, 2026 February 1, 2033
Haaris Uddin	20,000 75,000		June 1, 2027 February 1, 2033
Reuben Saba	20,000 100,000		July 30, 2026 February 1, 2033

ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A. Major Shareholders

As of December 31, 2024, the following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of the Company's common shares by each person known by the Company to own beneficially more than 5% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company. Information as to shares beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by each nominee or over which each nominee exercises control or direction, not being within the knowledge of the Company, has been furnished by the respective nominees individually. The Company does not know the majority of the ultimate beneficial owners of these common shares.

Title of Class	Identity of Person or Group	Amount Owned	Percentage of Class
Common shares	Dr. Albert D. Friesen	2,580,827(1)	24.73%
Common shares	MM Asset Management		
	Inc.	2,410,567	23.10%

Notes:

(1) Dr. Albert Friesen holds 591,267 shares personally or in an RRSP. The rest of the shares are held by ADF Family Holding Corp., his wife Mrs. Leona M. Friesen, and CentreStone Ventures Limited Partnership Fund. Dr. Friesen is the General Partner of CentreStone Ventures Limited Partnership Fund.

To the best of the Company's knowledge, it is not owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by another Company, by any foreign government or by any other natural or legal person severally or jointly.

As of December 31, 2024, the total number of issued and outstanding common shares of the Company beneficially owned by the directors and executive officers of the Company as a group was 2,849,047 (or 27.30% of common shares).

To the best of the Company's knowledge, there are no arrangements, the operation of which at a subsequent date will result in a change in control of the Company.

The major shareholders do not have any special voting rights.

Insider Reports under Canadian Securities Legislation

Since the Company a reporting issuer under the Securities Acts of each of the provinces of Canada, certain "insiders" of the Company (including its directors, certain executive officers, and persons who directly or indirectly beneficially own, control or direct more than 10% of its common shares) are generally required to file insider reports of changes in their ownership of the Company's common shares five days following the trade under National Instrument 55-104 – *Insider Reporting Requirements and Exemptions*, as adopted by the Canadian Securities Administrators. Insider reports must be filed electronically five days following the date of the trade at www.sedi.ca. The public is able to access these reports at www.sedi.ca.

The U.S. rules governing the ownership threshold above which shareholder ownership must be disclosed are more stringent than those discussed above. Section 13 of the Exchange Act imposes reporting requirements on persons who acquire beneficial ownership (as such term is defined in the Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) of more than 5 per cent of a class of an equity security registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act. In general, such persons must file, within 10 days after such acquisition, a report of beneficial ownership with the Securities and Exchange Commission containing the information prescribed by the regulations under Section 13 of the Exchange Act. This information is also required to be sent to the issuer of the securities and to each exchange where the securities are traded.

B. Related Party Transactions

Except as disclosed below, the Company has not, since January 1, 2015, and does not at this time propose to:

- enter into any transactions which are material to the Company or a related party or any transactions unusual in their nature or conditions involving goods, services or tangible or intangible assets to which the Company or any of its former subsidiaries was a party;
- (2) make any loans or guarantees directly or through any of its former subsidiaries to or for the benefit of any of the following persons:
 - (a) enterprises directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controlling or controlled by or under common control with the Company;
 - (b) associates of the Company (unconsolidated enterprises in which the Company has significant influence or which has significant influence over the Company) including shareholders beneficially owning 10% or more of the outstanding shares of the Company;
 - (c) individuals owning, directly or indirectly, shares of the Company that gives them significant influence over the Company and close members of such individuals families:
 - (d) key management personnel (persons having authority in responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company including directors and senior management and close members of such directors and senior management); or
 - (e) enterprises in which a substantial voting interest is owned, directly or indirectly, by any person described in (c) or (d) or over which such a person is able to exercise significant influence.

Effective October 1, 2021, the Company signed a consulting agreement with its Chief Executive Officer, through ADF Family Holding Corp., a company owned by the Chief Executive Officer, for a term of 36 months, at a rate of \$18,000 per month, increasing to \$22,000 per month effective January 1, 2024. The aforementioned monthly fee shall be reviewed annually on January 1 by the Board of Directors of the Company for each succeeding year during the term of the agreement and may be adjusted at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors. The Company may terminate the agreement at any time upon 120 days' written notice. As at December 31, 2024, there are no outstanding amounts (2023 - nil) payable to ADF Family Holding Corp. as a result of this consulting agreement.

Effective June 1, 2022, the Company signed a consulting agreement with its Chief Financial Officer, through 10055098 Manitoba Ltd., a company owned by the Chief Financial Officer. Effective March 1, 2023, the rate was changed to \$10,000 per month, increasing to \$11,000 per month effective January 1, 2024, and subsequently increasing to \$13,000 per month effective May 01, 2024. The aforementioned fee shall be reviewed annually on January 1. The Company can terminate the agreement with 30 days' written notice; otherwise, the agreement has an indefinite term. As at December 31, 2024, there were no amounts payable to 10055098 Manitoba Ltd. (December 31, 2023 - nil).

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company paid GVI-CDS, a company controlled by the Chief Executive Officer, a total of \$85,000 (2023 – \$85,000) for business administration services, \$222,000 (2023 – \$222,000) in rental costs, \$44,000 (2023 – \$36,000) for information technology support services, and \$439,000 (2023 – \$318,000) for clinical research services. The business administration services summarized above are provided to the Company through a consulting agreement with GVI-CDS

Research and development services are provided through a consulting agreement with CanAm Bioresearch Inc. ("CanAm"), a company controlled by the Chief Executive Officer. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company paid CanAm \$5,000 (2023 – \$7,000) for research and development services.

On June 24, 2024, the Company announced that it had signed an asset purchase agreement with CanAm for the acquisition of the patent and intellectual property related to all of the assets of CanAm as they relate to the business of developing pyridoxal 5'-phosphate analogues ("P5P Analogues"). In exchange for these assets, Medicure is to provide consideration of \$100,000 upon closing of the transaction, which is subject to regulatory approval, in addition to \$500,000 upon the Company filing its first investigational new drug application, \$250,000 upon the Company filing its first New Drug Application and \$500,000 the Company obtaining NDA approval for the P5P Analogues. In addition, Medicure shall pay to CanAm 10% of net proceeds received with respect to transactions relating to the Assets, including: (i) the sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the Assets to a third party purchaser who is not an affiliate of Medicure; (ii) any license to develop, commercialize, use, offer for sale, sell, import, export or exploit P5P Analogues up to a maximum value payable to CanAm of \$20,000,000 and (iii) the sale of an United State Food and Drug Administration priority review voucher obtained in connection with the development of P5P Analogues.

As at December 31, 2024, the Company has paid CanAm \$100,000 in consideration, as part of the closing of the transaction, consistent with the terms of the agreement. The Company has recorded a corresponding intangible asset in relation to this payment.

These transactions have been measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

As at December 31, 2024, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is \$32,000 (2023 - \$57,000) payable to GVI-CDS.

C. Interests of Experts and Counsel

Not applicable

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A. Consolidated Statements or Other Financial Information

financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, as issued by the IASB, and are included under Item 18 of this Annual Report. The consolidated financial statements including related notes are accompanied by the report of the Company's independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP (PCAOB ID: 1263) as at and for the years ended December 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Legal Proceedings

There are currently no claims outstanding against the Company.

Dividend Policy

The Company has not paid dividends in the past and it has no present intention of paying dividends on its shares as it anticipates that all available funds will be invested to finance the growth of its business. The directors of the Company will determine if and when dividends should be declared and paid in the future based upon the Company's financial position at the relevant time. All of the Company's Shares are entitled to an equal share of any dividends declared and paid.

B. Significant Changes

Not applicable.

ITEM 9. THE OFFERING AND LISTING

A. Listing Details

On October 24, 2011, the Company's common shares commenced trading on the TSX-Vunder the symbol "MPH".

B. Plan of Distribution

Not applicable.

C. Markets

The Company's common shares are listed for trading on the TSX-Vunder the symbol "MPH". Certain market makers also trade the Company's common shares on the OTC Pink Market, under the symbol "MCUJF".

D. Selling Shareholders

Not applicable.

E. Dilution

Not applicable.

F. Expenses of the Issue

Not applicable.

ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

A. Share Capital

Not applicable

B. Memorandum and Articles of Association

1. Objects and Purposes of the Company

The Articles of Continuance (as amended, the "Articles") and the By-Laws of the Company place no restrictions upon the Company's objects and purposes.

2. Directors

Under applicable Canadian law, the directors and officers of the Company, in exercising their powers and discharging their duties, must act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company. The directors and officers must also exercise the care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances.

Section 4.18 of By-Law No.1A of the Company (the "By-Law") provides that a director shall not be disqualified by reason of his office from contracting with the Company or a subsidiary thereof. Subject to the provisions of the *Canada Business Corporations Act* (the "Act"), a director shall not by reason only of his office be accountable to the Company or its shareholders for any profit or gain realized from a contract or transaction in which he has an interest. Such contract or transaction shall not be voidable by reason only of such interest, or by reason only of the presence of a director so interested at a meeting, or by reason only of his presence being counted in determining a quorum at a meeting of the directors at which such a contract or transaction is approved, provided that a declaration and disclosure of such interest shall have been made at the time and in the manner prescribed by section 120 of the Act, and the director so interested shall have refrained from voting as a director on the resolution approving the contract or transaction (except as permitted by the Act) and such contract shall have been reasonable and fair to the Company and shall have been approved by the directors or shareholders of the Company as required by section 120 of the Act.

The Company's Articles provide that the Company's board shall consist of a minimum of one and a maximum of 15 directors. The exact number of directors to form the board, between the minimum and maximum number of directors prescribed by the Articles, is determined from time to time by the board. Section 4.01 of the By-Law states that the quorum of the board shall be a majority of the board, or such other number of directors as the board may from time to time determine. No business shall be transacted at a meeting unless a quorum is present.

Section 3.01 of the By-Law states that the board may, without the authorization of the shareholders:

- i) borrow money upon the credit of the Company;
- ii) issue, reissue, sell or pledge debt obligations of the Company, including bonds, debentures, notes or other evidences of indebtedness or guarantees, whether secured or unsecured:
- iii) subject to section 44 of the Act, give a guarantee on behalf of the Company to secure performance of any present or future indebtedness, liability or obligation of any person; and
- iv) mortgage, hypothecate, pledge or otherwise create a security interest in all or any property of the Company, owned or subsequently acquired, to secure any obligation of the Company.

The borrowing powers of the directors can be varied by amending the By-Law of the Company.

There is no provision in the By-Law imposing a requirement for retirement or non-retirement of directors under an age limit requirement.

Section 4.02 of the By-law states that a director need not be a shareholder to be qualified as a director. However, section 4.02 also provides that at least 25% of the directors shall be resident Canadians unless the Company has less than four directors, in which case at least one director must be a resident Canadian.

Under section 4.03 of the By-law, directors are to be elected yearly by ordinary resolution to hold office until the close of the next annual meeting of shareholder. If directors fail to be elected at any such meeting of shareholders, then the incumbent directors continue in office until their successors are elected.

3. Shares

The Articles of the Company provide that the Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of shares designated as Common Shares, Class A Common Shares and Preferred Shares. Except for meetings at which only holders of another specified class or series of shares of the Company are entitled to vote separately as a class or series, each holder of the Common and Class A shares is entitled to receive notice of, to attend and to vote at all meetings of the shareholders of the Company. Subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to any other class of shares of the Company, the holders of the Common and Class A shares are also entitled to receive dividends if, as and when declared by the directors of the Company and are entitled to share equally in the remaining property of the Company upon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company.

The Preferred Shares may from time to time be issued in one or more series and, subject to the following provisions, and subject to the sending of articles of amendment in respect thereof, the directors may fix from time to time and before issue a series of Preferred Shares, the number of shares which are to comprise that series and the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions to be attached to that series of Preferred Shares including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the rate or amount of dividends or the method of calculating dividends, the dates of payment of dividends, the redemption, purchase and/or conversion, and any sinking fund or other provisions.

The Preferred Shares of each series shall, with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets or return of capital in the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any other return of capital or distribution of the assets of the Company among its shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, rank on a parity with the Preferred Shares of every other series and be entitled to preference over the Common and Class A Common Shares and over any other shares of the Company ranking junior to the Preferred Shares. The Preferred Shares of any series may also be given other preferences, not inconsistent with these articles, over the Common Shares and Class A Common Shares and any other shares of the Company ranking junior to the Preferred Shares of a series as may be fixed in accordance with terms outlined above.

If any cumulative dividends or amounts payable on the return of capital in respect of a series of Preferred Shares are not paid in full, all series of Preferred Shares shall participate rateably in respect of accumulated dividends and return of capital.

Unless the directors otherwise determine in the articles of amendment designating a series of Preferred Shares, the holder of each share or a series of Preferred Shares shall not, as such, be entitled to receive notice of or vote at any meeting of shareholders, except as otherwise specifically provided in the Act.

4. Rights of Shareholders

Under the Act, shareholders of the Company are entitled to examine, during its usual business hours, the Company's articles and by-laws, notices of directors and change of directors, any unanimous shareholder agreements, the minutes of meetings and resolutions of shareholders and the list of shareholders.

Shareholders of the Company may obtain a list of shareholders upon payment of a reasonable fee and sending an affidavit to the Company or its transfer agent stating, among other things, that the list of shareholders will not be used by any person except in connection with an effort to influence the voting of shareholders of the Company, an offer to acquire shares of the Company or any other matter relating to the affairs of the Company.

Under the Act, shareholders of the Company may apply to a court having jurisdiction directing an investigation to be made of the Company. If it appears to the court that the formation, business or affairs of the Company were conducted for fraudulent or unlawful purposes, or that the powers of the directors were exercised in a manner that is oppressive or unfairly disregards the interests of the shareholders, the court may order an investigation to be made of the Company.

To change the rights of holders of stock, where such rights are attached to an issued class or series of shares, requires the consent by a separate resolution of the holders of the class or series of shares, as the case may be, requiring a majority of two-thirds of the votes cast.

The Company is organized under the laws of Canada. The majority of the Company's directors, officers, and affiliates of the Company, as well as the experts named in this registration statement, are residents of Canada and, to the best of the Company's knowledge, all or a substantial portion of their assets and all of the Company's assets are located outside of the United States. As a result, it may be difficult for shareholders of the Company in the United States to effect service of process on the Company or these persons above within the United States, or to realize in the United States upon judgments rendered against the Company or such persons. Additionally, a shareholder of the Company should not assume that the courts of Canada (i) would enforce judgments of U.S. courts obtained in actions against the Company or such persons predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws or other laws of the United States.

Laws in the United States and judgments of U.S. courts would generally be enforced by a court of Canada unless such laws or judgments are contrary to public policy in Canada, are or arise from foreign penal laws or laws that deal with taxation or the taking of property by a foreign government and are not in compliance with applicable laws in Canada regarding the limitation of actions. Further, a judgment obtained in a U.S. court would generally be recognized by a court of Canada, except under the following examples:

- i) the judgment was rendered in a U.S. court that had no jurisdiction according to applicable laws in Canada;
- ii) the judgment was subject to ordinary remedy (appeal, judicial review and any other judicial proceeding which renders the judgment not final, conclusive or enforceable under the laws of the applicable state) or not final, conclusive or enforceable under the laws of the applicable state;
- iii) the judgment was obtained by fraud or in any manner contrary to natural justice or rendered in contravention of fundamental principles of procedure; and
- iv) a dispute between the same parties, based on the same subject matter has given rise to a judgment rendered in a court of Canada or has been decided in a third country and the judgment meets the necessary conditions for recognition in a court of Canada.

Subject to the provisions of the Act, the annual general meeting of the shareholders shall be on such date in each year as the board of directors may determine, and a special meeting of the shareholders may be convened at any time by order of the President or by the board on their own motion or on the requisition of shareholders as provided for in the Act. Notice of the time and place of each meeting of shareholders shall be given not less than 21 days nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting to each director and shareholder. A meeting of shareholders may be held without notice at any time and at any place provided a waiver of notice is obtained in accordance with section 136 of the Act. The quorum for the transaction of business at meetings of the shareholders shall consist of not less than two shareholders present or represented by proxy and holding in all not less than 10% percent of the outstanding shares entitled to vote at the meeting. At any meeting of shareholders, every person shall be entitled to vote who, at the time of the taking of a vote (or, if there is a record date for voting, at the close of business on such record date) is entered in the register of shareholders as the holder of one or more shares carrying the right to vote at such meeting, subject to the provisions of the Act.

6. Ownership of Securities

There are no limitations imposed by the Act, or by the Articles or By-Law or any other constituent document of the Company on the right of non-resident or foreign shareholders to own or vote securities of the Company. However, the Investment Canada Act (Canada) will prohibit implementation, or if necessary, require divestiture of an investment deemed "reviewable" under the *Investment Canada Act* (Canada) by an investor that is not a "Canadian" as defined in the *Investment Canada Act* (Canada), unless after review the Minister responsible for the *Investment Canada Act* (Canada) is satisfied that the "reviewable" investment is likely to be of net benefit to Canada.

The following discussion summarizes the principal features of the Investment Canada Act for a non-Canadian who proposes to acquire common shares of the Company. The discussion is general only; it is not a substitute for independent legal advice from an investor's own adviser; and, except where expressly noted, it does not anticipate statutory or regulatory amendments.

The Investment Canada Act is a federal statute of broad application regulating the establishment and acquisition of Canadian businesses by non-Canadians, including individuals, governments or agencies thereof, corporations, partnerships, trusts or joint ventures, Investments by non-Canadians to acquire control over existing Canadian businesses or to establish new ones are either reviewable or notifiable under the Investment Canada Act. If an investment by a non-Canadian to acquire control over an existing Canadian business is reviewable under the Investment Canada Act, the Investment Canada Act generally prohibits implementation of the investment unless, after review, the Minister of Industry is satisfied that the investment is likely to be of net benefit to Canada.

An investment in the Company's common shares by a non-Canadian, who is not a resident of a World Trade Organization ("WTO") member, would be reviewable under the *Investment Canada Act* (Canada) if it was an investment to acquire control of the Company and the value of the assets of the Company was CAN \$5 million or more. An investment in common shares of the Company by a resident of a WTO member would be reviewable only if it was an investment to acquire control of the Company and the enterprise value of the assets of the Company was equal to or greater than a specified amount, which is published by the Minister after its determination for any particular year. This amount is currently CAN \$1 billion (unless the WTO member is party to one of a list of certain free trade agreements, in which case the amount is currently CAN \$1.5 billion); beginning January 1, 2019, both thresholds will be adjusted annually by a GDP (Gross Domestic Product) based index.

A non-Canadian would be deemed to acquire control of the Company for the purposes of the Investment Canada Act if the non-Canadian acquired a majority of the outstanding common shares (or less than a majority but controlled the Company in fact through the ownership of one-third or more of the outstanding common shares) unless it could be established that, on the acquisition, the Company is not controlled in fact by the acquirer through the ownership of such common shares. Certain transactions in relation to the Company's common shares would be exempt from review under the Investment Canada Act, including, among others, the following:

- a) the acquisition of voting shares or other voting interests by any person in the ordinary course of that person's business as a trader or dealer in securities;
- ii) the acquisition of control of the Company in connection with the realization of security granted for a loan or other financial assistance and not for any purpose related to the provisions of the Investment Canada Act (Canada), if the acquisition is subject to approval under the Bank Act (Canada), the Cooperative Credit Associations Act (Canada), the Insurance Companies Act (Canada) or the Trust and Loan Companies Act (Canada); and
- iii) the acquisition of control of the Company by reason of an amalgamation, merger, consolidation or corporate reorganization following which the ultimate direct or indirect control of the Company, through the ownership of voting interests, remains unchanged.

7. Change in Control of Company

No provision of the Company's Articles or By-Law would have the effect of delaying, deferring, or preventing a change in control of the Company, and operate only with respect to a merger, acquisition or corporate restructuring of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. The Company no longer has a shareholder rights plan.

C. Material Contracts

Not applicable

D. Exchange Controls

There is no law or governmental decree or regulation in Canada that restricts the export or import of capital, or affects the remittance of dividends, interest or other payments to a non-resident holder of Common Shares, other than withholding tax requirements. Any such remittances to United States residents are generally subject to withholding tax, however no such remittances are likely in the foreseeable future. (See "Item 10E - Taxation", below.)

Except as provided in the Investment Canada Act (Canada), which has rules regarding certain acquisitions of shares by non-residents, there is no limitation imposed by Canadian law, or by the Company's Articles or By-Law, or by any other constituent documents of the Company, on the right of a non-resident to hold or vote the Company's common shares. Investment Canada Act is a Canadian federal statute of broad application regulating the establishment and acquisition of Canadian businesses by non-Canadians, including individuals, governments or agencies thereof, corporations, partnerships, trusts or joint ventures. Investments by non-Canadians to acquire control over existing Canadian businesses or to establish new ones are either reviewable or notifiable under the Investment Canada Act. If an investment by a non-Canadian to acquire control over an existing Canadian business is reviewable under the Investment Canada Act, the Investment Canada Act generally prohibits implementation of the investment unless, after review, the Minister of Industry is satisfied that the investment is likely to be of net benefit to Canada.

E. Taxation

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following is a summary of the anticipated material U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to a U.S. Holder (as defined below) arising from and relating to the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of the Company's common shares ("Common Shares").

This summary is for general information purposes only and does not purport to be a complete analysis or listing of all potential U.S. federal income tax considerations that may apply to a U.S. Holder as a result of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of Common Shares. In addition, this summary does not take into account the individual facts and circumstances of any particular U.S. Holder that may affect the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of Common Shares for such U.S. Holder. Accordingly, this summary is not intended to be, and should not be construed as, legal or U.S. federal income tax advice with respect to any particular U.S. Holder. Except as specifically set forth below, this summary does not discuss applicable tax reporting requirements. Each U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal, U.S. state and local, and non-U.S. tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of Common Shares.

No opinion from U.S. legal counsel or ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") has been requested, or will be obtained, regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of Common Shares. This summary is not binding on the IRS, and the IRS is not precluded from taking a position that is different from, or contrary to, any position taken in this summary. In addition, because the authorities upon which this summary is based are subject to various interpretations, the IRS and the U.S. courts could disagree with one or more of the positions taken in this summary.

Scope of this Summary

<u>Authorities</u>

This summary is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), Treasury Regulations (whether final, temporary, or proposed), published rulings of the IRS, published administrative positions of the IRS, the Convention Between Canada and the United States of America with Respect to Taxes on Income and on Capital, signed September 26, 1980, as amended (the "Canada-U.S. Tax Convention"), and U.S. court decisions that are applicable and, in each case, as in effect and available, as of the date of this Annual Report. Any of the authorities on which this summary is based could be changed in a material and adverse manner at any time, and any such change could be applied on a retroactive basis, which could affect the U.S. federal income tax consequences described in this summary. This summary does not discuss the potential effects, whether adverse or beneficial, of any proposed legislation that, if enacted, could be applied on a retroactive basis.

U.S. Holders

For purposes of this summary, a "U.S. Holder" is a beneficial owner of Common Shares that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, is (a) an individual who is a citizen or resident of the U.S., (b) a corporation, or any other entity classified as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, that is created or organized in or under the laws of the U.S., any state in the U.S., or the District of Columbia, (c) an estate if the income of such estate is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of the source of such income, or (d) a trust if (i) such trust has validly elected to be treated as a U.S. person for U.S. federal income tax purposes or (ii) a U.S. court is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of such trust and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of such trust.

Non-U.S. Holders

For purposes of this summary, a "non-U.S. Holder" is a beneficial owner of Common Shares other than a U.S. Holder. This summary does not address the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of Common Shares to non-U.S. Holders. Accordingly, a non-U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal, U.S. state and local, and non-U.S. tax consequences (including the potential application of and operation of any tax treaties) of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of Common Shares.

U.S. Holders Subject to Special U.S. Federal Income Tax Rules Not Addressed

This summary does not address the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of Common Shares to U.S. Holders that are subject to special provisions under the Code, including the following U.S. Holders: (a) U.S. Holders that are tax-exempt organizations, qualified retirement plans, individual retirement accounts, or other tax-deferred accounts; (b) U.S. Holders that are financial institutions, underwriters, insurance companies, real estate investment trusts, or regulated investment companies; (c) U.S. Holders that are dealers in securities or currencies or U.S. Holders that are traders in securities or currencies that elect to apply a mark-to-market accounting method; (d) U.S. Holders that have a "functional currency" other than the U.S. dollar; (e) U.S. Holders that are liable for the alternative minimum tax under the Code; (f) U.S. Holders that own Common Shares as part of a straddle, hedging transaction, conversion transaction, constructive sale, or other arrangement involving more than one position; (g) U.S. Holders that are subject to Section 451(b) of the Code; (h) U.S. Holders that acquired Common Shares in connection with the exercise of employee stock options or otherwise as compensation for services; (i) U.S. Holders that hold Common Shares other than as capital assets within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code (generally, property held for investment purposes); (j) U.S. Holders who are U.S. expatriates or former long-term residents of the United States; (k) U.S. Holders that own (directly, indirectly, or by attribution) 10% or more of the total combined voting power or value of the outstanding shares of the Company; or (l) corporations that accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax. U.S. Holders that are subject to special provisions under the Code, including U.S. Holders described immediately above, should consult their own tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal, U.S. state and local, and non-U.S. tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership

If an entity that is classified as a partnership (or other "pass-through" entity) for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds Common Shares, the U.S. federal income tax consequences to such partnership (or other "pass-through" entity) and the partners of such partnership (or owners of such other "pass-through" entity) generally will depend on the activities of the partnership (or other "pass-through" entity) and the status of such partners (or owners). This summary does not address the U.S. federal income tax consequences for any such partner or partnership (or other "pass-through" entity or owner). Partners of entities that are classified as partnerships (or owners of other "pass-through" entities) for U.S. federal income tax purposes should consult their own tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of Common Shares.

Tax Consequences Other than U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences Not Addressed

This summary does not address the U.S. state and local, U.S. federal estate and gift, U.S. Medicare contribution, or non-U.S. tax consequences to U.S. Holders of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of Common Shares. Each U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor regarding the U.S. state and local, U.S. federal estate and gift, U.S. Medicare contribution, and non-U.S. tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of Common Shares. (See "Taxation—Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations for U.S. Residents" below).

U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Acquisition, Ownership, and Disposition of Common Shares

Distributions on Common Shares

General Taxation of Distributions

Subject to the "passive foreign investment company" rules discussed below, a U.S. Holder that receives a distribution, including a constructive distribution, with respect to Common Shares will be required to include the amount of such distribution in gross income as a dividend (without reduction for any Canadian income tax withheld from such distribution) to the extent of the current or accumulated "earnings and profits" of the Company, as computed for U.S. federal income tax purposes. To the extent that a distribution exceeds the current and accumulated "earnings and profits" of the Company, such distribution will be treated (a) first, as a tax-free return of capital to the extent of a U.S. Holder's tax basis in the Common Shares, and (b) thereafter, as gain from the sale or exchange of such Common Shares. (See more detailed discussion at "Disposition of Common Shares" below). The Company may not maintain calculations of earnings and profits in accordance with U.S. federal income tax principles, and each U.S. Holder should therefore assume that any distribution by the Company with respect to Common Shares will constitute a dividend

Reduced Tax Rates for Certain Dividends

A dividend paid by the Company generally will be taxed at the preferential tax rates applicable to long-term capital gains if (a) the Company is a "qualified foreign corporation" (as defined below), (b) the U.S. Holder receiving such dividend is an individual, estate, or trust, and (c) such dividend is paid on Common Shares that have been held by such U.S. Holder for at least 61 days during the 121-day period beginning 60 days before the "ex-dividend date." The Company generally will be a "qualified foreign corporation" under Section 1(h)(11) of the Code (a "QFC") if (a) the Company is eligible for the benefits of the Canada-U.S. Tax Convention, or (b) Common Shares are readily tradable on an established securities market in the U.S.

However, even if the Company satisfies one or more of such requirements, the Company will not be treated as a QFC if the Company is a "passive foreign investment company," or "PFIC" (as defined below) for the taxable year during which the Company pays a dividend or for the preceding taxable year.

As discussed below, the Company does not believe that it was a PFIC for the taxable year ended December 31, 2024, and does not expect that it will be a PFIC for the taxable year ending December 31, 2025. (See more detailed discussion at "Additional Rules that May Apply to U.S. Holders" below). However, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not challenge the determination made by the Company concerning its PFIC status or that the Company will not be a PFIC for the current taxable year or any subsequent taxable year.

Accordingly, although the Company expects that it may be a QFC for the taxable year ending December 31, 2024, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not challenge the determination made by the Company concerning its QFC status, or that the Company will be a QFC for the taxable year ending December 31, 2025, or any subsequent taxable year.

If the Company is not a QFC, subject to the PFIC rules discussed below, a dividend paid by the Company to a U.S. Holder, including a U.S. Holder that is an individual, estate, or trust, generally will be taxed at ordinary income tax rates (and not at the preferential tax rates applicable to long-term capital gains). The dividend rules are complex, and each U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor regarding the dividend rules.

Distributions Paid in Foreign Currency

The amount of a distribution paid to a U.S. Holder in foreign currency generally will be equal to the U.S. dollar value of such distribution based on the exchange rate applicable on the date of receipt. A U.S. Holder that does not convert foreign currency received as a distribution into U.S. dollars on the date of receipt generally will have a tax basis in such foreign currency equal to the U.S. dollar value of such foreign currency on the date of receipt. Such a U.S. Holder generally will recognize ordinary income or loss on the subsequent sale or other taxable disposition of such foreign currency (including an exchange for U.S. dollars).

Dividends Received Deduction

Dividends paid on Common Shares generally will not be eligible for the "dividends received deduction." The availability of the dividends received deduction is subject to complex limitations that are beyond the scope of this discussion, and a U.S. Holder that is a corporation should consult its own tax advisor regarding the dividends received deduction.

Disposition of Common Shares

Subject to the PFIC rules discussed below, a U.S. Holder will recognize capital gain or loss on the sale or other taxable disposition of Common Shares in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between (a) the amount of cash plus the fair market value of any property received and (b) such U.S. Holder's tax basis in the Common Shares sold or otherwise disposed of. A U.S. Holder's tax basis in Common Shares generally will be such U.S. Holder's U.S. dollar cost for such Common Shares. Such gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss if the Common Shares have been held for more than one year at the time of sale or other taxable disposition. Cain or loss recognized by a U.S. Holder on the sale or other taxable disposition of Common Shares generally will be treated as "U.S. source" for purposes of applying the U.S. foreign tax credit rules.

Preferential tax rates apply to long-term capital gains of a U.S. Holder that is an individual, estate, or trust. There are currently no preferential tax rates for long-term capital gains of a U.S. Holder that is a corporation. Deductions for capital losses are subject to significant limitations under the Code.

The amount realized on a sale or other taxable disposition of Common Shares for an amount in foreign currency will generally be the U.S. dollar value of this amount on the date of sale or disposition. On the settlement date, the U.S. Holder will recognize U.S. source foreign currency gain or loss (taxable as ordinary income or loss) equal to the difference (if any) between the U.S. dollar value of the amount received based on the exchange rates in effect on the date of sale or other disposition and the settlement date.

Foreign Tax Credit

A U.S. Holder that pays (whether directly or through withholding) Canadian income tax with respect to dividends paid on Common Shares or gain from the sale or other taxable disposition of Common Shares generally will be entitled, at the election of such U.S. Holder, to receive either a deduction or a credit for such Canadian income tax paid. Generally, a credit will reduce a U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability on a dollar-for-dollar basis, whereas a deduction will reduce a U.S. Holder's income subject to U.S. federal income tax. This election is made on a year-by-year basis and applies to all foreign taxes paid (whether directly or through withholding) by a U.S. Holder during a year.

Complex limitations apply to the foreign tax credit, including the general limitation that the credit cannot exceed the proportionate share of a U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability that such U.S. Holder's "foreign source" taxable income bears to such U.S. Holder's worldwide taxable income. In applying this limitation, a U.S. Holder's various items of income and deduction must be classified, under complex rules, as either "foreign source" or "U.S. source." In addition, this limitation is calculated separately with respect to specific categories of income. Dividends paid by the Company generally will constitute "foreign source" income and generally will be categorized as "passive income." The foreign tax credit rules are complex, and each U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor regarding the foreign tax credit rules.

Information Reporting; Backup Withholding Tax

Payments made within the U.S., or by a U.S. payor or U.S. middleman, of distributions with respect to, or proceeds arising from the sale or other taxable disposition of, Common Shares generally will be subject to information reporting and backup withholding tax, at the rate of 24%, if a U.S. Holder (a) fails to furnish such U.S. Holder's correct U.S. taxpayer identification number (generally on IRS Form W-9), (b) furnishes an incorrect U.S. taxpayer identification number, (c) is notified by the IRS that such U.S. Holder has previously failed to properly report items subject to backup withholding tax, or (d) fails to certify, under penalty of perjury, that such U.S. Holder has furnished its correct U.S. taxpayer identification number and that the IRS has not notified such U.S. Holder that it is subject to backup withholding tax. However, U.S. Holders that are corporations generally are excluded from these information reporting and backup withholding tax rules. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the U.S. backup withholding tax rules will be allowed as a credit against a U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability, if any, or will be refunded, if such U.S. Holder furnishes required information to the IRS in a timely manner. Each U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor regarding the information reporting and backup withholding tax rules.

Additional Rules that May Apply to U.S. Holders

The Company believes it was a PFIC in one or more previous taxable years. If the Company is or becomes a PFIC, or U.S. Holders held Common Shares while the Company was a PFIC, the preceding sections of this summary may not describe the U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. Holders of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of Common Shares.

Passive Foreign Investment Company

The Company generally will be a PFIC if, for a taxable year, (a) 75% or more of the gross income of the Company for such taxable year is passive income ("income test") or (b) on average for such taxable year, 50% or more of the assets held by the Company either produce passive income or are held for the production of passive income ("asset test"), based on the fair market value of such assets. Passive income includes, for example, dividends, interest, certain rents and royalties, certain gains from the sale of stock and securities, and certain gains from commodities transactions. Passive income does not include any interest, dividends, rents, or royalties that are received or accrued by the Company from a "related person" (as defined in Section 954(d)(3) of the Code), to the extent such items are properly allocable to the income of such related person that is not passive income. Assets that produce or are held for the production of passive income generally include cash, even if held as working capital or raised in a public offering, marketable securities and other assets that may produce passive income.

For purposes of the income test and asset test, if the Company owns, directly or indirectly, 25% or more of the total value of the outstanding shares of another corporation, the Company will be treated as if it (a) held a proportionate share of the assets of such other corporation and (b) received directly a proportionate share of the income of such other corporation. , In addition, if the Company is a PFIC and owns shares of another foreign corporation that also is a PFIC ("subsidiary PFIC"), a disposition of the shares of such other foreign corporation or a distribution received from such other foreign corporation generally will be treated as an indirect disposition by a U.S. Holder or an indirect distribution received by a U.S. Holder, subject to the rules of Section 1291 of the Code discussed below. Accordingly, U.S. Holders should be aware that they could be subject to tax even if no distributions are received and no redemptions or other dispositions of Common Shares are made. To the extent that gain recognized on the actual disposition by a U.S. Holder of Common Shares or income recognized by a U.S. Holder on an actual distribution received on Common Shares was previously subject to U.S. federal income tax under these indirect ownership rules, such amount generally should not be subject to U.S. federal income tax.

If the Company is a PFIC, or a U.S. Holder held Common Shares while the Company was a PFIC, the U.S. federal income tax consequences to a U.S. Holder of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of Common Shares will depend on whether such U.S. Holder makes an election to treat the Company and any subsidiary PFIC as a "qualified electing fund" or "QEF" under Section 1295 of the Code (a "QEF Election") or a mark-to-market election for the Company under Section 1296 of the Code (a "Mark-to-Market Election"). A U.S. Holder that does not make either a QEF Election or a Mark-to-Market Election is referred to in this summary as a "Non-Electing U.S. Holder."

Under Section 1291 of the Code, any gain recognized on the sale or other taxable disposition of Common Shares, and any "excess distribution" (as defined in Section 1291(b) of the Code) paid on the Common Shares, must be ratably allocated to each day in a Non-Electing U.S. Holder's holding period for the Common Shares. The amount of any such gain or excess distribution allocated to the current year and any year prior to the first year in which the Company was a PFIC generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax as ordinary income in the current year. The amount of any such gain or excess distribution allocated to other years generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax in the current year at the highest tax rate applicable to ordinary income in each such prior year, and a Non-Electing U.S. Holder will be required to pay interest on the resulting tax liability for each such prior year, calculated as if such tax liability had been due in each such prior year.

A U.S. Holder that makes a QEF Election generally will not be subject to the rules of Section 1291 of the Code discussed above. Instead, a U.S. Holder that makes a QEF Election generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on such U.S. Holder's pro rata share of (a) the "net capital gain" of the Company, which will be taxed as long-term capital gain to such U.S. Holder, and (b) the "ordinary earnings" of the Company, which will be taxed as ordinary income to such U.S. Holder. A U.S. Holder that makes a QEF Election will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on such amounts for each taxable year in which the Company is a PFIC, regardless of whether such amounts are actually distributed to such U.S. Holder by the Company. Taxable gains on the disposition of Common Shares by a U.S. Holder that has made a timely and effective QEF Election are generally capital gains. Each U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor regarding the availability and desirability of, and procedure for, making a timely and effective QEF Election for the Company and any subsidiary PFIC.

A U.S. Holder that makes a Mark-to-Market Election generally will not be subject to the rules of Section 1291 of the Code discussed above. A U.S. Holder may make a Mark-to-Market Election only if Common Shares are "marketable stock" (as defined in Section 1296(e) of the Code). A U.S. Holder that makes a Mark-to-Market Election will include in gross income, as ordinary income, for each taxable year in which the Company is a PFIC, an amount equal to the excess, if any, of (a) the fair market value of the Common Shares as of the close of such taxable year over (b) such U.S. Holder's tax basis in such Common Shares. A U.S. Holder that makes a Mark-to-Market Election will, subject to certain limitations, be allowed a deduction in an amount equal to the excess, if any, of (a) such U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in the Common Shares over (b) the fair market value of such Common Shares as of the close of such taxable year. Any gain recognized upon a disposition of Common Shares by a U.S. Holder who has made a Mark-to-Market Election generally will be treated as ordinary income, and any loss recognized upon a disposition generally will be treated as an ordinary loss to the extent of net mark-to-market income recognized for all prior taxable years. Any loss recognized in excess thereof will be taxed as a capital loss. Capital losses are subject to significant limitations under the Code. A Mark-to-Market election may not be made with respect to the stock of any subsidiary PFIC because such stock is not "marketable stock." Hence, a Mark-to-Market Election will not be effective to eliminate the application of the default rules of Section 1291 of the Code, described above, with respect to deemed dispositions of subsidiary PFIC stock or excess distributions with respect to a subsidiary PFIC. Each U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor regarding the availability and desirability of, and procedure for, making a timely and effective Mark-to-Market Election with respect to Common Shares.

The Company believes it was a PFIC in one or more prior taxable years but does not believe that it was a PFIC for the taxable years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, and based on current operations and financial projections, does not expect that it will be a PFIC for the taxable year ending December 31, 2024. The determination of whether the Company was, or will be, a PFIC for a taxable year depends, in part, on the application of complex U.S. federal income tax rules, which are subject to differing interpretations. In addition, whether the Company will be a PFIC for the taxable year ending December 31, 2024, and each subsequent taxable year depends on the assets and income of the Company over the course of each such taxable year and, as a result, cannot be predicted with certainty as of the date of this Annual Report. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not challenge the determination made by the Company concerning its PFIC status or that the Company was not, or will not be, a PFIC for any taxable year.

If the Company meets the income test or asset test for any taxable year during which a U.S. Holder owns Common Shares, the Company will be treated as a PFIC with respect to such U.S. Holder for that taxable year and for all subsequent taxable years, regardless of whether the Company meets the PFIC income test or asset test for such subsequent taxable years, unless the U.S. Holder elects to recognize any unrealized gain in the Common Shares or makes a timely and effective QEF Election or Mark-to-Market Election.

The PFIC rules are complex, and each U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor regarding the PFIC rules and how the PFIC rules may affect the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of Common Shares.

The PFIC rules are complex, and each U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor regarding the PFIC rules and how the PFIC rules may affect the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of Common Shares.

THE ABOVE SUMMARY IS NOT INTENDED TO CONSTITUTE A COMPLETE ANALYSIS OF ALL US. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS APPLICABLE TO US. HOLDERS WITH RESPECT TO THE ACQUISITION, OWNERSHIP, AND DISPOSITION OF COMMON SHARES. US. HOLDERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE TAX CONSIDERATIONS APPLICABLE TO THEM IN THEIR PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.

Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations for United States Residents

The following, as of the date hereof, is a summary of the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations generally applicable to the holding and disposition of common shares by a holder (a) who, for the purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the "Tax Act") and at all relevant times, is not resident or deemed to be resident in Canada, deals at arm's length and is not affiliated with the Company, holds the common shares as capital property and does not use or hold, and is not deemed to use or hold, the common shares in the course of carrying on, or otherwise in connection with, a business in Canada, and (b) who, for the purposes of the Canada - United States Income Tax Convention (the "Convention") and at all relevant times, is a resident solely of the United States, has never been a resident of Canada, has not held or used (and does not hold or use) common shares in connection with a permanent establishment or fixed base in Canada, and who otherwise qualifies for the full benefits of the Convention. The Canada Revenue Agency has introduced special forms to be used in order to substantiate eligibility for benefits under the Convention, and affected holders should consult with their own advisers with respect to these forms and all relevant compliance matters.

Holders who meet all such criteria in clauses (a) and (b) above are referred to in this summary as a "U.S. Holder" or "U.S. Holders", and this summary only addresses such U.S. Holders. The summary does not deal with special situations, such as particular circumstances of traders or dealers, limited liability companies, tax-exempt entities, insurers, financial institutions (including those to which the mark-to-market provisions of the Tax Act apply), entities considered fiscally transparent under applicable law, or otherwise.

This summary is based on the current provisions of the Tax Act, and the regulations thereunder, all proposed amendments to the Tax Act and regulations publicly announced by the Minister of Finance (Canada) to the date hereof, the current provisions of the Convention and our understanding of the current administrative practices of the Canada Revenue Agency. It has been assumed that all currently proposed amendments to the Tax Act and regulations will be enacted as proposed and that there will be no other relevant change in any governing law, the Convention or administrative policy, although no assurance can be given in these respects. This summary does not take into account provincial, U.S. or other foreign income tax considerations, which may differ significantly from those discussed herein.

This summary is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian income tax consequences. It is not intended as legal or tax advice to any particular U.S. Holder and should not be so construed. The tax consequences to a U.S. Holder will depend on that U.S. Holder's particular circumstances. All holders, including U.S. Holders or prospective U.S. Holders as defined above, should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences applicable to them having regard to their own particular circumstances. The discussion below is qualified accordingly.

For the purposes of the Tax Act, all amounts relating to the acquisition, holding or disposition of the common shares must be converted into Canadian dollars based on the relevant exchange rate applicable thereto.

Dividends

Dividends paid or deemed to be paid or credited by the Company to a U.S. Holder are subject to Canadian withholding tax. In general terms, the Tax Act provides for withholding at the rate of 25% unless the holder is able to substantiate a reduced rate under an applicable tax treaty or convention.

The rate of withholding tax on dividends paid to a U.S. Holder who can substantiate eligibility for benefits under the Convention is generally limited to 15% of the gross amount of the dividends (or 5%, if the beneficial owner of the dividends is a company that owns at least 10% of the voting stock of the Company).

Dispositions

A U.S. Holder is generally not subject to tax under the Tax Act in respect of a capital gain realized on the disposition of a common share in the open market, unless the share is "taxable Canadian property" to the holder thereof and the U.S. Holder is not entitled to relief under the Convention.

Provided that the Company's common shares are listed on a "designated stock exchange" for purposes of the Tax Act (which currently includes the TSX Venture) at the time of disposition, a common share will generally not constitute taxable Canadian property to a U.S. Holder unless, at any time during the 60 month period ending at the time of disposition, (i) the U.S. Holder, persons with whom the U.S. Holder did not deal at arm's length, partnerships in which the U.S. Holder or such non-arm's length persons holds a membership interest directly or indirectly, or the U.S. Holder together with any of the foregoing, owned 25% or more of the issued shares of any class or series of the Company AND (ii) more than 50% of the fair market value of the share was derived directly or indirectly from certain types of assets, including real or immoveable property situated in Canada, Canadian resource properties or timber resource properties, and options, interests or rights in respect of any of the foregoing. Common shares may also be deemed to be taxable Canadian property under the Tax Act in certain other circumstances. A U.S. Holder who may hold common shares as taxable Canadian property should consult with the U.S. Holder's own tax advisors in advance of any disposition or deemed disposition of common shares under the Tax Act in order to determine whether any relief from tax under the Tax Act may be available by virtue of the Convention, and any related compliance procedures.

While intended to address material Canadian federal income tax considerations relevant to the holding or disposition of common shares by U.S. Holders, this summary is for general information purposes only, and is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice to any holder or prospective holder of common shares. No opinion was requested by the Company, or is provided by its legal counsel and/or auditors. Accordingly, holders and prospective holders of common shares (including U.S. Holders as defined above) should consult their own tax advisors regarding the consequences of purchasing, owning, and disposing of common shares of the Company.

F. Dividends and Paying Agents

Not applicable

G. Statement by Experts

Not applicable

H. Documents on Display

Exhibits attached to this Annual Report are available for viewing on EDGAR, or may be inspected at the head office of Company at 2 – 1250 Waverley Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada R3T 6C6, during normal business hours. Copies of the Company's financial statements and other continuous disclosure documents required under Canadian securities legislation are available for viewing on the internet at www.sedarplus.ca.

I. Subsidiary Information

Not applicable

J. Annual Report to Security Holders

Not applicable

ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

INTEREST RATE RISK

The primary objective of the Company's investment activities is to preserve principal by maximizing the income the Company receives from such activities without significantly increasing risk. Securities that the Company invests in are generally highly liquid short-term investments such as term deposits with terms to maturity of less than one year.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk as it does not have any variable rate borrowings.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Company's primary currency of operations is the Canadian dollar. Its wholly-owned operating subsidiaries primary currency of operations is the US dollar. The Company has expenditures and holds investments denominated in US dollars. During the year ended December 31, 2024, it is estimated that approximately 90% of the Company's consolidated expenditures were denominated in a foreign currency, primarily being the US dollar and 100% of the Company's consolidated product revenues were denominated in the US dollar. To date the Company has not entered into any future or forward contracts, or other derivative instruments, for either hedging or speculative purposes, to mitigate the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations on these costs or revenues. Based on the net exposures as at December 31, 2024, assuming that all other variables remain constant, a 5% appreciation or deterioration of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar would result in a corresponding increase or decrease, respectively, on the Company's net loss of approximately \$184,000 (2023 – \$162,000).

ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES

Not applicable

PART II

ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES

Not applicable

ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Not applicable

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company's disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rules 13(a)-13(e) and 15(d)-15(e) of the Exchange Act are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information is communicated to senior management, including the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and the Chief Financial Officer ("CFO"), to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our CEO and CFO. Based on this evaluation these officers concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 20-F, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that the information required to be disclosed by our company in reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission. These disclosure controls and procedures include controls and procedures designed to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management, including our company's principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of the Company, including the CEO and CFO, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). The Company's internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company's management and the board of directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

- pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;
- provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and
 that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company;
 and
- 3. provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our CEO and CFO, the Company conducted an evaluation of the design and operation of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on the framework set forth in Internal Control – Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the Company's ICFR was effective as at December 31, 2024.

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of the Company's registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management's report is not subject to attestation by the Company's registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only management's report in this Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Planned Remediation Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2024, there were no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 16. RESERVED

Not applicable

ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

As at December 31, 2024, Mr. Brent Fawkes CPA, CA, a non-employee director, was a member of the audit committee of the Company. The board of directors of the Company has determined that Mr. Fawkes (i) qualifies as an audit committee financial expert pursuant to Items 16A(b) and (c) of Form 20-F and (ii) is independent as defined in section 803 of the NYSE American Company Guide and Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act. In addition, all members of the audit committee are considered financially literate under applicable Canadian laws.

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

On August 23, 2004, the Company adopted a written Code of Business Conduct and Ethics ("Code of Ethics") that applies to the Company's principal executive officer, principal financial officer and to all its other employees. These standards are a guide to help ensure that all of the Company's employees live up to high ethical standards. A copy of the Code of Ethics is maintained on the Company's website at www.medicure.com.

During the most recently completed fiscal year, the Company has neither: (a) amended its Code of Ethics; nor (b) granted any waiver (including any implicit waiver) formany provision of its Code of Ethics.

ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.

In accordance with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the Audit Committee's charter, all audit and audit-related work and all non-audit work performed by Ernst & Young LLP is approved in advance by the Audit Committee, including the proposed fees for such work. The Audit Committee is informed of each service actually rendered that was approved through its pre-approval process.

(a) Audit fees	2024	2023
	\$ 236,000	\$ 232,000
Audit fees consist of fees billed for the audit of the Company's annual financial statements.		
(b) Audit-related fees	2024	2023
	\$ _	\$ _
Audit-related fees consist of fees billed for accounting consultations.		
(c) Tax fees	2024	 2023
	\$ -	\$ -
(d) All other fees	2024	2023
	\$ -	\$ _

ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES

Not applicable

ITEM 16E PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

On June 29, 2020, the Company announced that the TSX Venture Exchange ("TSXV") has accepted the Company's notice of intention to make a normal course issuer bid ("NCIB").

Under the terms of the NCIB, Medicure may acquire up to an aggregate of 533,116 common shares. In the opinion of the Company, its common shares have been trading at prices that do not reflect its underlying value. Accordingly, the Company believes that purchasing its common shares for cancellation, at present pricing, represents an opportunity to enhance value for its shareholders.

As of June 29, 2020, the Company had 10,662,313 common shares outstanding, of which 4,655,353 common shares represent the public float of the Company. Under TSXV policies, the Company is entitled to purchase up to the maximum of 533,116 common shares, representing 5% of the common shares outstanding, over the 12-month period that the NCIB is in place.

The NCIB commenced on June 30, 2020 and will end on June 29, 2021, or on such earlier date as the Company may complete its maximum purchases under the NCIB. The actual number of common shares which will be purchased, if any, and the timing of such purchases will be determined by the Company. All common shares purchased by the Company will be purchased on the open market through the facilities of TSXV by PI Financial Corp. ("PI") acting on behalf of the Company in accordance with the policies of the TSXV and will be surrendered by the Company to its transfer agent for cancellation. The prices that the Company will pay for common shares purchased will be the market price of the shares at the time of purchase.

The Company also announces that it has entered into an automatic share purchase plan (the "Plan") with PI in order to facilitate repurchases of its common shares under the NCIB. Under the Plan, PI may purchase common shares at times when the Company would ordinarily not be permitted to do so, due to regulatory restrictions or self-imposed blackout periods.

Purchases under the Plan will be made by PI based upon parameters prescribed by the TSXV, applicable Canadian securities laws and terms of the Plan. During period from June 30 2020 to December 31, 2020, that the 2020 NCIB was in place, the Company purchased and cancelled 411,000 common shares for a total cost of \$364,000. The prices that the Company paid for the common shares purchased was the market price of the shares at the time of purchase. There were no purchases of common shares during the year ended December 31, 2024 or December 31, 2023.

ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANT'S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

Not applicable.

ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Not applicable.

ITEM 16H. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 161. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.

ITEM 16J. INSIDER TRADING POLICIES

The Company has adopted a statement of trading policies that governs the trading of securities by the Company's directors, officers and certain other covered persons, and which is reasonably designed to promote compliance with applicable insider trading laws, rules and regulations, and any listing standards applicable to the Company. A copy of the Insider Trading Policy is included as Exhibit 11.2 to this annual report. In addition, with regard to any trading in the Company's own securities, it is the Company's policy to comply with the federal securities laws and the applicable exchange listing requirements.

ITEM 16K. CYBERSECURITY

Risk Management and Strategy

The Company's cybersecurity approach strives to adequately protect information, systems, assets, physical locations, and people. From a business perspective, this means protecting key information assets and complying with applicable international and national privacy laws, information security policies and contractual obligations. The Company's Protecting Intellectual Property (IP) and Assets Policy, adopted in 2019, defines the information security management objectives and principles, including information regarding data privacy, and aims to provide an effective, consistent level of company-wide data privacy and data protection. In addition, the Company has added additional security measures with respect to access controls on its file sharing servers and also had a cybersecurity risk assessment completed. The Company has also enrolled in cybersecurity insurance, to better safeguard any information in the event the Company were to incur a cyber attack. The Company also contracts an Information Technology Specialist ("IT Specialist") to regularly monitor and improve the Company's network security.

In 2024, the Company did not identify any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including the Company's business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. Despite the efforts, the Company cannot eliminate all risks from cybersecurity threats or provide assurance that there have not been any undetected cybersecurity incidents.

Cybers ecurity Governance

The Chief Operating Officer ("COO") is responsible for assessing and managing the Company's material risks from cybersecurity threats. This includes reviewing the Company's information security capabilities, reporting data privacy issues to the Company's executive team, and supporting the Company's contracted IT Specialist in obtaining the resources it needs. The COO's extensive experience in risk management, operations, and corporate governance, with over 10 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry in particular, are critical to the management of cyber and information security at the Company.

The COO is supported by the contracted IT Specialist, who provides recommendations to the Company's executive team with respect to security strategy, operations, and policy development and implementation. The IT Specialist contracted by the Company has over 28 years of experience with information technology security.

Data privacy matters fall under the purview of the Company's Compliance Officer, who ensures the Company's regulatory requirements under security legislation such as Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act ("HIPAA") are appropriate followed by employees of the Company. The Compliance Officer also provides mandatory online training on various topics, which all employees are required to complete. The Compliance Officer in addition to the COO and IT Specialist ensure access to HIPAA information is protected and secured as required by the HIPAA security regulations.

PART III

ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Not applicable. See "Item 18 - Financial Statements".

ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with IFRS, as issued by the IASB, and are presented in thousands of Canadian dollars. The consolidated financial statements are in the following order:

1.	Consolidated Statements of Financial Position;	F-6
2.	Consolidated Statements of Net Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss):	F-7
3.	Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity	F-8
4.	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows; and	F-10
5.	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.	F-11
	D 1	



Consolidated Financial Statements (Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

MEDICURE INC.

Year ended December 31, 2024



MANAGEMENT REPORT

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management and approved by the Board of Directors of Medicure Inc. (the "Company"). Management is responsible for the information and representations contained in these consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The significant accounting policies, which management believes are appropriate for the Company, are described in note 3 to these consolidated financial statements. The Company maintains a system of internal control and processes intended to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and to ensure that relevant and reliable financial information is produced.

The Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing and approving these consolidated financial statements and overseeing management's performance of its financial reporting responsibilities. An Audit Committee of non-management Directors is appointed by the Board. The Audit Committee reviews the consolidated financial statements, audit process and financial reporting with management and with the external auditors and reports to the Board of Directors prior to the approval of the audited consolidated financial statements for publication.

Ernst & Young LLP, the Company's external auditors for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, who are appointed by the shareholders, audited the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) to enable them to express to the shareholders their opinion on these consolidated financial statements as at and for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. The report from Ernst & Young LLP follows.

/s/ Albert Friesen	/s/ Haaris Uddin
Dr. Albert D. Friesen	Haaris Uddin
Chief Executive Officer	Chief Financial Officer
April 25, 2025	



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of **Medicure Inc.**

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of **Medicure Inc.** [the "Company"] as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024 and the related notes [collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"]. In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and its financial performance and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024 in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ["PCAOB"] and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: [1] relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and [2] involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.



Assessment of accrual for chargebacks

Description of the matter

As described in Note 3(e) to the consolidated financial statements, revenues from product sales are recorded net of estimated chargebacks. Chargebacks result from wholesalers selling the Company's products to end hospitals and pharmacies at prices lower than the wholesaler acquisition cost, which results in variable consideration for the Company. The accruals are calculated using historical experience, timing of actual chargebacks processed during the year, expected chargeback levels based on the remaining products in the wholesaler distribution channel and pricing differences. Estimated chargebacks are presented within accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2024.

Auditing the estimated chargeback accruals is complex and judgmental due to the level of uncertainty involved in management's estimate for products that remains in the wholesaler distribution channel as at December 31, 2024, and to the extent of product sales that are expected to be subject to chargebacks and pricing differences.

To test the Company's estimated chargeback accruals, our audit procedures included, among others, testing the completeness, accuracy, and relevance of the underlying data used by management to estimate the accruals through reconciliation to third-party agreements and third-party reports indicating actual chargebacks. We evaluated the estimated wholesaler inventory levels by obtaining third-party distribution channel reports and assessing inventory turnover of each product at the wholesaler. We inspected wholesaler agreements and end hospitals and pharmacies agreements and compared pricing differences to the chargeback rate used by management to estimate the accruals. We performed a retrospective review to determine the historical accuracy of management's estimates of chargebacks against actual results. We evaluated the monthly trailing analysis of actual chargebacks processed during the year. We performed sensitivity analyses to determine the effect of changes in assumptions on the chargeback accruals.

["CGU"] Valuation of goodwill relating to the Retail and Mail Order Pharmacy cash-generating unit

Description of the matter

As described in Note 3(I) to the consolidated financial statements, goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, or when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired at the cash-generating unit level ["CGU"].

Auditing management's annual goodwill impairment test is complex and highly judgmental due to the significant estimation and judgment applied by management in determining the recoverable amount of the Retail and Mail Order Pharmacy CGU. In particular, the estimated recoverable amount is sensitive to significant assumptions, such as changes in discount rate, revenue growth rate, and operating margin.

How we addressed the matter in our audit

How we addressed the matter in our audit

To test the estimated recoverable amount of the Company's Retail and Mail Order Pharmacy CGU, we performed audit procedures that included, among others, testing the significant assumptions discussed above and the underlying data used by the Company in its analysis. We compared the significant assumptions used by management to the CGU's historical results and third-party industry data. We assessed the historical accuracy of management's cash flow projections, revenue growth and operating margin by comparing management's past projections to actual performance. We performed sensitivity analyses of the revenue growth rate, discount rate and operating margin to evaluate the changes in the recoverable amount of the Retail and Mail Order Pharmacy CGU that would result from changes in the assumptions. We involved our valuation specialists to assist us in our evaluation of the valuation methodology used in determining the recoverable amount, as well as the discount rate used by comparing to external data sources.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP Chartered Professional Accountants

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2020.

Winnipeg, Canada April 25, 2025



Consolidated Statements of Financial Position (expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

As at December 31	Note		2024		2023
Assets			<u>.</u>		
Current assets:					
Cash and cash equivalents		\$	7,191	\$	6,369
Accounts receivable	5		5,298		4,794
Inventories	6		3,282		2,900
Prepaid expenses			126		1,143
Total current assets			15,897		15,206
Non-current assets:					
Property and equipment	7		955		736
Intangible assets	8		9,354		8,940
Goodwill	9		3,375		3,102
Other assets	4		98		75
Total non-current assets			13,782		12,853
Total assets		\$	29,679	\$	28,059
Liabilities and Equity					
Current liabilities:					
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		\$	7,932	\$	7,603
Income taxes payable	14	•	95	•	16
Current portion of lease obligations	11		368		315
Total current liabilities		-	8,395		7,934
Non-current liabilities			-)		
Lease obligations	11		506		229
Total non-current liabilities			506		229
Total liabilities		_	8,901		8,163
Equity:		-			
Share capital	12(b)		81,014		81,014
Contributed surplus	(-)		10,919		10,723
Accumulated other comprehensive loss			(4,264)		(5,989)
Deficit			(66,891)		(65,852)
Total equity			20,778		19,896
Total liabilities and equity		\$	29,679	\$	28,059
Commitments and contingencies	15(a) & 15(d)	_		_	
On behalf of the board					
"Dr. Albert D. Friesen"	"Mr. Brent Fawkes	,,,			
Director	Director	•			
Diversi	Director				

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements



Consolidated Statements of Net Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss) (expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

Revenue, net S 21,907 \$ 21,694 \$ 23,065 Cost of goods sold 6 & 8 8,818 7,705 6,990 Gross profit 13,089 13,989 16,075 Expense Selling 18 7,981 8,306 7,935 Sceneral and administrative 18 4,764 4,131 4,193 Research and development 18 3,081 2,406 2,754 Cher Income: 15,826 14,83 2,406 2,754 Other Income 4 (1,860) - 6,346 Tomace costs: 1,860 - 2,446 </th <th>For the year ended December 31</th> <th>Note</th> <th>2024</th> <th>2023</th> <th>2022</th>	For the year ended December 31	Note	2024	2023	2022
Cost of goods sold 6.88 8,818 7,705 6,909 Gross profit 13,089 13,089 16,075 Expense Selling 18 7,981 8,306 7,935 Sceneral and administrative 18 4,764 4,131 4,103 4,103 2,105	Revenue, net			 	
Gross profit 13,089 13,089 16,075 Expenses Selling 18 7,981 8,306 7,935 General and administrative 18 4,764 4,131 4,193 Research and development 18 3,081 2,406 2,754 Other Income 4 (1,860) - 3,468 Other Income 4 (1,860) - 3,46 Other Income 4 (1,860) - 3,46 Other Income 4 (1,860) - 3,46 Finance (income) expense, net 10 & 15 (165) 655 206 Foreign exchange loss (gain), net 10 & 15 (165) 655 206 Foreign exchange loss (gain), net 10 & 15 (165) (65) 206 Foreign exchange loss (gain), net 1 & 256 (25) (20) Net income (loss) before income taxes 1 (256) (25) (20) Deferred 14 (256) (25) (20) (20) <	Product sales, net		\$ 21,907	\$ 21,694	\$ 23,065
Selling 18 7,981 8,306 7,935 6,000 18 4,764 4,131 4,193 18,206 2,754 18,206 2,754 18,206 2,754 18,206 2,754 18,206 2,754 2,806 2,8	Cost of goods sold	6 & 8	8,818	7,705	6,990
Selling 18 7,981 8,306 7,935 General and administrative 18 4,764 4,131 4,193 4,193 4,193 1,488 2,246 2,754 1,5826 1,483 1,4882 2,406 2,754 1,4882 2,406 2,754 1,4882 2,406 2,754 1,4882 2,406 2,754 1,4882 2,408 2,4	Gross profit		13,089	13,989	16,075
General and administrative 18 4,764 4,131 4,193 Research and development 18 3,081 2,406 2,754 Conter Income: Other Income: Conter Income: Content Incom	Expenses				
Research and development 18 3,081 2,406 2,754 Other Income: Other Income 4 (1,860) - 3,460 Colspan="4">Other Income 4 (1,860) - 3,460 Finance costs: Finance (income) expense, net 10 & 15 (165) (65) 206 Foreign exchange loss (gain), net 71 108 522 Net income (loss) before income taxes 71 108 522 Net income (loss) before income taxes 8 (87) \$ 1,385 Income tax expense 3 (89) \$ 1,385 Current 14 (256) (25) (20) Deferred 14 (256) (25) (20) Net (loss) profit 1 1,725 (53) 1,735 Ewhange differences on translation of foreign subsidiaries: 1,725 (531) 1,182 Comprehensive Income (loss) \$ 686 1,1453 2,547	Selling	18	7,981	8,306	7,935
15,826 14,843 14,882 Other Income: Other Income 4 (1,860) - (346) Finance costs: Finance (income) expense, net 10 & 15 (165) (65) 206 Foreign exchange loss (gain), net 71 108 (52) Net income (loss) before income taxes 94 43 154 Net income (loss) before income taxes \$ (783) 897) \$ 1,885 Income tax expense 2 256) (25) (20) Current 14 256) (25) (20) Net (loss) profit 14 - - - - Emthant may be reclassified to profit or loss 2 (25) (20) (20) Exchange differences on translation of foreign subsidiaries: 1,725 (531) 1,182 Comprehensive Income (loss) \$ 686 (1,453) \$ 2,547 Earnings (loss) pershare - - - - - - - - - - <td>General and administrative</td> <td>18</td> <td>4,764</td> <td>4,131</td> <td>4,193</td>	General and administrative	18	4,764	4,131	4,193
Other Income: 4 (1,860) - (346) Finance costs: (1,860) - (346) Finance (income) expense, net 10 & 15 (165) (65) 206 Foreign exchange loss (gain), net 71 108 (52) Net income (loss) before income taxes \$ (783) (897) \$ 1,385 Income tax expense 20 (256) (25) (20) Deferred 14 2.56) (25) (20) Deferred 14 - - - - Net (loss) profit \$ (1,039) (922) \$ 1,365 Itemthat may be reclassified to profit or loss Exchange differences on translation of foreign subsidiaries: 1,725 (531) 1,182 Comprehensive Income (loss) \$ 686 (1,453) \$ 2,547 Earnings (loss) per share Basic (0.00) \$ 0.13	Research and development	18	3,081	2,406	2,754
Other Income 4 (1,860) - (346) Finance Costs: Finance (income) expense, net 10 & 15 (165) (65) 206 Foreign exchange loss (gain), net 10 & 15 (165) (65) 206 Foreign exchange loss (gain), net 10 & 15 (165) (65) 206 Net income (loss) before income taxes \$ (783) (897) \$ 1,385 Income tax expense 2 (25) (25) (20) Deferred 14 (256) (25) (20) Poeferred 1 (256) (25) (20) Net (loss) profit \$ (1,039) (922) 1,365 Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss 1,725 (531) 1,182 Comprehensive Income (loss) \$ (88) (1,453) 2,2547 Earnings (loss) per share 3 (0,10) (0,09) 0,13			 15,826	14,843	14,882
Finance costs: (1,860) - (340) Finance costs: Finance (income) expense, net 10 & 15 (165) (65) 206 Foreign exchange loss (gain), net 71 108 (52) Net income (loss) before income taxes (897) 1,385 Income tax expense Current 14 (256) (25) (20) Deferred 14 -	Other Income:				
Finance costs: (1,860) - (340) Finance costs: Finance (income) expense, net 10 & 15 (165) (65) 206 Foreign exchange loss (gain), net 71 108 (52) Net income (loss) before income taxes (897) 1,385 Income tax expense Current 14 (256) (25) (20) Deferred 14 -	Other Income	4	(1,860)	-	(346)
Finance costs: Finance (income) expense, net 10 & 15 (165) (65) 206 Foreign exchange loss (gain), net 71 108 (52) Net income (loss) before income taxes (783) (897) 1,385 Income tax expense (2783) (897) 1,385 Current 14 (256) (25) (20) Deferred 14 - - - - Current (256) (25) (20) (20) Net (loss) profit (1,039) (922) 1,365 Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss - <				-	
Foreign exchange loss (gain), net T1 108 (52)	Finance costs:		() /		
Net income (loss) before income taxes \$ (783) \$ (897) \$ 1,385 Income tax expense \$ (256) \$ (25) \$ (20) Deferred 14	Finance (income) expense, net	10 & 15	(165)	(65)	206
Net income (loss) before income taxes \$ (783) (897) 1,385 Income tax expense Current 14 (256) (25) (20) Deferred 14 -	Foreign exchange loss (gain), net		71	108	(52)
Current 14			(94)	43	154
Current 14	Net income (loss) before income taxes		\$ (783)	\$ (897)	\$ 1,385
Deferred 14 - - - - - - - - -	Income tax expense				
Net (loss) profit \$ (1,039) \$ (922) \$ 1,365 Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss Exchange differences on translation of foreign subsidiaries: 1,725 (531) 1,182 Comprehensive Income (loss) \$ 686	Current	14	(256)	(25)	(20)
Net (loss) profit \$ (1,039) \$ (922) \$ 1,365 Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss Exchange differences on translation of foreign subsidiaries: 1,725 (531) 1,182 Comprehensive Income (loss) \$ 686 \$ (1,453) \$ 2,547 Earnings (loss) per share Basic (0.10) \$ (0.09) \$ 0.13	Deferred	14	-	-	-
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss Exchange differences on translation of foreign subsidiaries: 1,725 (531) 1,182 Comprehensive Income (loss) \$ 686 \$ (1,453) \$ 2,547 Earnings (loss) per share Basic (0.10) \$ (0.09) \$ 0.13			(256)	(25)	(20)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign subsidiaries: 1,725 (531) 1,182 Comprehensive Income (loss) \$ 686 \$ (1,453) \$ 2,547 Earnings (loss) per share Basic (0.10) \$ (0.09) \$ 0.13	Net (loss) profit		\$ (1,039)	\$ (922)	\$ 1,365
Comprehensive Income (loss) \$ 686 \$ (1,453) \$ 2,547 Earnings (loss) per share Basic 12(d) \$ (0.10) \$ (0.09) \$ 0.13	Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss				
Earnings (loss) per share Basic 12(d) \$ (0.10) \$ (0.09) \$ 0.13	Exchange differences on translation of foreign subsidiaries:		1,725	(531)	1,182
Basic 12(d) \$ (0.10) \$ (0.09) \$ 0.13	Comprehensive Income (loss)		\$ 686	\$ (1,453)	\$ 2,547
Basic 12(d) \$ (0.10) \$ (0.09) \$ 0.13	Earnings (loss) per share				
Diluted 12(d) \$ (0.10) \$ (0.09) \$ 0.13		12(d)	\$ (0.10)	\$ (0.09)	\$ 0.13
	Diluted	12(d)	\$ (0.10)	\$ (0.09)	\$ 0.13



Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

		Attributable to shareholders of the Company									
		Accumulated									
		other									
			Share	Contributed compre			mprehensive				
	Note		capital		surplus		loss		Deficit		Total
Balance, December 31, 2023		\$	81,014	\$	10,723	\$	(5,989)	\$	(65,852)	\$	19,896
Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2024			-		-		-		(1,039)		(1,039)
Other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2024			-		-		1,725		-		1,725
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity											
Share-based compensation	12(c)		-		196		=		-		196
Total transactions with owners			-		196		-		_		196
Balance, December 31, 2024		\$	81,014	\$	10,919	\$	(4,264)	\$	(66,891)	\$	20,778

(continued on next page)



Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (continued) (expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

		Attributable to shareholders of the Company									
							ımulated				
							other				
			Share	Co	ntributed	compre	ehensive				
	Note		capital		surplus		loss		Deficit		Total
Balance, December 31, 2022		\$	80,917	\$	10,476	\$	(5,458)	\$	(64,930)	\$	21,005
Net profit for the year ended December 31, 2023			-		-		-		(922)		(922)
Other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2023			-		-		(531)		-		(531)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity											
Stock options exercised	12(c)		97		(41)		-		-		56
Share-based compensation	12(c)		-		288		-		-		288
Total transactions with owners			97		247				-		344
Balance, December 31, 2023		\$	81,014	\$	10,723	\$	(5,989)	\$	(65,852)	\$	19,896
				At	ributable t	o shareh	olders of t	the (Company		
						Accu	ımulated				
							other				
			~1								
			Share	Co	ntributed	compre	ehensive				
	Note		Share capital	Co	ntributed surplus	compre	ehensive loss		Deficit		Total
Balance, December 31, 2021	Note	\$		\$		\$		\$	Deficit (66,295)	\$	Total 18,411
Balance, December 31, 2021 Net profit for the year ended December 31, 2022	Note	\$	capital		surplus		loss	\$		\$	
	Note	\$	capital		surplus		loss	\$	(66,295)	\$	18,411
Net profit for the year ended December 31, 2022	Note	\$	capital		surplus		loss (6,640)	\$	(66,295)	\$	18,411 1,365
Net profit for the year ended December 31, 2022 Other comprehensive Income for the year ended December 31, 2022	Note	\$	capital		surplus		loss (6,640)	\$	(66,295)	\$	18,411 1,365
Net profit for the year ended December 31, 2022 Other comprehensive Income for the year ended December 31, 2022 Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity		\$	capital		surplus 10,429		loss (6,640)	\$	(66,295)	\$	18,411 1,365 1,182



Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

For the year ended December 31	Note	2024	2023	2022
Cash (used in) provided by:		_		
Operating activities:				
Net (loss) profit for the year	\$	(1,039)	\$ (922)	\$ 1,365
Adjustments for:				
Current income tax expense	13	256	25	20
Amortization of property and equipment	7	438	434	461
Amortization of intangible assets	8	1,876	1,736	1,594
Share-based compensation	12(c)	196	288	47
Write-down of inventories	6	78	277	38
Change in fair value of contingent consideration	4	-	-	(346)
Finance (income) expense, net	14	(165)	(65)	190
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain)		71	108	(52)
Change in the following:				
Accounts receivable		150	760	(864)
Inventories		(207)	(31)	166
Prepaid expenses		237	(26)	(194)
Other assets		(18)	-	(2)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		(494)	(236)	568
Interest received (paid), net	14	175	48	(16)
Income taxes paid, net	13	(177)	(61)	(91)
Royalties paid	15(c)	-	(256)	(1,056)
Cash flows from operating activities		1,377	2,079	1,828
Investing activities:	_			
Acquisition of property and equipment	7	-	-	(14)
Acquisition of intangible assets	8	(739)	(270)	(296)
Cash flows (used in) from investing activities		(739)	(270)	(310)
Financing activities:	_			
Repayment of lease liability	11	(370)	(353)	(355)
Stock options exercised	12(c)	<u>-</u>	56	· -
Cash flows used in financing activities	_	(370)	(297)	(355)
Foreign exchange loss on cash held in foreign currency	_	554		
Increase in cash	_	822	1,512	1,163
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period		6,369	4,857	3,694
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	<u>\$</u>		\$ 6,369	\$ 4,857



1. Reporting entity

Medicure Inc. (the "Company") is a company domiciled and incorporated in Canada and as of October 24, 2011, its common shares are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange ("TSX-V"). Prior to October 24, 2011 and beginning on March 29, 2010, the Company's common shares were listed on the NEX board of the TSX-V. Prior to March 29, 2010, the Company's Common Shares were listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange. Additionally, the Company's shares were listed on the American Stock Exchange (later called NYSE Amex and now called NYSE MKT) on February 17, 2004 and the shares ceased trading on the NYSE Amex effective July 3, 2008. The Company remains a U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission registrant. The address of the Company's registered office is 2-1250 Waverley Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada, R3T 6C6.

The Company is a biopharmaceutical company engaged in the research, development and commercialization of human therapeutics. Through its subsidiary Medicure International, Inc., the Company has rights to the commercial product AGGRASTAT [®] Injection (tirofiban hydrochloride) in the United States and its territories (Puerto Rico, U.S. Virgin Islands, and Guam). AGGRASTAT [®], a glycoprotein GP Ilb/IIIa receptor antagonist, is used for the treatment of acute coronary syndrome including unstable angina, which is characterized by chest pain when one is at rest, and non-Q-wave myocardial infarction.

In September 2019, the Company acquired ownership of ZYPITAMAG[®] from Cadila Healthcare Ltd., India ("Zydus") for the U.S. and Canadian markets. Under terms of the agreement, the Company previously had acquired U.S. marketing rights with a profit-sharing arrangement in December 2017. With this acquisition, the Company obtained full control of the product including marketing and pricing negotiation for ZYPITAMAG[®]. ZYPITAMAG[®] is used for the treatment of patients with primary hyperlipidemia or mixed dyslipidemia and was approved in July 2017 by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") for sale and marketing in the United States. On May 1, 2018, ZYPITAMAG[®] was made available in retail pharmacies throughout the United States.

On December 17, 2020, the Company, through its subsidiary, Medicure Pharma Inc., acquired and began operating Marley Drug, Inc. ("Marley Drug"), a leading specialty pharmacy serving customers across the United States.

The Company's ongoing research and development activities include the continued development and further implementation of a new regulatory, brand and life cycle management strategy for $AGGRASTAT^{\textcircled{R}}$ and the development of additional cardiovascular products. The Company continues to seek to acquire or license additional cardiovascular products.

2. Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB").

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on April 25, 2025.

(b) Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the investment in Sensible Medical which is measured at fair value.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company's functional currency. All financial information presented has been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, except where indicated otherwise. The Company has rounded comparative figures, which were previously presented as rounded to the nearest dollar, to the nearest thousand dollars to conform to current year presentation.



2. Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(d) Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about key assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are included in the following notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024:

• Note 3(e): The accruals for returns, chargebacks, rebates and discounts

Chargebacks are considered the most significant estimates and result from wholesalers selling the Company's products to end hospitals at prices lower than the wholesaler acquisition cost, which results in variable consideration for the Company. The provision is estimated using historical chargeback experience, timing of actual chargebacks processed during the year, expected chargeback levels based on the remaining products in the wholesaler distribution channel and pricing differences. Estimating the chargeback accrual is complex and judgmental due to the level of uncertainty involved in management's estimates for product that remains in the wholesaler distribution channel as at year-end, the extent of product sales that were expected to be subject to chargebacks and pricing differences.

- Note 3(i): The measurement and useful lives of intangible assets
- Note 3(q): The measurement and valuation of intangible assets and contingent consideration acquired and recorded as business combinations
- Note 3(I): Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company's annual goodwill impairment test is based on value-in-use calculations that use a discounted cash flow model. These calculations require the use of estimates and forecasts of future cash flows. The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate, revenue growth rate, and operating margin. The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount are further explained in note 9.



3. Material accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise indicated.

(a) Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has power over the investee and when the Company is exposed, or has the rights, to variable returns from the investee. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial results of the Company from the effective date of acquisition up to the effective date of disposition or loss of control and include wholly owned subsidiaries Medicure International Inc., Medicure Pharma Inc., Medicure. Pharma Europe Limited and Medicure USA. On December 1, 2024 the Company elected to wind up Medicure USA, and as a result, Medicure USA is not considered a subsidiary of the Company as at December 31, 2024. Beginning on December 17, 2020, Marley Drug, Inc., became a subsidiary of Medicure Pharma Inc. and is consolidated with these financial statements. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany transactions and balances and unrealized gains and losses from intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

(b) Foreign currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Company's consolidated subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the subsidiary operates (the functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company's functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the respective functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are not carried at fair value are translated using the exchange rates as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

The results and financial position of the Company's foreign operations that have a functional currency different from the Company's functional and presentation currency are translated into Canadian dollars as follows:

- (i) assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the closing rate at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position;
- (ii) revenue and expenses of foreign operations for each year are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case revenue and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and
- (iii) all resulting exchange differences for foreign operations are recognized in other comprehensive income in the cumulative translation account.

When a foreign operation is disposed of, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognized in the consolidated statements of net income and comprehensive income, as part of the gain or loss on sale where applicable.

(c) Financial instruments

(i) Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Upon recognition of a financial asset, classification is made based on the business model for managing the asset and the asset's contractual cash flow characteristics. The financial asset is initially recognized at its fair value and subsequently classified and measured as (i) amortized cost; (ii) fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI"); or (iii) fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"). Financial assets are classified as FVTPL if they have not been classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI. Upon initial recognition of an equity instrument that is not held-for-trading, the asset is recorded as FVTPL unless the Company irrevocably designates the presentation of subsequent changes in the fair value of such equity instrument as FVOCI.



3. Material accounting policies (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method and net of any impairment allowance, if the asset is held within a business whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and other assets are classified within this category.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets measured at FVTPL are carried in the consolidated statements of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value therein recognized in the consolidated statement of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). There are presently no assets classified within this category.

Financial assets at FVOCI

Financial assets measured at FVOCI are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value therein recognized in the statement of consolidated statement of net loss and comprehensive loss. The investment in Sensible Medical was designated within this category.

(ii) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

The Company recognizes a financial liability on the trade date in which it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument at fair value plus any directly attributable costs. Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost or FVTPL, and are not subsequently reclassified. The Company's financial liabilities are accounts payable and accrued liabilities, royalty obligation and acquisition payable which are recognized on an amortized cost basis. Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL include contingent consideration resulting from business combinations as defined by IFRS 9.

The royalty obligation was recorded at its fair value at the date at which the liability was incurred and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method at each reporting date. Estimating fair value for this liability required determining the most appropriate valuation model, which was dependent on its underlying terms and conditions. This estimate also required determining expected revenue from AGGRASTAT® sales and an appropriate discount rate and making assumptions about them.

Contingent consideration resulting from a business combination is valued at fair value at the acquisition date as part of the business combination and subsequently fair valued as described in the business combination policy below.



3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(c) Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Derecognition

A financial asset or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets is derecognized when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a "pass-through" arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).

(iv) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

(v) Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is determined based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing an asset or liability. Typically, fair value is determined by using quoted prices in active markets for identical or similar assets or liabilities. When quoted prices in active markets are not available, fair value is determined using valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs. When observable valuation inputs are not available, significant judgment is required through determining the valuation technique to apply, the valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis and selecting inputs. The use of alternative valuation techniques or valuation inputs may result in a different fair value.

(vi) Transaction costs

Transaction costs for all financial instruments measured at amortized cost, the transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the financial asset or financial liability and are amortized using the effective interest rate method over a period that corresponds with the term of the financial instruments. Transaction costs for financial instruments classified as FVTPL are recognized as an expense in professional fees, in the period the cost was incurred.

(vii) Embedded derivatives

For financial liabilities measured at amortized cost, under certain conditions, an embedded derivative must be separated from its host contract and accounted for as a derivative. An embedded derivative causes some or all of the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the contract to be modified according to a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, a credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract. For financial assets at FVTPL, any embedded derivatives are not separated from its host contract.



3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Impairment of financial assets

An "expected credit loss" impairment model applies to financial assets which requires a loss allowance to be recorded on financial assets measured at amortized cost based on their expected credit losses. An estimate is made to determine the present value of future cash flows associated with the asset, and, if required, an impairment loss is recorded. The impairment loss reduces the carrying value of the impaired financial asset to the value of the estimated present value of the future cash flows associated with the asset, discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate either directly or through the use of an allowance account and the resulting impairment loss is recorded in profit or loss. The Company considers a financial asset in default when internal or external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. For accounts receivable, the Company applies the simplified approach in calculating expected credit losses. Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date. The Company has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortized cost are reversed in subsequent periods if the amount of the loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized.

(e) Revenue from contracts with customers

As of December 31, 2024, excluding Marley Drug, the Company has two commercially available products that generated revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024, AGGRASTAT ® and ZYPITAMAG® (the "Products") which it sells to United States customers. The Products are sold to wholesalers for resale as well as directly to hospitals and pharmacies, with AGGRASTAT ® primarily being sold by the wholesalers to hospitals, while ZYPITAMAG® is primarily sold by wholesalers to pharmacies. Revenue from the sale of the Products is recognized upon the receipt of goods by the wholesaler, or the hospital or pharmacy in the case of a direct sale, at the point in time in which title and control of the transferred goods pass from the Company to the customer. At this point in time, the customer has gained the sole ability to route the goods, and there are no unfulfilled obligations that could affect the customer's acceptance of the goods. Delivery of the product occurs when the goods have been received at the customer in accordance with the terms of the sale.

Sales are made subject to certain discounts available for prompt payment, volume discounts, rebates or chargebacks. Revenue from these sales is recognized based on the price specified per the pricing terms of the sales invoices, net of the estimated discounts, rebates or chargebacks. Variable consideration is based on historical information, using the expected value method. Revenue is only recognized to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur. A liability is included within accounts payable and accrued liabilities and is measured for expected payments that will be made to the customers for the discounts in which they are entitled. Sales do not contain an element of financing as sales are made with credit terms within the normal operating cycle of the date of the invoice, which is consistent with market practice.

Through Marley Drug, the Company operates a retail pharmacy and mail order pharmacy business selling pharmaceuticals directly to end users, being individual patients. Revenue for in-store sales is recognized upon payment by the customer. This is the point where all performance obligations have been met in regards to the product sold. Revenue for mail order sales is recognized upon the shipment of the products to the customer, generally at the time the product is picked up from the Company's premises by the carrier. This is the point where all performance obligations have been met in regards to the product sold.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all liquid investments purchased with a maturity of three months or less at acquisition to be cash and cash equivalents, which are carried and classified at amortized cost.



3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(g) Inventories

Inventories consist of unfinished product (raw material in the form of active pharmaceutical ingredients and packaging materials) and finished commercial product, which are available for sale either to wholesale, pharmacy and hospital customers or through Marley Drug direct to patients, and are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

The cost of inventories is based on the first-in, first-out principle, and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.

Inventories are written down to net realizable value when the cost of inventories is estimated to be unrecoverable due to obsolescence, damage, or declining selling prices. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. When the circumstances that previously caused inventories to be written down below cost no longer exist, or when there is clear evidence of an increase in selling prices, the amount of the write-down previously recorded is reversed.

(h) Property and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses and reversals. When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognized in the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) in the period in which they are incurred.

(ii) Amortization

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property and equipment in a manner that most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Asset	Basis	Rate
Computers, pharmacy equipment, office		
equipment, furniture and fixtures	Straight-line	20% to 25%
Leasehold improvements	Straight-line	Term of lease
Right-of-use assets	Straight-line	Term of lease

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each period end and adjusted if appropriate.



3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(i) Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired separately are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Subsequent expenditures are capitalized only when they increase the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which they relate. All other expenditures are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Product licenses are amortized on a straight-line basis over the contractual term of the acquired license. Pharmacy licenses are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of approximately seven years. Patents and drug approvals are amortized on a straight-line basis over the legal life of the respective patent, ranging from five to twenty years, or its economic life, if shorter. Brand names are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated economic life of the brand name estimated at ten years. Trademarks are amortized on a straight-line basis over the legal life of the respective trademark, being ten years, or its economic life, if shorter. Customer lists are amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of seven to twelve years.

Amortization on product licenses commences when the intangible asset is available for use, which would typically be in connection with the commercial launch of the associated product under the license.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. The costs of servicing the Company's patents and trademarks are expensed as incurred.

The amortization method and amortization period of an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least annually. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates in the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).

(j) Research and development

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes. Development expenditures are capitalized only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Company intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. No development costs have been capitalized to date.

Research and development expenses include all direct and indirect operating expenses supporting the products in development.

Clinical trial expenses are a component of the Company's research and development costs. These expenses include fees paid to contract research organizations, clinical sites, and other organizations who conduct research and development activities on the Company's behalf. The amount of clinical trial expenses recognized in a period related to clinical agreements are based on estimates of the work performed using an accrual basis of accounting. These estimates incorporate factors such as patient enrolment, services provided, contractual terms, and prior experience with similar contracts.

(k) Government assistance

Government assistance, in the form of grants, is recognized at fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Government assistance toward current expenses is recorded as a reduction of the related expenses in the period the expenses are incurred. Government assistance towards property and equipment is deducted from the cost of the related property and equipment. The benefits of investment tax credits for scientific research and experimental development expenditures ("SR&ED") incurred directly by the Company are recognized in the period the qualifying expenditure is made, provided there is reasonable assurance of recoverability. SR&ED investment tax credits receivable are recorded at their net realizable value.



3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(1) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting period whether there is an indication that a non-financial asset may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset, or its cash-generating unit ("CGU"), exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in net profit (loss) and comprehensive profit (loss). A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. The recoverable amount is the greater of the asset's or CGU's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs.

For assets other than goodwill, impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized. Impairment losses relating to goodwill are not reversed in future periods.

(m) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

(ii) Share-based payment transactions

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognized as a personnel expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognized as an expense is based on the number of awards that do meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.

Share-based payment arrangements in which the Company receives goods or services as consideration for its own equity instruments are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions. In situations where equity instruments are issued and some or all of the goods or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, they are measured at fair value of the share-based payment.

Where the terms of an equity-settled transaction award are modified, the minimum expense recognized is the expense as if the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense is recognized for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it vested on the date of the cancellation and any expense not yet recognized for the award (being the total expense as calculated at the grant date) is recognized immediately. This includes any awards where vesting conditions within the control of either the Company or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled award and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original awards.



3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(n) Finance income and finance costs

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, which are recognized in net profit (loss) and comprehensive profit (loss) using the effective interest rate method and accretion on the royalty obligation, offset by any finance income, which consists of interest income on funds invested and is recognized as it accrues in net income and comprehensive income, using the effective interest rate method.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

(o) Income taxes

The Company and its subsidiaries are generally taxable under the statutes of their country of incorporation.

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. Current taxes and deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current taxes are the expected tax receivable or payable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax receivable or payable in respect of previous years.

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for deferred taxes. Under this method, deferred taxes are recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred taxes are not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred taxes are not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred taxes are measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

The Company has provided for income taxes, including the impacts of tax legislation in various jurisdictions, in accordance with guidance issued by accounting regulatory bodies, the Canada Revenue Agency, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, the Barbados Revenue Authority, as well as other state and local governments through the date of the issuance of these consolidated financial statements. Additional guidance and interpretations can be expected and such guidance, if any, could impact future results. While management continues to monitor these matters, the ultimate impact, if any, as a result of the application of any guidance issued in the future cannot be determined at this time.



3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(o) Income taxes (continued)

The Company and its subsidiaries file federal income tax returns in Canada, the United States, Barbados and other foreign jurisdictions, as well as various provinces and states in Canada and the United States, respectively. Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws and the amount and timing of future taxable income. Given the Company operates within a complex structure internationally, differences arising between the actual results and the assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to taxable income and expenses recorded. The Company establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. The amount of such provisions are based on various factors, such as interpretations of tax regulations by each taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. The Company and its subsidiaries have open tax years, primarily from 2011 to 2023, with significant taxing jurisdictions, including Canada, the United States and Barbados. These open years contain certain matters that could be subject to differing interpretations of applicable tax laws and regulations and tax treaties, as they relate to the amount, timing or inclusion of revenues and expenses, or the sustainability of income tax positions of the Company and its subsidiaries. Certain of these tax years may remain open indefinitely.

Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues, depending on the conditions prevailing in the respective company's domicile. As the Company assesses the probability for litigation and subsequent cash outflow with respect to taxes as remote, no contingent liability has been recognized.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at that date, would be recognized subsequently if information about facts and circumstances changed. The adjustment would either be treated as a reduction to goodwill if it occurred during the measurement period or in profit or loss, when it occurs subsequent to the measurement period.

(p) Earnings per share

The Company presents basic earnings per share ("EPS") data for its common voting shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to common voting shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common voting shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for the Company's own shares held. Diluted EPS is computed similar to basic EPS except that the weighted average shares outstanding are increased to include additional shares for the assumed exercise of stock options and warrants, if dilutive. The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised and that the proceeds from such exercise were used to acquire common shares at the average market price during the reporting periods.

(q) Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for an acquisition is measured at the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities assumed and the equity interests issued at the acquisition date. Transaction costs that are incurred in connection with a business combination, other than costs associated with the issuance of debt or equity securities, are expensed as incurred. Identified assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are measured initially at fair values at the date of acquisition

Contingent consideration is measured at fair value on the acquisition date and is included as part of the consideration transferred. The fair value of the contingent consideration liability is remeasured at each reporting date with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of fair value of the cost of the business combinations over the Company's share in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Any negative difference is recognized directly in the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). If the fair values of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities can only be calculated on a provisional basis, the business combination is recognized using provisional values. Any adjustments resulting from the completion of the measurement process are recognized within twelve months of the date of the acquisition.



3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(r) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Company must assess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset over a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Company must assess whether the contract involves the use of an identified asset, whether it has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset during the term of the contract and if it has the right to direct the use of the asset. As a lessee, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of the lease.

(i) Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which consists of the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made and any initial direct costs incurred at or before the commencement date, plus any decommissioning and restoration costs, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently amortized from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the lease term, or the end of the useful life of the asset. In addition, the right-of-use asset may be reduced due to impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability.

(ii) Lease liability

A lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date discounted by the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the incremental borrowing rate. The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed payments; variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate; amounts expected to be payable under any residual value guarantee; the exercise price under any purchase option that the Company would be reasonably certain to exercise; lease payments in any optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option; and penalties for any early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not to terminate early. The Company has elected to not include non-lease components related to premises leases in the determination of the lease liability.

The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a lease term of twelve months or less and leases of low-value assets. The lease payments associated with these leases are charged directly to income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(iii) Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in its lease; therefore, it uses its incremental Borrowing rate ("IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Company "would have to pay," which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Company estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary's stand-alone credit rating).



3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(s) Adoption of new accounting policies

Amendments to IAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

In January 2020 and October 2022, amendments were issued to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements ("IAS 1"), which provide requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current.

Specifically, the amendments clarify:

- What is meant by a right to defer settlement;
- That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period;
- That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right;
- That only If an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its classification; and
- Changes in disclosure requirements.

The amendments are required to be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning after January 1, 2024. The Company's adoption of these amendments did not have an impact on the Company's audited consolidated financial statements.

(t) New standard not yet adopted

IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

In April 2024, IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements was issued and replaces IAS 1.

This new standard introduces new categories and subtotals in the statement of profit or loss where all income and expenses are categorized into one of five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations.

The standard also requires disclosure of management-defined performance measures ("MPM"). MPM is a subtotal of income and expenses that a company uses in public communications outside financial statements. IFRS 18 requires disclosure of information for all of the company's MPMs within a single note to the financial statements that includes a description of each MPM, how the measure is calculated and a reconciliation to the most comparable line item in the statement of profit or loss.

The standard also introduces a principle for presentation of information in the primary financial statements versus the financial statement notes including the aggregation and disaggregation of such information.

IFRS 18 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027, and must be applied retrospectively. The Company is assessing the impact of adopting IFRS 18 and although early adoption is permitted, the Company does not anticipate early adoption of this standard.



4. Business combinations

On December 17, 2020, the Company acquired 100% of issued and outstanding shares of Marley Drug, a leading specialty pharmacy serving more than 30,000 customers across the United States for cash consideration of \$7,781, of which \$1,374 was held back and was recorded on the consolidated statements of financial position of the Company as restricted cash with an offsetting liability recorded as a holdback payable to be released in connection with the forgiveness of Marley Drug's loan under the Paycheck Protection Program ("PPP") from the United States Small Business Administration ("SBA") and general representations and warranties one year after the acquisition date. An additional \$504 was recorded as a holdback payable and become payable once all state licenses had effectively been transferred to the Company, net of 90-day adjustments to true-up cash and working capital targets for the transaction.

As well, the purchase agreement included contingent consideration of additional payments to the seller based on the achievement of certain future performance targets of Marley Drug. The first contingent consideration ("One-Year-Payment") is based on a one-year revenue target up to USD\$1.7 million based on Marley Drug's historical revenues. The second contingent consideration ("Earn Out Payments") is based on certain revenue milestone targets over a two-year period within Marley Drug. The contingent consideration period commences on the successful transfer of all licenses, unless it is triggered early by the seller. The One-Year Payment on the date of acquisition was originally recorded within current portion of contingent consideration on the consolidated statements of financial position with an estimated fair value of \$1,922. The Earn Out Payments had been recorded within contingent consideration on the consolidated statements of financial position with an estimated fair value of \$51. The fair value of the contingent consideration was estimated using probability weighted scenarios and a discount rate of 12%.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, neither the One Year Payment or the Earn Out Payments targets were met; as a result, management recognized a gain of \$346 through other income. At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company does not have any balances recorded pertaining to the short-term and long-term contingent consideration payable balance.



5. Accounts receivable

As at December 31	2024	2023
Trade accounts receivable	\$ 5,263	\$ 4,426
Other accounts receivable	35	368
	\$ 5,298	\$ 4,794

As at December 31, 2024, there were three customers with amounts owing greater than 10% of the Company's accounts receivable, which totaled 82% in aggregate (Customer A - 27%, Customer B - 12%, Customer C - 43%).

As at December 31, 2023, there were three customers with amounts owing greater than 10% of the Company's accounts receivable, which totaled 94% in aggregate (Customer A - 32%, Customer B - 16%, Customer C - 46%).

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company did not record any write-offs of accounts receivable (2023 – nil; 2022 – \$218). Write-offs during the year ended December 31, 2022 related to pricing adjustments on sales which were deemed to be uncollectible account receivable balances. The write-off expense during the year ended December 31, 2022, has been included within general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).

6. Inventories

As at December 31	2024	2023
Finished commercial product available for sale	\$ 2,453	\$ 2,048
Finished retail pharmacy product available for sale	396	306
Unfinished product and packaging materials	 433	 546
	\$ 3,282	\$ 2,900

Inventories expensed as part of cost of goods sold during the year ended December 31, 2024, amounted to \$8,400 (2023 – \$7,051; 2022 – \$6,211). During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded a recovery of \$281 in relation to insurance proceeds received by the Company for previously written off inventory, offsetting this recovery, is a \$78 write down of inventory which the Company determined to be expired/unusable. During the year ended December 31, 2023, and 2022, the Company wrote off inventory of \$277 and \$38 respectively, that had expired or was otherwise unusable. All inventory recoveries and write-offs are recorded within cost of goods sold on the consolidated statements of net (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income.



7. Property and equipment

Cost		mputers and uipment	Leaseh improver		_	ht of use		Total
At December 31, 2022	\$	948	\$	183	\$	1,930	\$	3,061
Effect of movements in exchange rates	-	(14)	•	(1)	*	(15)	-	(30)
At December 31, 2023	\$	934	\$	182	\$	1,915	\$	3,031
Additions		-		-		613		613
Effect of movements in exchange rates		53		1		55		109
At December 31, 2024	\$	987	\$	183	\$	2,583	\$	3,753
Accumulated amortization At December 31, 2022 Amortization		mputers and uipment 605	Leaseh improver	173 2	_	ht of use assets 1,096 307	\$	Total 1,874 434
Effect of movements in exchange rates At December 31, 2023	\$	(6) 724	\$	(1)	\$	1,397	\$	2,295
Amortization	Φ	120	J.	2	Ф	316	Ф	438
Effect of movements in exchange rates		33		1		310		65
At December 31, 2024	\$	877	S	177	\$	1,744	\$	2,798
	Ψ		<u> </u>		<u> </u>	1,711	<u> </u>	2,770
Carrying amounts	Compu and equipn	1	Leaseho		_	ht of use		Total
At December 31, 2023	\$	210 \$		8	\$	518	\$	736
At December 31, 2024	\$	110 \$		6	\$	839	\$	955

During the year ended December 31, 2024, amortization of property and equipment totaling \$13 and \$425 (2023 – \$13 and \$421; 2022 – \$13 and \$448) is within selling expenses and general and administrative expenses, respectively, on the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).



8. Intangible assets

Cost At December 31, 2022 Additions Effect of movements in exchange rates At December 31, 2023	Lic \$	enses 1,256 - (29) 1,227	aı	Patents and drug provals 25,996 - (610) 25,386	na	Brand mes and demarks 4,860 - (114) 4,746	\$ \$	139) 5,787	tec.	oftware and hnology 781 270 (20) 1,031	\$ Total 38,819 270 (912) 38,177
Additions			Ė	100			Ė			639	739
Transfer from prepaid expenses										795	795
Effect of movements in exchange rates		107		2,238		417		509		147	3,418
At December 31, 2024	\$	1,334	\$	27,724	\$	5,163	\$	6,296	\$	2,612	\$ 43,129
Accumulated amortization	Lice	nses	an	atents d drug provals	nan	Brand nes and lemarks	Cu	istomer list		ftware and inology	Total
At December 31, 2022	\$	366	\$	21,042	\$	4,441	\$	2,270	\$	76	\$ 28,195
Amortization		178		611		52		735		160	1,736
Effect of movements in exchange rates		(12)		(506)		(105)		(68)		(3)	(694)
At December 31, 2023	\$	532	\$	21,147	\$	4,388	\$	2,937	\$	233	\$ 29,237
Amortization		182		620		53		746		275	1,876
Effect of movements in exchange rates		56		1,890		389		296		31	 2,662
At December 31, 2024	\$	770	\$	23,657	\$	4,830	\$	3,979	\$	539	\$ 33,775
				atents d drug		Brand nes and	C	ustomer	-	oftware and	
Carrying amounts		nses		provals	_	demarks		list		hnology	 Total
At December 31, 2023	\$	695	\$	4,239	\$	358	\$	2,850	\$	798	\$ 8,940
At December 31, 2024	\$	564	\$	4,067	\$	333	\$	2,317	\$	2,073	\$ 9,354

In September 2019 the Company acquired ownership of ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ for the U.S. and Canadian markets. Under terms of the agreement, Zydus received an upfront payment of U.S. \$5,000 (CDN \$6,622) and U.S. \$2,000 (CDN \$2,649) in deferred payments to be paid in equal instalments annually over the next four years, as well as contingent payments on the achievement of milestones and royalties related to net sales. The Company previously had acquired U.S. marketing rights with a profit-sharing arrangement. With this acquisition the Company obtained full control of marketing and pricing negotiation for ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$. Upon completion of the acquisition, \$8,930 was recorded within patents and drug approvals relating to the upfront and deferred payments and \$1,457 was transferred from licenses to patents and drug approvals pertaining to the cost of the previously acquired license over ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$. The initial amortization period pertaining to the ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ intangible assets was 4.3 years. During the year ended December 31, 2021, management applied a prospective change to the amortization period of ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ license to extend the amortization period of the asset by 7 years, consistent with the term of the licensing agreement. The remaining amortization period of the ZYPITAMAG $^{\mathbb{R}}$ license is 6.1 years as at December 31, 2024.



8. Intangible assets (continued)

The Company had determined there were no indicators of impairment as at December 31, 2024.

Intangible assets pertaining to the AGGRASTAT® patent were fully amortized.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company reclassified \$795 from prepaid expenses to intangible assets in connection with the successful implementation of a technology transfer to its contracted manufacturing organization. This transfer enabled the production of the Company's AGGRASTAT® bolus vial at the contracted manufacturing facility. Following this achievement, the Company commenced commercialization of the product manufactured at the new facility during the current year. The Company has elected to amortize this asset over a period of 7 years, with 6.75 years remaining as at December 31, 2024.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, amortization of intangible assets totaling \$620 (2023 - \$611 and 2022 - \$589) is recorded within cost of goods sold pertaining to the ZYPITAMAG[®] intangible assets. In addition, for the year ended December 31, 2024, \$1,269 (2023 - \$1,125 and 2022 - \$1,005) of amortization of intangible assets is recorded within selling expenses as a result of the amortization of the intangible assets pertaining to Marley Drug.

9. Goodwill

	Ret	ail and Mail
		Order
		Pharmacy
At December 31, 2022	\$	3,177
Effects of movements in exchange rates		(75)
At December 31, 2023	\$	3,102
Effects of movements in exchange rates		273
At December 31, 2024	\$	3,375

The Company performed an annual impairment test with respect to the goodwill acquired as part of the Marley Drug acquisition. The recoverable amount of the Retail and Mail Order Pharmacy CGU, in which Marley Drug is included, has been determined based on value in use for the year ended December 31, 2024.

(a) Key assumptions used in valuation calculations

The calculation of value in use for all the CGUs or group of CGUs is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

(i) Discount rate

Discount rates reflect the current market assessment of risks specific to each CGU or group of CGUs. The discount rate was estimated based on the weighted average cost of capital calculated based on the Company's performance relative to its industry. This rate was further adjusted to reflect the market assessment of any risk specific to the CGU or group of CGUs for which future estimates of cash flows have not been adjusted. The discount rate used during the value in use assessment completed at December 31, 2024, was 13.00%.

(ii) Operating margin

Forecasted operating margins are based on actual operating margins, less operational expenses achieved in the preceding years, plus adjustments to normalize the forecast for any non-reoccurring items. Margins are kept constant over the forecast period, with the exception of adjustments made in relation to inflation in future periods, unless management has started an efficiency improvement process.

(iii) Revenue growth rates

Revenue growth rates are based on approved budgets, published research, and current customer contracts. Management considers various factors when assessing revenue growth rates used within their assessment, including, but not limited to, changes in customer demographic and attrition of current customer base. The revenue growth rate used during the value in use assessment completed at December 31, 2024 was approximately 2% on average over the forecast period.



10. Royalty obligation

On July 18, 2011, the Company settled its then-existing long-term debt with BirminghamAssociates Ltd. ("Birmingham"), an affiliate of Elliott Associates L.P., in exchange for i) \$4,750 in cash; ii) 2,176,003 common shares of the Company; and iii) a royalty on future AGGRASTAT® sales until May 1, 2023. The royalty is based on 4% of the first \$2,000 of quarterly AGGRASTAT® sales, 6% on the portion of quarterly sales between \$2,000 and \$4,000 and 8% on the portion of quarterly sales exceeding \$4,000 payable within 60 days of the end of the preceding three-month periods ended February 28, May 31, August 31 and November 30. Birmingham has a one-time option to switch the royalty payment from AGGRASTAT® to a royalty on the sale of MC-1. Management determined there is no value to the option to switch the royalty to MC-1 as the product is not commercially available for sale and due to the extended long-term development timelines associated with commercialization of the product.

In accordance with the terms of the agreement, if the Company were to dispose of its AGGRASTAT [®] rights, the acquirer would be required to assume the obligations under the royalty agreement.

The royalty obligation was recorded at its fair value at the date at which the liability was incurred and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method at each reporting date. On May 1, 2023, the royalty obligation for AGGRASTAT ® concluded, as a result the carrying value for the royalty obligation as at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 was nil. The net change in the royalty obligation for the year ended December 31, 2024 is nil (2023 – recovery of \$37; 2022 – \$169 expense) and is recorded within finance expense (income) on the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). Royalties for the year ended December 31, 2024 totaled nil (2023 – \$105; 2022 – \$506) with no payments made during the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023 – \$256; 2022 – \$1,056).

11. Lease obligations

Effective November 1, 2014, the Company entered into a sub-lease with GVI Clinical Development Solutions ("GVI - CDS"), a related party as described in note 17(b), to lease office space at a rate of \$170 per annum for three years ending October 31, 2017, with an 18-month renewal period available. The lease was amended on May 1, 2016 and increased the leased area covered under the lease agreement at a rate of \$212 per annum until October 31, 2019 with an 18-month renewal period available. The leased area covered under the lease was again increased, effective November 1, 2018, at a rate of \$306 per annum until the end of the term of the lease. Effective November 1, 2019, the Company modified and extended its sub-lease with GVI-CDS to lease a reduced amount of office space at a rate of \$238 per annum for three years ending October 31, 2022 with a 28-month renewal period available. Effective June 1, 2022, the Company modified and extended its sub-lease with GVI-CDS to lease a reduced amount of office space at a rate of \$222 per annum, ending October 31, 2024. Effective September 4, 2024, the Company modified and extended its sub-lease with GVI-CDS to lease the same amount of office space at a rate of \$222 per annum, ending October 31, 2027. The discount rate used by the Company in calculating the right-of-use asset is 6%.

In connection with the acquisition of Marley Drug, the Company acquired a lease obligation and corresponding right-of-use asset. The lease is for Marley Drug's 3,280 square foot retail space. The original lease was signed in May of 2006 for a period of ten years with two five-year extension periods. An addendum to the lease allowed for the first extension which was used starting April 1, 2017, with the second five-year extension available for an additional five years to April 2027. The current rate in the lease is \$87 per annum. The discount rate used by the Company in calculating the lease obligation relating to the right-of-use asset is 3%. Effective June 1, 2022, the Company renewed its lease for Marley Drug at a rate of \$97 per annum for a period of five years. The discount rate used by the Company in calculating the lease obligation relating to the right-of-use asset was 5% as part of the lease modification.

Lease Hability			\$	874	\$	544
Lease liability			Φ.	054	Φ	544
Non-current	4.00 - 6.00	2025 - 2027		506		229
Current	4.00 - 6.00	2024	\$	368	\$	315
	rate %	Maturity		2024		2023
	borrowing					
	Incremental					

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company paid a total of \$370 (2023 - \$353) in lease payments, resulting from the lease obligations indicated above.



12. Capital stock

(a) Authorized

The Company has authorized share capital of an unlimited number of common voting shares, an unlimited number of Class A common shares and an unlimited number of preferred shares. The preferred shares may be issued in one or more series, and the directors may fix, prior to each series issued, the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to each series of preferred shares.

(b) Shares issued and outstanding

Shares issued and outstanding are as follows:

	Number of	
	common	
	shares	Amount
Balance, December 31, 2022	10,251,313	\$ 80,917
Balance, December 31, 2023 ⁽¹⁾	10,436,313	\$ 81,014
Balance, December 31, 2024	10,436,313	\$ 81,014

⁽¹⁾ During the year ended December 31, 2023, 185,000 previously granted stock options were exercised. Each stock option entitled the option holder to one common share of the Company.

(c) Stock option plan

The Company has a stock option plan that is administered by the Board of Directors of the Company, with stock options granted to directors, management, employees and consultants as a form of compensation. The number of common shares reserved for issuance of stock options is limited to a maximum of 2,934,403 common shares of the Company at any time. The stock options generally have a maximum term of between five and ten years and vest within a five-year period from the date of grant.

Changes in the number of options outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2024 is as follows:

		Weighted average exercise
Year ended December 31, 2024	Options	price
Balance, beginning of year	1,477,700	\$ 1.72
Forfeited, cancelled or expired	(240,000)	(4.02)
Balance, end of year	1,237,700	\$ 1.27
Options exercisable, end of year	385,700	\$ 1.31

Changes in the number of options outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022 are as follows:

Year ended December 31			2023			2022		
		Weighted			Weighte			
			average			average		
			exercise			exercise		
	Options		price	Options		price		
Balance, beginning of period	638,400	\$	3.05	807,150	\$	3.73		
Granted	1,205,000		1.25	20,000		1.20		
Exercised	(185,000)		0.30	-				
Forfeited, cancelled or expired	(180,700)		(4.76)	(188,750)		(5.77)		
Balance, end of period	1,477,700	\$	1.72	638,400	\$	3.05		
Options exercisable, end of period	332,700	\$	3.32	602,400	\$	2.93		



12. Capital stock (continued)

(c) Stock option plan (continued)

Options outstanding at December 31, 2024 consist of the following:

		Weighted	Options	
		average	outstanding	
		remaining	weighted	
Range of	Number	contractual	average	Number
exercise prices	outs tanding	life	exercise price	exercisable
\$ 1.10	60,000	1.58 years	\$ 1.10	60,000
\$1.11 - \$1.50	1,125,000	7.99 years	\$ 1.25	273,000
\$1.51 - \$2.00	52,700	0.23 years	\$ 1.90	52,700
\$1.10 - \$2.00	1,237,700	7.35 years	\$ 1.27	385,700

Compensation expense related to stock options granted during the year or from previous periods under the stock option plan for the year ended December 31, 2024 is \$196 (2023 – \$288; 2022 – \$47). The compensation expense was determined based on the fair value of the options at the date of measurement using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The expected life of stock options is based on historical data and current expectations and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility over a period similar to the life of the options is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the actual outcome.

The compensation expense for the options granted during the years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022 was determined based on the fair value of the options at the date of measurement using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the inputs detailed below:

Years ended December 31:	2023	2022
Expected option life	4.6 years	4.6 years
Risk-free interest rate	2.99%	2.63%
Dividend yield	nil	nil
Expected volatility	60.92%	73.85%

There were no options granted by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2024.

(d) Per share amounts

The following table reflects the calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Year ended December 31	2024	2023	2022
Basic net income (loss) per share	\$ (0.10)	\$ (0.09)	\$ 0.133
Diluted income (loss) per share	\$ (0.10)	\$ (0.09)	\$ 0.131

The following table reflects the loss used in the basic and diluted loss per share computations for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Year ended December 31	2024	2023	2022
Net profit (loss)	\$ (1,039)	\$ (922)	\$ 1,365



12. Capital stock (continued)

(d) Per share amounts (continued)

The following table reflects the share data used in the denominator of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share computations for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Year ended December 31	2024	2023	2022
Weighted average shares outstanding for basic earnings (loss) per share	10,436,313	10,436,313	10,251,313
Weighted average shares outstanding for diluted earnings (loss) per share	10,436,313	10,436,313	10,436,313

Effects of dilution from nil stock options (2023 – 1,225,000; 2022 – 453,400) were excluded in the calculation of weighted average shares outstanding for diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2024 as they are anti-dilutive.

13. Income taxes

The Company recorded income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2024 totaling \$256 (2023 – \$25; 2022 – \$20) and did not recognize any deferred income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023 – nil).

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, deferred tax assets have not been recognized with respect to the following timing differences. The scientific research and experimental development deferred tax assets expire between 2025 and 2028.

As at December 31	2024	2023
Deferred tax assets		
Scientific research and experimental development	\$ 3,358	\$ 3,358
Non-capital losses	3,760	3,308
Other	1,226	430
Total deferred tax assets	\$ 8,344	\$ 7,096

The reconciliation of the Canadian statutory rate to the income tax rate applied to the net profit (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 to the income tax expense is as follows:

Year ended December 31	2024	2023	2022
Profit (loss) for the year			
Canadian	\$ (1,519)	\$ (1,654)	\$ (1,217)
Foreign	480	 732	2,602
	\$ (1,039)	\$ (922)	\$ 1,385
Year ended December 31	2024	2023	2022
Canadian federal and provincial income taxes at 27% (2023 – 27%; 2022 – 27%)	\$ 281	\$ 249	\$ (374)
Permanent differences and other items	(342)	197	249
Deferred tax asset adjustments	(1,601)	(318)	125
Foreign tax rate in foreign jurisdictions	159	94	390
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets	 1,247	(247)	(410)
(Expense) recovery	\$ (256)	\$ (25)	\$ (20)



13. Income taxes (continued)

The foreign tax rate differential is the difference between the Canadian federal and provincial statutory income tax rate and the tax rates in Barbados (5.50%), Ireland (12.50%) and the United States (21.00% - 23.50%) that is applicable to income or losses incurred by the Company's subsidiaries.

At December 31, 2024, the Company has the following Canadian losses available for application in future years:

2037	\$ 5,276
2040 2041	2,774
2041	983
2042	1,664
2043	491
2044	1,724
	\$ 12,912

At December 31, 2024, the Company has the following Barbados losses available for application in future years:

2028	\$ 700
2029	4,273
	\$ 4,973

As at December 31, 2024, the Company has \$95 (2023 - \$16) included as income taxes payable on its consolidated statements of financial position.

14. Finance income (expense)

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 the Company earned finance income (incurred finance expense) as follows:

Year ended December 31	2024	2023	3	2022
Interest income	\$ 206	\$ 75	\$	10
Remeasurement of royalty obligation	-	- 37	7	(169)
Accretion of acquisition payable	-	•	•	(44)
Bank charges and other interest	(31	(27	7)	(26)
Finance expense from lease obligation	(10	(20))	23
	\$ 165	\$ 65	\$	(206)

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company received (paid) finance income (expense) as follows:

Year ended December 31	2024	2023	2022
Interest received	\$ 206	\$ 75	\$ 10
Other interest, net and banking fees	(31)	(27)	(26)
	\$ 175	\$ 48	\$ (16)



15. Commitments and contingencies

(a) Commitments

As at December 31, 2024, and in the normal course of business, the Company has obligations to make future payments representing contracts and other commitments that are known and committed as follows:

2025	<u>§</u>	' ' ' ' ' '	10
2026		59) 3
2027		26	51
	\$	3,56	54

The Company has entered into a manufacturing and supply agreement to purchase a minimum quantity of AGGRASTAT $^{\circledR}$ unfinished product inventory totaling US\$150 annually (based on current pricing) until 2024 and a minimum quantity of AGGRASTAT $^{\circledR}$ finished product inventory totaling €490 annually, based on current pricing. As at December 31, 2024, the Company had committed to acquiring €1,047 of AGGRASTAT $^{\circledR}$ finished product inventory, which is scheduled to be received by the Company throughout 2025.

During the year ended December 31, 2024 the Company renewed its business and administration services agreement with GVI - CDS, as described in note 16(b), under which the Company is committed to pay \$7 per month or \$85 per year for a one-year term.

Contracts with contract research organizations are payable over the terms of the associated agreements and clinical trials, and timing of payments is largely dependent on various milestones being met, such as the number of patients recruited, number of monitoring visits conducted, the completion of certain data management activities, trial completion, and other trial-related activities.

(b) Guarantees

The Company periodically enters into research agreements with third parties that include indemnification provisions customary in the industry. These guarantees generally require the Company to compensate the other party for certain damages and costs incurred as a result of claims arising from research and development activities undertaken on behalf of the Company. In some cases, the maximum potential amount of future payments that could be required under these indemnification provisions could be unlimited. These indemnification provisions generally survive termination of the underlying agreement. The nature of the indemnification obligations prevents the Company from making a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount it could be required to pay. Historically, the Company has not made any indemnification payments under such agreements and no amount has been accrued in the consolidated financial statements with respect to these indemnification obligations.

(c) Royalties

As a part of the Birmingham debt settlement described in note 10, beginning on July 18, 2011, the Company is obligated to pay a royalty to Birmingham based on future commercial AGGRASTAT [®] sales until 2023. The royalty is based on 4% of the first \$2,000 of quarterly AGGRASTAT [®] sales, 6% on the portion of quarterly sales between \$2,000 and \$4,000 and 8% on the portion of quarterly sales exceeding \$4,000 payable within 60 days of the end of the preceding three-month periods ended February 28, May 31, August 31 and November 30. Birmingham has a one-time option to switch the royalty payment from AGGRASTAT [®] to a royalty on the sale of MC-1. Management has determined there is no value to the option to switch the royalty to MC-1 as the product is not commercially available for sale and due to the extended long-term development timeline associated with commercialization of the product. On May 1, 2023, the royalty obligation for AGGRASTAT [®] concluded, as a result, the Company does not have any royalty obligation recorded with regards to AGGRASTAT [®]. Royalties for the year ended December 31, 2024 totaled nil (2023 – \$105; 2022 – \$506) with payments made during the year ended December 31, 2024 of nil (2023 – \$256; 2022 – \$1,056).



15. Commitments and contingencies (continued)

(c) Royalties (continued)

With the acquisition of ZYPITAMAG[®] (note 8), completed on September 30, 2019, the Company was obligated to pay royalties to Zydus on net sales of ZYPITAMAG[®] until a generic pitavastatin had been introduced within the territory in which the product is sold. During the year ended December 31, 2023, management of the Company had determined that a generic pitavastatin had been introduced within a territory in which the Company had the rights to sell ZYPITAMAG[®]. As a result, the Company did not record any royalties expense during the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023 – recovery of \$234, 2022 - \$151). The recovery of royalties and royalty expense in 2023 and 2022 respectively, are recorded within cost of goods sold on the consolidated statement of net income (loss) and consolidated income (loss). As at December 31, 2024, the Company does not have any amounts (2023 - nil) included within accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial position.

(d) Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Company may from time to time be subject to various claims or possible claims. Although management currently believes there are no claims or possible claims that if resolved would either individually or collectively result in a material adverse impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations, or cash flows, these matters are inherently uncertain and management's view of these matters may change in the future.

Legal Settlement

On September 30, 2024, the Company entered into a legal settlement with its contracted development and manufacturing organization ("CDMO") resulting in the Company agreeing to receive ϵ 1,500 (\$CAD 2,261) as part of a settlement for a breach of contract. As a part of the settlement, no future legal claims are to be placed on either party, and the terms of the agreement are to remain confidential.

Included within the settlement amount was \$401 for unfinished inventory which had been previously invoiced by the Company to the CDMO, with the remaining \$1,860 recognized through other income on the consolidated statement of net loss and comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31, 2024.

As at December 31, 2024, the Company has identified the following potential contingent liability:

Telephone Consumer Protection Act ("TCPA) Litigation

A class action complaint was filed in Missouri state court against the Company's subsidiary, with regards to an unsolicited fax advertisement which has been claimed to be in violation of the federal TCPA legislation. This lawsuit was voluntarily dismissed on April 18, 2024.

On March 4, 2024 a class action complaint was filed in the Northern District Court of Ohio against the Company's subsidiary, with regards to an unsolicited fax advertisement which has been claimed to be in violation of the federal TCPA legislation. At this time, the Company is unable to assess the potential outcome of this litigation, and as a result, has not recorded any provisions for this potential liability as at December 31, 2024.

16. Related party transactions

(a) Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company. The Board of Directors, President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are key management personnel for all periods.

In addition to their salaries, the Company also provides non-cash benefits and participation in the Stock Option Plan. The following table details the compensation paid to key management personnel:

Year ended December 31	2024	2023	2022
Salaries, fees and short-termbenefits	\$ 726	\$ 633	\$ 595
Share-based payments	112	164	38
	\$ 838	\$ 797	\$ 633

As at December 31, 2024, there were no amounts payable to members of the Company's Board of Directors (2023 – \$10) recorded within accounts payable and accrued liabilities.



16. Related party transactions (continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties

Directors and key management personnel control 27% of the voting shares of the Company as at December 31, 2024 (2023 - 28%).

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company paid GVI-CDS, a company controlled by the Chief Executive Officer, a total of \$85 (2023 – \$85; 2022 – \$85) for business administration services, \$222 (2023 – \$222; 2022 – \$229) in rental costs, \$44 (2023 – \$36; 2022 – \$34) for information technology support services, and \$439 (2023 – \$318; 2022 – \$254) for clinical research services. As described in note 16(a), the business administration services summarized above are provided to the Company through a consulting agreement with GVI-CDS.

Research and development services are provided through a consulting agreement with CanAm Bioresearch Inc. ("CanAm"), a company controlled by the Chief Executive Officer. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company paid CanAm \$5 (2023 – \$7; 2022 – \$4) for research and development services.

On June 24, 2024, the Company announced that it had signed an asset purchase agreement with CanAm for the acquisition of the patent and intellectual property related to all of the assets of CanAm as they relate to the business of developing pyridoxal 5'-phosphate analogues ("P5P Analogues"). In exchange for these assets, Medicure is to provide consideration of \$100 upon closing of the transaction, which is subject to regulatory approval, in addition to \$500 upon the Company filing its first investigational new drug application, \$250 upon the Company filing its first New Drug Application and \$500 upon the Company obtaining NDA approval for the P5P Analogues. In addition, Medicure shall pay to CanAm 10% of net proceeds received with respect to transactions relating to the Assets, including: (i) the sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the Assets to a third party purchaser who is not an affiliate of Medicure; (ii) any license to develop, commercialize, use, offer for sale, sell, import, export or exploit P5P Analogues up to a maximum value payable to CanAm of \$20,000 and (iii) the sale of an United State Food and Drug Administration priority review voucher obtained in connection with the development of P5P Analogues.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has paid CanAm\$100 in consideration, upon closing of the transaction, consistent with the terms of the agreement. The Company has recorded a corresponding intangible asset in relation to this payment.

These transactions have been measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

As at December 31, 2024, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is \$32 (2023 - \$57) payable to GVI-CDS.

Effective October 1, 2021, the Company signed a consulting agreement with its Chief Executive Officer, through ADF Family Holding Corp., a company owned by the Chief Executive Officer, for a term of 36 months, at a rate of \$18 per month, increasing to \$22 per month effective January 1, 2024. The aforementioned monthly fee shall be reviewed annually on January 1 by the Board of Directors of the Company for each succeeding year during the term of the agreement and may be adjusted at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors. The Company may terminate the agreement at any time upon 120 days' written notice. As at December 31, 2024, there are no outstanding amounts (2023 - nil) payable to ADF Family Holding Corp. as a result of this consulting agreement.

Effective June 1, 2022, the Company signed a consulting agreement with its Chief Financial Officer, through 10055098 Manitoba Ltd., a company owned by the Chief Financial Officer. Effective March 1, 2023, the rate was changed to \$10 per month, increasing to \$11 per month effective January 1, 2024, and subsequently increasing to \$13 per month effective May 01, 2024. The aforementioned fee shall be reviewed annually on January 1. The Company can terminate the agreement with 30 days' written notice; otherwise, the agreement has an indefinite term. As at December 31, 2024, there were no amounts payable to 10055098 Manitoba Ltd. (December 31, 2023 - nil).



17. Expenses by nature

Expenses incurred for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Year ended December 31	2024	2023	2022
Personnel expenses	 		
Salaries, fees and short-term benefits	\$ 3,957	\$ 4,170	\$ 4,969
Share-based payments	196	288	47
	4,153	4,458	5,016
Amortization	2,307	2,170	2,057
Research and development	2,870	2,101	2,278
Manufacturing	160	261	163
Inventory material costs	8,400	7,051	6,211
Write-down (recovery)of inventory	(203)	277	38
Medical affairs	65	27	117
Administration	962	554	1,375
Selling and logistics	4,727	4,961	3,931
Professional fees	1,203	688	686
	\$ 24,644	\$ 22,548	\$ 21,872

18. Financial instruments

(a) Financial assets and liabilities

The Company has determined the estimated fair values of its financial instruments based on appropriate valuation methodologies. The carrying values of current monetary assets and liabilities approximate their fair values due to their relatively short periods to maturity.

The investment in Sensible Medical is carried at FVOCI and has a carrying value as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 of one dollar.

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, establishes a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in measuring fair value. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

- Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
- Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable;
- Level 3 Unobservable inputs in which little or no market activity exists, thereby requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions about the
 assumptions that market participants would use in pricing.

There were no financial assets or liabilities measured at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024 or December 31, 2023.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements.



18. Financial instruments (continued)

(b) Risks arising from financial instruments and risk management

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange and interest rate risks), credit risk and liquidity risk. Risk management is the responsibility of the Company, which identifies, evaluates and, where appropriate, mitigates financial risks.

(i) Market risk

(a) Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows for financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company is exposed to currency risks primarily due to its U.S. dollar denominated cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, income taxes payable, royalty obligation, acquisition payable, contingent consideration and lease obligation. The Company has not entered into any foreign exchange hedging contracts.

The Company is exposed to U.S. dollar currency risk through the following U.S. denominated financial assets and liabilities:

As	at I	Decem	ber	3	
----	------	--------------	-----	---	--

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)	2024	2023
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 4,882	\$ 4,786
Accounts receivable	3,658	3,567
Other assets	68	57
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(4,662)	(4,876)
Income taxes payable	(66)	(12)
Current portion of lease obligation	(103)	(101)
Lease obligation	(100)	(173)
	\$ 3,677	\$ 3,248

Based on the above net exposures as at December 31, 2024, assuming that all other variables remain constant, a 5% appreciation or deterioration of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar would result in a corresponding increase or decrease, respectively, on the Company's net loss of approximately \$184 (2023 – \$162).

(b) Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Based on the Company's exposures as at December 31, 2024, as a result of the balance of cash and cash equivalents held by the Company, assuming that all other variables remain constant, a 1% appreciation or deterioration in interest rates would result in a corresponding decrease or increase, respectively on the Company's net loss of approximately \$72 (2023 - \$64).

(ii) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a partner or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligation and arises principally from the Company's cash and accounts receivable. The carrying amounts of the financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

The Company limits its exposure to credit risk on cash by placing these financial instruments with high-credit quality financial institutions.

The Company is subject to a concentration of credit risk related to its accounts receivable as 82% of the balance of amounts owing are from three customers. The Company has historically had low impairment in regards to its accounts receivable. As at December 31, 2024, none of the outstanding accounts receivable were outside of the normal payment terms. The Company did not record any write-offs during the year ended December 31, 2024 or 2023 (2022 – \$218). As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the expected credit lifetime credit losses for accounts receivable aged as current were nominal amounts. The Company considers a financial asset in default when internal or external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.



18. Financial instruments (continued)

(b) Risks arising from financial instruments and risk management (continued)

(iii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecasted and actual cash flows, as well as anticipated investing and financing activities, and to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities and commitments when due and to fund future operations.

The majority of the Company's accounts payable and accrued liabilities are due within the current operating period.

(c) Capital management

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company, in order to continue the business of the Company. The Company, upon approval from its Board of Directors, will balance its overall capital structure through new share and warrant issuances, granting of stock options, the issuance of debt or by undertaking other activities as deemed appropriate under the specific circumstance. The Board of Directors does not establish a quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company's management to sustain future development of the business.

The Company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide capital to pursue the development and commercialization of its products. In the management of capital, the Company includes cash, capital stock, stock options and contributed surplus. The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue new shares or new debt.

At the current stage of the Company's development, in order to maximize its current business activities, the Company does not pay out dividends. Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.

The Company's overall strategy with respect to capital risk management remains unchanged for the year ended December 31, 2024.

19. Determination of fair values

A number of the Company's accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following models. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

(a) Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of the employee share options is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Measurement inputs include share price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average historical volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available information), weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical experience and general option holder behavior), expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value.

(b) Royalty obligation

The royalty obligation is recorded at its fair value at the date at which the liability was incurred and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method at each reporting date. Estimating fair value for this liability requires determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on its underlying terms and conditions. This estimate also requires determining expected revenue from ACGRASTAT [®] sales and an appropriate discount rate and making assumptions about them. As at December 31, 2024, there is no royalty obligation recorded on the Company's balance sheet, as the royalty obligation concluded on May 1, 2023.



20. Segmented information

The Company operates under two segments, the marketing and distribution of commercial products and the operation of a retail and mail order pharmacy.

Revenue generated from external customers for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was 100% from sales to customers in the United States.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, 100% of total revenue from the marketing and distribution of commercial products was generated from eight customers. Customer A accounted for 29%, Customer B accounted for 18%, Customer C accounted for 49% and the remaining five customers accounted for approximately 4% of revenue.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, 100% of total revenue from the marketing and distribution of commercial products was generated from seven customers. Customer A accounted for 32%, Customer B accounted for 18%, Customer C accounted for 46% and the remaining four customers accounted for approximately 4% of revenue.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, 100% of total revenue from the marketing and distribution of commercial products was generated from ten customers. Customer A accounted for 38%, Customer B accounted for 19%, Customer C accounted for 38% and the remaining seven customers accounted for approximately 5% of revenue.

The Company's property and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill are located in the following countries:

As at December 31	2024	2023
Canada	\$ 578	\$ 175
United States	9,038	8,364
Barbados	4,068	4,239
	\$ 13,684	\$ 12,778

The financial measures reviewed by the Company's chief operating decision maker are presented separately for the year ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023:

For the year ended December 31, 2024	Marketing and Distribution of Commercial Products	Retail and Mail Order Pharmacy	Total
Revenue	\$ 11,076	\$ 10,831	\$ 21,907
Cost of goods sold	(3,886)	(4,932)	(8,818)
Operating expenses	(12,325)	(3,501)	(15,826)
Other income	1,860	-	1,860
Finance income (expense), net	(19)	184	165
Foreign exchange loss	(71)		(71)
Loss before income taxes	\$ (3,365)	\$ 2,582	\$ (783)



20. Segmented information (continued)

	Marketi	ng and			
	Distribu	ition of	Retail	and Mail	
	Comm	ercial	O	rder	
For the year ended December 31, 2023	Prod	ucts	Pha	rmacy	Total
Revenue	\$	12,118	\$	9,576	\$ 21,694
Cost of goods sold		(3,959)		(3,746)	(7,705)
Operating expenses		(9,903)		(4,940)	(14,843)
Finance income (expense), net		11		54	65
Foreign exchange gain		(108)		-	(108)
Profit before income taxes	\$	(1,841)	\$	944	\$ (897)

21. Subsequent Events

Acquisition of Gateway Medical Pharmacy Inc.

Subsequent to year- end, on March 11, 2025, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Cateway Medical Pharmacy Inc. ("Cateway Pharmacy"), an independent retail pharmacy located in Portland, Oregon, in exchange for total consideration of \$580,000 USD. Cateway Pharmacy is located within a high traffic medical office building, which also contains multiple healthcare clinics and centers. In addition to servicing regular retail customers, Cateway Pharmacy also services multiple long-term care facilities and provides non-sterile compounding services. The acquisition of Cateway Pharmacy is expected to help enhance the retail pharmacy operating segment of the Company, and is expected to increase annual net revenue by approximately \$3 million, however due to the complexity of integrating the pharmacy into its current operations, a precise estimate of the overall financial impact cannot be made at this time.

Signing of West Olympia Pharmacy, PLLC Purchase Agreement

Subsequent to year-end, on April 10, 2025, the Company signed an agreement to acquire 100% membership interest of West Olympia Pharmacy, PLLC ("West Olympia Pharmacy"), an independent retail pharmacy located in West Olympia, Washington, in exchange for total consideration of \$975,000 USD. Upon signing of the agreement, \$50,000 USD was paid by the Company to the seller, with \$865,000 USD to be paid to the seller upon closing of the transaction. The closing of the agreement is contingent upon the successful transfer of the seller's licenses to the Company. Upon completion of this transfer, the Company will assume the associated risks and rewards of ownership related to the acquisition. Twelve months following the transaction's closing date, the Company is obligated to pay the seller an additional \$60,000 USD, subject to reduction by any liabilities settled by the Company on the seller's behalf.

F-41

Table of Contents

ITEM 19. EXHIBITS

Number	Exhibit
1.	Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws:
1.1	Medicure's Articles of Incorporation dated September 15, 1997 [1]
1.2	Lariat's Articles of Incorporation dated June 3, 1997 [1]
1.3	Medicure's Certificate of Continuance from Manitoba to Alberta dated December 3, 1999 [1]
1.4	Certificate of Amalgamation for Medicure and Lariat dated December 22, 1999 [1]
1.5	Medicure's Certificate of Continuance from Alberta to Canada dated February 23, 2000 [1]
<u>1.6</u>	Amended Certificate of Continuance and Articles of Continuance dated February 20, 2003 [3]
<u>1.7</u>	Certificate of Amendment dated November 1, 2012 [10]
<u>1.8</u>	Bylaw No. 1A [10]
<u>1.9</u>	Bylaw No. 2 [8]
4.	Material Contracts and Agreements:
4.1	Transfer Agency Agreement between Montreal Trust Company of Canada and the Company dated as of January 26, 2000, whereby Montreal Trust Company of Canada agreed to act as transfer agent and registrar with respect to the Shares [1]
4.2	Medicure International Licensing Agreement between the Company and Medicure International Inc. dated June 1, 2000, wherein the Company granted

	Medicure International, Inc. a license with regard to certain intellectual property [1]
4.3	Development Agreement between Medicure International, Inc. and CanAm Bioresearch Inc. dated June 1, 2000, wherein CanAm Bioresearch Inc. agreed to conduct research and development activities for Medicure International, Inc. [1]
4.4	Amendment to the Consulting Services Agreement dated February 1, 2002 between A.D. Friesen Enterprises Ltd. and the Company whereby
4.4	consulting services will be provided to the Company by Dr. Albert D. Friesen [2]
4.5	Stock Option Plan approved February 4, 2002 [3]
4.5	Amendment dated March 1, 2002 to the Development Agreement between Medicure International, Inc. and CanAm Bioresearch Inc. [5]
<u>4.7</u>	Amendment dated August 7, 2003 to the Development Agreement between Medicure International, Inc. and CanAm Bioresearch Inc. [3]
<u>4.8</u>	Amendment to the Consulting Services Agreement dated October 1, 2003 between A.D. Friesen Enterprises Ltd. and the Company whereby consulting services will be provided to the Company by Dr. Albert D. Friesen [4]
4.9	Employment Agreement with Dawson Reimer dated October 1, 2001 [4]
	99

Table of Contents

<u>4.10</u>	Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 5, 2005 between A.D. Friesen Enterprises Ltd. and the Company [5]
<u>4.11</u>	Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 5, 2005 between Dawson Reimer and the Company [5]
<u>4.12</u>	Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 5, 2005 between Derek Reimer and the Company [5]
<u>4.13</u>	Amendment dated July 8, 2005 to the Development Agreement between Medicure International, Inc. and CanAm Bioresearch Inc. [5]
<u>4.14</u>	Amendment to Employment Agreement dated October 1, 2005 between A.D. Friesen Enterprises Ltd. and the Company [6]
<u>4.15</u>	Amendment to Development Agreement dated June 1, 2000 between CanAm Bioresearch Inc. and Medicure International, Inc. dated July 4, 2006 [6]
<u>4.16</u>	Amended Stock Option Plan approved October 25, 2005 [6]
<u>4.17</u>	Amendment to Employment Agreement dated October 1, 2006 between A.D. Friesen Enterprises Ltd. and the Company [7]
<u>4.18</u>	Amended License Agreement between Medicure and the University of Manitoba dated November 24, 2006, originally dated August 30, 1999, wherein
	the University of Manitoba granted to Medicure an exclusive license with regard to certain intellectual property (the "U of M Licensing Agreement" [7]
<u>4.19</u>	Amendment to Employment Agreement dated October 1, 2007 between A.D. Friesen Enterprises Ltd. and the Company [8]
<u>4.20</u>	Amended Stock Option Plan approved October 2, 2007 [9]
<u>4.21</u>	Employment Agreement with Dwayne Henley June 10, 2008 [8]
<u>4.22</u>	Debt financing agreement between Birmingham Associates Ltd. and the Company dated September 17, 2007 [8]
4.23	Stock Option Plan amended and restated as of November 30, 2012 [12]
	Stock Option Plan amended and restated as of November 4, 2014 [10]
<u>4.24</u>	
4.25	Stock Option Plan amended and restated as of June 22, 2016 [11]
<u>8.1</u>	List of Significant Subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entity *
<u>11.1</u>	Code of Ethics [4]
11.2	Insider Trading Policy*
	Certification of CEO pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 *
<u>12.1</u>	
<u>12.2</u>	Certification of CFO pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 *
<u>13.1</u>	Certification of CEO and CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 **
<u>23.1</u>	Consents of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm*
<u>97.1</u>	Medicure Inc Clawback Policy*
	100

Table of Contents

Notes:

- [1] Herein incorporated by reference as previously included in the Company's Form 20-F registration statement filed on January 30, 2001.
- [2] Herein incorporated by reference as previously included in the Company's Form 20-F annual report filed on December 31, 2002.
- [3] Herein incorporated by reference as previously included in the Company's Form 20-F annual report filed on October 20, 2003.
- [4] Herein incorporated by reference as previously included in the Company's Form 20-F annual report filed on September 15, 2004.
- [5] Herein incorporated by reference as previously included in the Company's Form 20-F annual report filed on August 24, 2005.
- [6] Herein incorporated by reference as previously included in the Company's Form 20-F annual report filed on August 16, 2006.
- [7] Herein incorporated by reference as previously included in the Company's Form 20-F annual report filed on August 27, 2007.
- [8] Herein incorporated by reference as previously included in the Company's Form 20-F annual report filed on August 29, 2008.
- [9] Herein incorporated by reference as previously included in the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed on October 9, 2007 (SEC File No. 333-146574).
- [10] Herein incorporated by reference as previously included in the Company's Form 20-F annual report filed on April 14, 2015.
- [11] Herein incorporated by reference as previously included in the Company's Form 20-F annual report filed on March 31, 2016.
- [12] Herein incorporated by reference as previously included in the Company's Form 20-F annual report filed on May 1, 2018.
- * Filed herewith
- ** Furnished herewith

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and has duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: April 25, 2025

ON BEHALF OF THE CORPORATION, MEDICURE INC.
per:
/s/ Albert D. Friesen
Albert D. Friesen, Ph.D.
Chairman, & CEO

EXHIBIT 8.1 – LIST OF SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES AND CONSOLIDATED AFFILIATED ENTITY

LIST OF SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES AND CONSOLIDATED AFFILIATED ENTITIES

Significant Subsidiaries

Name of Company	Jurisdiction of Incorporation	Percentage of Equity Owned
Medicure International, Inc.	Barbados	100%
Medicure Pharma Inc.	United States (Delaware)	100%
Marley Drug, Inc.	United States (North Carolina)	100%
Medicure Pharma Europe Ltd	Ireland	100%

All significant subsidiaries do business under their respective legal names.

INSIDER TRADING POLICY

Medicure Inc. - Insider Trading Policy

This policy determines acceptable transactions in the securities of Medicure Inc. (the "*Company*") by our employees, directors and consultants. During the course of your employment, directorship or consultancy with the Company, you may receive important information that is not yet publicly available ("*inside information*"), about the Company or about other publicly-traded companies with which the Company has business dealings. Because of your access to this inside information, you may be in a position to profit financially by buying or selling, or in some other way dealing, in the Company's stock, or stock of another publicly-traded company, or to disclose such information to a third party who does so profit from the inside information you provided ("*tip provider*").

Securities Transactions

Use of inside information by someone for personal gain, or to pass on, or "tip," the inside information to someone who uses it for personal gain, is illegal, regardless of the quantity of shares, and is therefore prohibited. You can be held liable both for your own transactions and for transactions effected by a tip provider, or even a tip provider who obtained the information from another tip provider. Furthermore, it is important that the appearance of insider trading in securities be avoided. The only exception is that transactions directly with the Company, *e.g.*, option exercises for cash or purchases under an employee stock purchase plan, are permitted. However, the subsequent sale (including the sale of shares in a cashless exercise program) or other disposition of such stock is fully subject to these restrictions.

Inside Information

As a practical matter, it is sometimes difficult to determine whether you possess inside information. The key to determining whether non-public information you possess about a public company is inside information is whether dissemination of the information would likely affect the market price of the company's stock or would likely be considered important, or "material," by investors who are considering trading in that company's stock. Certainly, if the information makes you want to trade, it would probably have the same effect on others. Remember, both positive and negative information can be material. If you possess inside information, you may not trade in a company's stock, advise anyone else to do so or communicate the information to anyone else until you know that the information has been publicly disseminated. This means that in some circumstances, you may have to forego a proposed transaction in a company's securities even if you planned to execute the transaction prior to learning of the inside information and even though you believe you may suffer an economic loss or sacrifice an anticipated profit by waiting. "Trading" includes engaging in short sales, transactions in put or call options, hedging transactions and other inherently speculative transactions.

Inside information can be either positive or negative information.

Although by no means an all-inclusive list, information about the following items may be considered to be inside information until it is publicly disseminated:

- financial results or forecasts (including a material change in anticipated earnings);
- confirming or updating previous disclosures or analysts' reports;
- major product or technological developments;
- results of pre-clinical studies and clinical trials of the Company's product candidates;
- major contract awards or cancellations;
- mergers and acquisitions activity, including acquisitions or dispositions of assets;

- pending public or private sales of debt or equity securities;
- strategic plans;
- declaration of stock splits, dividends or changes in dividend policy;
- top management or control changes;
- possible tender offers or proxy fights;
- significant write-offs;
- significant litigation or settlements;
- impending bankruptcy and/or loan defaults
- gain or loss of a significant license agreement or other contracts with customers or suppliers;
- pricing changes or discount policies;
- the gain or loss of significant customers, suppliers or business partners;
- corporate partner relationships or joint venture developments; and
- governmental actions or regulations.

For information to be considered publicly disseminated, it must be widely disclosed through a press release or SEC filing, and a sufficient amount of time must have passed to allow the information to be fully disclosed. Generally speaking, information will be considered publicly disseminated after two full trading days have elapsed since the date of public disclosure of the information. For example, if an announcement of inside information of which you were aware was made *prior* to trading on Wednesday, then you may execute a transaction in the Company's securities on Friday.

Stock Trading by Directors, Officers and Other Employees

We require directors, officers and other employees to do more than refrain from insider trading. We require that they limit their transactions in the Company's stock to defined time periods following public dissemination of quarterly, interim and annual financial results and notify, and in some instances receive approval from an Executive Officer prior to engaging in transactions in the Company's stock and observe other restrictions designed to minimize the risk of apparent or actual insider trading.

The Company has appointed its Chief Financial Officer as the Company's Insider Trading Compliance Officer (the "Compliance Officer").

Covered Insiders

The provisions outlined in this Insider Trading policy apply to all directors, officers and employees of the Company. Generally, any entities or family members of those individuals whose trading activities are controlled or influenced by any of such persons should be considered to be subject to the same restrictions.

Window Period

Generally, directors, officers and other employees may buy or sell securities of the Company only during a "window period" that opens after two full trading days have elapsed after the public dissemination of the Company's annual, interim or quarterly financial results and closes on the last trading day, prior to the end of a reporting period. This window period may be closed early or may not open if, in the judgment of the Company's Compliance Officer, there exists undisclosed information that would make trades by members of the Company's directors, officers or employees inappropriate. It is important to note that the fact that the window period has closed early or has not opened should be considered inside information. A director, officer or other employee who believes that special circumstances require him or her to trade outside the window period should consult with the Company's Compliance Officer. Permission to trade outside the window period will be granted only where the circumstances are extenuating and there appears to be no significant risk that the trade may subsequently be questioned.

Exceptions to Window Period

Option Exercises

Directors, officers and other employees may exercise options for cash granted under the Company's equity incentive plans without restriction to any particular period in light of information then available to the public. However, the subsequent sale of the stock (including sales of stock in a cashless exercise) acquired upon the exercise of options is subject to all provisions of this policy.

10b5-1 Automatic Trading Programs

In addition, purchases or sales of the Company's securities made pursuant to, and in compliance with, a written plan established by a director, officer or other employee that meets the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") (a "Trading Plan") may be made without restriction to any particular period provided that (i) the Trading Plan was established in good faith, in compliance with the requirements of Rule 10b5-1, at the time when such individual was not in possession of material non-public information about the Company and the Company had not imposed any trading blackout period, (ii) the Trading Plan was reviewed by the Company prior to establishment, solely to confirm compliance with this policy and the securities laws and (iii) the Trading Plan allows for the cancellation of a transaction and/or suspension of such Trading Plan upon notice and request by the Company to the individual if any proposed trade (a) fails to comply with applicable laws (e.g., exceeding the number of shares that may be sold under Rule 144) or (b) would create material adverse consequences for the Company. The Company must be notified of the establishment of any such Trading Plan, any amendments to such Trading Plan and the termination of such Trading Plan.

Prohibition of Speculative or Short-term Trading

No director, officer or other employee may engage in short sales, transactions in put or call options, hedging transactions, margin accounts or other inherently speculative transactions with respect to the Company's stock at any time.

Control Stock

Directors and officers should take care not to violate the restrictions on sales by control persons (Rule 144 under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended), and should file any notices of sale required by Rule 144.

Duration of Policy's Applicability

This policy continues to apply to your transactions in the Company's shares or the securities of other publicly traded companies engaged in business transactions with the Company even after your employment, directorship or consultancy with the Company has terminated. If you are in possession of inside information when your relationship with the Company concludes, you may not trade in the Company's shares or the securities of any such other company until the information has been publicly disseminated or is no longer material.

Penalties

Anyone who effects transactions in the Company's stock or the stock of other public companies engaged in business transactions with the Company (or provides information to enable others to do so) on the basis of inside information is subject to both civil liability and criminal penalties, as well as disciplinary action by the Company. An employee, director or consultant who has questions about this policy should contact his or her own attorney or our Compliance Officer.

EXHIBIT 12.1 – CERTIFICATION OF CEO PURS UANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

CERTIFICATION

I, Albert D. Friesen, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 20-F of Medicure Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The company's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-(15)(f)) for the company and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The company's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the company's auditors and the audit committee of the company's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the company's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company's internal control over financial reporting.

Date April 25, 2025

/s/ Albert D. Friesen

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 12.2 – CERTIFICATION OF CFO PURS UANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

CERTIFICATION

I, Haaris Uddin, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 20-F of Medicure Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The company's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-(15)(f)) for the company and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The company's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the company's auditors and the audit committee of the company's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the company's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 25, 2025

/s/ Haaris Uddin

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT 13.1 – CERTIFICATION OF CEO AND CFO PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, each of the undersigned officers of Medicure Inc. (the "Company"), does hereby certify with respect to the Annual Report of the Company on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Form 20-F"), that, to the best of his knowledge:

(1) the Form 20-F fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Form 20-F fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: April 25, 2025 /s/ Albert D. Friesen

Albert D. Friesen Ph D., Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: April 25, 2025 /s/ Haaris Uddin

Haaris Uddin, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

EXHIBIT 23.1 - CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statement:

1. (Form S-8 No. 333-146574)

of **Medicure Inc.** [the "Company"] of our report dated April 25, 2025, with respect to the consolidated statements of financial position as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 and the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, included in this Annual Report on Form 20-F.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP Chartered Professional Accountants

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2020.

Winnipeg, Canada April 25, 2025

EXECUTIVE OFFICER CLAWBACK POLICY

Medicure Inc. - Executive Officer Clawback Policy

Introduction

The Board of Directors of Medicure Inc. (the "Company") believe that it is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders to create and maintain a culture that emphasizes integrity and accountability and that reinforces the Company's pay-for-performance compensation philosophy. The Board of Directors have therefore adopted this policy which provides for the recoupment of certain executive compensation in the event of an accounting restatement resulting from material noncompliance with financial reporting requirements under the federal securities laws (the "Policy"). This Policy is designed to comply with Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") and final rules and amendments adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") to implement the aforementioned legislation.

Administration

This Policy shall be administered by the Company's Executive Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee ("ECNCG Committee") in which case references herein to the Governing Board shall be deemed references to the ECNCG Committee. Any determinations made by the Governing Board shall be final and binding on all affected individuals.

Covered Executives

This Policy applies to the Company's current and former executive officers, as determined by the Governing Board in accordance with the requirements of Section 10D of the Exchange Act and any applicable rules or standards adopted by the SEC and any securities exchange on which the Company's securities are listed, and such other employees who may from time to time be deemed subject to the Policy by the Governing Board ("Covered Executives").

Incentive-Based Compensation

For purposes of this Policy, incentive-based compensation ("Incentive-Based Compensation") includes any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of any financial reporting measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles ("IFRS Measures") used in preparing the Company's financial statements and any measures derived wholly or in part from such measures, as well as non-IFRS Measures, stock price, and total shareholder return (collectively, "Financial Reporting Measures"). Incentive-Based Compensation is considered received in the fiscal period during which the applicable reporting measure is attained, even if the payment or grant of such award occurs after the end of that period. If an award is subject to both time-based and performance-based vesting conditions, the award is considered received upon satisfaction of the performance-based conditions, even if such an award continues to be subject to the time-based vesting conditions.

For the purposes of this Policy, Incentive-Based Compensation may include, among other things, any of the following:

- Annual bonuses and other short- and long-term cash incentives.
- Stock options.

For the purposes of this Policy, Incentive-Based Compensation does NOT include, among other things, any of the following:

- Bonuses or other cash awards paid solely upon satisfying one or more subjective standards and/or completion of a specified employment period;
- Bonuses or non-equity incentive plan or other cash awards earned solely upon satisfying one or more strategic or operational targets;
- Equity awards for which the grant is not contingent on any financial reporting measure and vesting is contingent solely upon completion of a specified employment period and/or attaining one or more non-financial reporting measures

Recoupment; Accounting Restatement

In the event the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement of its financial statements due to the Company's material noncompliance with any financial reporting requirement under U.S. securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that (i) is material to the previously issued financial statements or (ii) is not material to previously issued financial statements, but that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period, the Governing Board will require reimbursement or forfeiture of any excess Incentive-Based Compensation received by any Covered Executive during the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date on which the Company is required to prepare the accounting restatement (the "Look-Back Period"). For the purposes of this Policy, the date on which the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement is the earlier of (i) the date the Governing Board concludes or reasonably should have concluded that the Company is required to prepare a restatement to correct a material error, and (ii) the date a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to restate its previously issued financial statements to correct a material error. The Company's obligation to recover erroneously awarded compensation is not dependent on if or when the restated financial statements are filed.

Recovery of the Incentive-Based Compensation is only required when the excess award is received by a Covered Executive (i) after the beginning of their service as a Covered Executive, (ii) who served as an executive officer at any time during the performance period for that Incentive-Based Compensation, (iii) while the Company has a class of securities listed on a securities exchange, and (iv) during the Look-Back Period immediately preceding the date on which the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement.

Excess Incentive Compensation Subject to Recovery

The amount of Incentive-Based Compensation subject to recovery is the amount the Covered Executive received in excess of the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that would have been paid to the Covered Executive had it been based on the restated financial statements, as determined by the Governing Board. The amount subject to recovery will be calculated on a pre-tax basis.

For Incentive-Based Compensation received as cash awards, the erroneously awarded compensation is the difference between the amount of the cash award that was received (whether payable in a lump sum or over time) and the amount that should have been received applying the restated Financial Reporting Measure. For cash awards paid from bonus pools, the erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation is the pro rata portion of any deficiency that results from the aggregate bonus pool that is reduced based on applying the restated Financial Reporting Measure.

For Incentive-Based Compensation received as equity awards that are still held at the time of recovery, the amount subject to recovery is the number of shares or other equity awards received or vested in excess of the number that should have been received or vested applying the restated Financial Reporting Measure. If the equity award has been exercised, but the underlying shares have not been sold, the erroneously awarded compensation is the number of shares underlying the award.

In instances where the Company is not able to determine the amount of erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation directly from the information in the accounting restatement, the amount will be based on the Company's reasonable estimate of the effect of the accounting restatement on the applicable measure. In such instances, the Company will maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate.

Method of Recoupment

The Governing Board will determine, in its sole discretion, subject to applicable law, the method for recouping Incentive-Based Compensation hereunder, which may include, without limitation:

- requiring reimbursement of cash Incentive-Based Compensation previously paid;
- seeking recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement, sale, transfer, or other disposition of any equity-based awards;
- offsetting the recouped amount from any compensation otherwise owed by the Company to the Covered Executive;
- cancelling outstanding vested or unvested equity awards; and/or
- taking any other remedial and recovery action permitted by law, as determined by the Governing Board.

No Indemnification; Successors

The Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executives against the loss of any incorrectly awarded Incentive-Based Compensation. This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives.

Exception to Enforcement

The Governing Board shall recover any excess Incentive-Based Compensation in accordance with this Policy unless such recovery would be impracticable, as determined by the Governing Board in accordance with Rule 10D-1 of the Exchange Act and any applicable rules or standards adopted by the SEC and the listing standards of any securities exchange on which the Company's securities are listed.

Interpretation

The Governing Board is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations necessary, appropriate, or advisable for the administration of this Policy. It is intended that this Policy be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the requirements of Section 10D of the Exchange Act and any applicable rules or standards adopted by the SEC and any securities exchange on which the Company's securities are listed.

Effective Date

This Policy shall be effective as of the date it is adopted by the Governing Board (the "Effective Date") and shall apply to Incentive-Based Compensation that is received by a Covered Executive on or after October 2, 2023 as determined by the Governing Board in accordance with applicable rules or standards adopted by the SEC and the listing standards of any securities exchange on which the Company's securities are listed.

Amendment; Termination

The Governing Board may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall amend this Policy as it deems necessary to comply with any rules or standards adopted by the SEC and the listing standards of any securities exchange on which the Company's securities are listed. The Governing Board may terminate this Policy at any time.

Other Recoupment Rights

Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recoupment that may be available to the Company pursuant to the terms of any similar policy in any employment agreement, equity award agreement, or similar agreement and any other legal remedies available to the Company.